
1

Democratic Services
White Cliffs Business Park
Dover
Kent  CT16 3PJ

Telephone: (01304) 821199
Fax: (01304) 872452
DX: 6312
Minicom: (01304) 820115
Website: www.dover.gov.uk
e-mail: democraticservices

@dover.gov.uk

12 April 2016

Dear Councillor

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held 
in the Council Chamber at these Offices on Thursday 21 April 2016 at 6.00 pm when the 
following business will be transacted. 

Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Kate Batty-Smith 
on (01304) 872303 or by e-mail at kate.batty-smith@dover.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive 

Planning Committee Membership:

F J W Scales (Chairman)
B W Butcher (Vice-Chairman)
J S Back
S F Bannister
T J Bartlett
T A Bond
B Gardner
D P Murphy
A F Richardson
P M Wallace

AGENDA

1   APOLOGIES  

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2   APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

To note appointments of Substitute Members. 



2

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Page 5)

To receive any declarations of interest from Members in respect of business to be 
transacted on the agenda.  

4   MINUTES  (Pages 6-15)

To confirm the attached Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 17 March 
2016. 

5   ITEMS DEFERRED  (Page 16)

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development. 

ITEMS WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING 
(Pages 17-20)

6   APPLICATION NO DOV/15/00525 - LAND SOUTH OF NEW DOVER ROAD, 
CAPEL-LE-FERNE  (Pages 21-53)

Erection of 40 dwellings, creation of access, associated parking, landscaping 
and open space.

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development.

Appendix 1 to the report contains exempt information and therefore appears in the 
private part of the agenda. 

7   APPLICATION NO DOV/15/01035 - MOT CENTRE, 46 WEST STREET, DEAL  
(Pages 54-65)

Erection of 17 one and two-bedroom apartments and maisonettes (existing 
building to be demolished)

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development.

8   APPLICATION NO DOV/16/00063 - THE BARN, NORTH OF 7 MILLFIELD, ST 
MARGARET'S-AT-CLIFFE  (Pages 66-92)

Variation of Conditions 2 (partition), 5 (storage use) and 6 (access to building) 
and removal of Condition 3 (noise) of planning permission DOV/14/01213 (Use 
of barn for mixed use of agricultural and building business storage) 
(Application under Section 73)

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development. 

9   APPLICATION NO DOV16/00090 - FORMER PUBLIC CONVENIENCES, ROUTE 
ONE CYCLE, 70 BEACH STREET, DEAL  (Pages 93-101)

Change of use of land to facilitate outdoor seating area (7 tables and 28 
chairs) in connection with the café use

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development. 



3

10   APPLICATION NO DOV/16/00021 - 47 HIGH STREET, DEAL  (Pages 102-107)

Change of Use to coffee shop (Use Class A3)

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development. 

11   APPLICATION NO DOV/15/00457 - LAND ADJOINING PENTIRE HOUSE, THE 
LEAS, KINGSDOWN  (Pages 108-124)

Erection of a detached dwelling

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development. 

12   APPLICATION NO DOV/16/00057 - LAND SOUTH WEST OF FIELDINGS, 
STONEHEAP ROAD, EAST STUDDAL  (Pages 125-134)

Erection of a detached dwelling and garage, creation of access and 
associated landscaping

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development. 

13   APPLICATION NO DOV/16/00072 - SITE ADJOINING THE COTTAGE, ST 
MONICA'S ROAD, KINGSDOWN  (Pages 135-143)

Erection of a detached dwelling, creation of vehicular access and landscaping

To consider the attached report of the Head of Regeneration and Development. 

ITEMS WHICH ARE NOT SUBJECT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING 

14   APPEALS AND INFORMAL HEARINGS  (Pages 144-145)

To receive information relating to Appeals and Informal Hearings, and appoint 
Members as appropriate. 

15   ACTION TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ORDINARY DECISIONS 
(COUNCIL BUSINESS) URGENCY PROCEDURE  

To raise any matters of concern in relation to decisions taken under the above 
procedure and reported on the Official Members' Weekly News. 

16   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  (Page 146)

The recommendation is attached.

MATTERS WHICH THE MANAGEMENT TEAM SUGGESTS SHOULD BE 
CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE AS THE REPORT CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION AS DEFINED WITHIN PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS INDICATED AND IN RESPECT OF WHICH 
THE PROPER OFFICER CONSIDERS THAT THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN 
MAINTAINING THE EXEMPTION OUTWEIGHS THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN 
DISCLOSING THE INFORMATION 

17   APPLICATION NO DOV/15/00525 - LAND SOUTH OF NEW DOVER ROAD, 



4

CAPEL-LE-FERNE  (Pages 147-148)

Appendix 1 to the report at Agenda Item 6 (Application No DOV/15/00525 - Land at 
New Dover Road, Capel-le-Ferne) is attached. 

Access to Meetings and Information

 Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council, its 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  You may remain present throughout them except 
during the consideration of exempt or confidential information.

 All meetings are held at the Council Offices, Whitfield unless otherwise indicated on 
the front page of the agenda.  There is disabled access via the Council Chamber 
entrance and a disabled toilet is available in the foyer.  In addition, there is a PA 
system and hearing loop within the Council Chamber.

 Agenda papers are published five clear working days before the meeting.  
Alternatively, a limited supply of agendas will be available at the meeting, free of 
charge, and all agendas, reports and minutes can be viewed and downloaded from 
our website www.dover.gov.uk.  Minutes will be published on our website as soon as 
practicably possible after each meeting.  All agenda papers and minutes are 
available for public inspection for a period of six years from the date of the meeting.  

 If you require any further information about the contents of this agenda or your right 
to gain access to information held by the Council please contact Kate Batty-Smith, 
Democratic Support Officer, telephone: (01304) 872303 or email: kate.batty-
smith@dover.gov.uk for details.

Large print copies of this agenda can be supplied on request.



Declarations of Interest

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)

Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 

disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 

that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The 

Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 

matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 

vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 

do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 

DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 

dispensations, withdraw from the meeting.

Other Significant Interest (OSI)

Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 

nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 

commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 

must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 

granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 

permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 

evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 

same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 

taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 

procedure rules.

Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI)

Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 

transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 

under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 

the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration.

Note to the Code: 

Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 

bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 

involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 

affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 

financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 

Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 

relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 

some cases a DPI.



Minutes of the meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held at the Council Offices, 
Whitfield on Thursday, 17 March 2016 at 6.00 pm.

Present:

Chairman: Councillor F J W Scales

Councillors: B W Butcher
J S Back
S F Bannister
T J Bartlett
P M Beresford
B Gardner
M J Ovenden
G Rapley

Officers: Principal Planner
Principal Planner
Principal Planner
Senior Planner
Development Planner (KCC Highways, Transportation and Waste) 
Locum Planning Solicitor
Trainee Solicitor
Democratic Support Officer

The following persons were also present and spoke in connection with the 
applications indicated:

Application No For Against

DOV/15/00730 Mr Bob Britnell Ms Karen Rice
DOV/15/00525 Mr Ian Bull Mr Keith Pilcher
DOV/15/01032 Ms Valerie Owen Mr David Evans
DOV/15/01026 Mr Anthony Reid --------

115 APOLOGIES 

It was noted that Councillors T A Bond, D P Murphy, A F Richardson and P M 
Wallace had sent apologies for absence.

116 APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12.4, it was noted that Councillors M J 
Ovenden, P M Beresford and G Rapley had been appointed as substitute members 
for Councillors T A Bond, D P Murphy and A F Richardson respectively.

117 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

It was noted that there were no declarations of interest. 

118 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 25 February 2016 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.



119 ITEMS DEFERRED 

The Chairman advised Members that Application No DOV/15/00730 was dealt with 
elsewhere on the agenda.  In respect of Application No DOV/15/00952 (Aylesham 
Village Expansion), three tenders had been issued in relation to commissioning 
highways consultants to provide independent advice.  In the meantime, the 
application remained deferred.

120 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT 

The Chairman advised that Application No DOV/15/0707 (Land fronting The Zetland 
Arms Public House, Wellington Parade, Kingsdown) had been withdrawn from the 
agenda as a result of recent changes to the Kingsdown Conservation Area which 
surrounded the application site.   These changes meant that the application would 
need to be re-advertised, following which it would come back to the Committee.   

121 APPLICATION NO DOV/15/00730 - LAND ADJACENT TO 53 CHURCH PATH, 
DEAL 

The Committee viewed photographs and plans of the application site.  The Senior 
Planner reminded Members that the application had been deferred at the Planning 
Committee meeting held on 25 February 2016 for a site visit, the purpose of which 
was to assist Members in assessing the proposed development’s impact on visual 
amenity, road access and location; the condition of the TPO (Tree Preservation 
Order) tree and whether it would be an overdevelopment of the site.  

The Senior Planner recapped that the site had formed part of the garden of no 53 
Church Path which had been granted planning permission under DOV/1300951.  
However, it appeared that the site had never been used for that purpose and was 
fenced off.  The site adjoined Sutherland Road and was located south-east of 
Berkeley House, a Grade II-listed property.  Whilst the site lay within Flood Zone 3A, 
it had passed sequential tests submitted in support of the application for no 53, and 
was therefore considered acceptable in terms of flood risk. 

The proposed three-bedroom dwelling would have a similar footprint to that of no 
53, with no off-street parking.  The proposed design mimicked nearby properties 
and was considered acceptable. The first-floor windows facing north-east and 
south-east, which offered the most potential for overlooking, would be obscure 
glazed and fixed shut.    The proposed dwelling would sit south-east of no 53 and, 
as a result, some shadows would be cast on to no 53.  However, this was 
considered acceptable given that there were a limited number of windows on the 
facing elevation.  Officers had considered all issues relating to overshadowing, 
overlooking and outlook and had concluded that, on balance, these were 
acceptable.  

In clarification, the Senior Planner advised that in 2009 the Planning Inspector, in 
considering an appeal against the refusal of planning permission for a pair of semi-
detached properties on the same site, had ruled that the absence of off-street 
parking was not a reason for refusal per se.   

The applicant proposed to plant two hornbeam trees to replace a sycamore tree  
which was the subject of a TPO. These trees would also be covered by a TPO.  A 
condition had been attached to the planning permission granted under 
DOV/13/00951 limiting any reduction in the crown of the sycamore tree to 20%.  A 
subsequent application to fell the tree had been refused and dismissed at appeal in 



2015.  Works to reduce the crown had commenced in late March/early April 2015 
and, following a call from a member of the public, the Council’s Tree Officer had 
visited the site and had noted a number of diseased and dying limbs.  Works had 
recommenced in late April and had resulted in a reduction of more than 20%.  
However, the Tree Officer had advised that the removal of diseased and dying limbs 
did not require permission. 

Councillor B Gardner advised that he, along with two other Members, had attended 
the site visit held on 15 March.  Having viewed the site, including from the rear 
garden of 28 Sutherland Road, Members had concluded that the application should 
be refused on the grounds that it would be an overdevelopment which would cause 
harm to the spatial character and quality of the street scene, and detract from the 
setting of the listed building.  Moreover, the loss of the TPO tree would result in 
unacceptable harm to the visual amenity, quality, appearance and character of the 
street scene and, finally, the absence of off-street parking would increase the use of 
existing limited on-street parking which would cause harm to the quality of amenity 
of existing residents.    

Views of the listed building could be seen from the far end of Sutherland Road and 
beyond.  These views contributed to the visual amenity of the area and would be 
lost were the development to go ahead.  The new development, if permitted, would 
add to the pressure on on-street parking, the lack of which was already a cause for 
concern.   A previous application for two houses on the same site had been refused 
and then dismissed on appeal.  Planning permission for a dwelling at no 53 had 
subsequently been granted.  However, in contrast to the application plans 
submitted, the site had not been utilised as garden space for no 53 but had been 
fenced off.  The dwelling now proposed would have a tiny amount of amenity space, 
and it was difficult to understand how two hornbeams would fit into this space, let 
alone flourish as mature trees.  If planning permission were granted, it was 
inevitable that the occupier would, at some point in the future, seek permission to 
fell the trees because they were interfering with the house and wall.  Finally, 
contrary to what had been said at the site visit, there was absolutely no evidence 
that the sycamore tree had caused damage to the wall or pavement.

In respect of parking, Councillor S F Bannister added that the parking situation had 
changed since 2009 when the Inspector had ruled that parking was not a reason for 
refusal in its own right.  Since that time there had been a 20% increase in cars on 
the road.  The addition of even one or two more cars trying to park in surrounding 
roads should not be underestimated in terms of neighbour relations.  Parking 
spaces had been scarce at the time of the site visit in the morning, so the pressure 
on spaces in the evening would undoubtedly be much worse.  He echoed Councillor 
Gardner’s view that there was insufficient amenity space to accommodate two large 
hornbeams.   

In response to Councillor M J Ovenden, the Senior Planner advised that emergency 
vehicles would be able to access the site by extending a hose from the grounds of 
the church hall.  In response to concerns raised about the hornbeams, he confirmed 
that he had consulted the Tree Officer again who had confirmed that the site could 
accommodate two hornbeams which would be subject to ongoing maintenance by 
the occupier.  

RESOLVED: That, notwithstanding the Officer’s recommendation, Application No 
DOV/15/00730 be REFUSED on the following grounds: (i) The new 
dwelling, due to its scale and the restricted size of the site, if 
permitted, would result in a cramped form of development and 



therefore overdevelopment of the site, causing harm to the spatial 
character and quality of the street scene, and would detract from the 
setting of the nearby listed building, causing an unacceptable level of 
harm where that harm would not be outweighed by any public 
benefits, contrary to the aims and objectives of the National Planning 
Policy Framework at paragraphs 17, 56, 57, 61 and 131-134 in 
particular; (ii) The development, involving the loss of a TPO 
sycamore tree, would result in unacceptable harm to the visual 
amenity, quality, appearance and character of the street scene, 
contrary to the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework at paragraphs 7, 17, 56 and 61 in particular; and (iii) The 
proposed development, which does not include dedicated off-street 
parking, if permitted, would result in an increased use of existing 
limited on-street parking which would cause harm to the quality of 
amenity enjoyed by existing residents, contrary to the sustainability 
aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework at 
paragraphs 7, 17, 56 and 61 in particular.

122 APPLICATION NO DOV/15/00525 - LAND SOUTH OF NEW DOVER ROAD, 
CAPEL-LE-FERNE 

The Committee viewed photographs and plans of the application site.  The Principal 
Planner advised that the site lay on the eastern edge of Capel-le-Ferne, between 
New Dover Road to the north and Old Dover Road to the south, with Helena Road 
to the west and the caravan park to the east.  A bridleway abutted the western 
boundary of the site and continued north towards the public play area and school. 
The site, a rectangular shaped parcel of land, was allocated for the development of 
50 dwellings under policy LA24 of the Council’s Land Allocations Local Plan (LALP).  

The cliffs and coastline located to the south of the site were designated as Heritage 
Coast, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI).  The land was also protected open space.  It was 
proposed to develop the northern part of the site with 40 houses.  A lack of 
management had led to the southern part of the site turning into scrubland; this 
would be reinstated as chalk grassland under the development proposals.  The 
majority of trees had been removed from the site in preparation for reinstating the 
grassland, although some vegetation remained on the north, east and west 
boundaries.   Significant new planting was proposed on the site boundaries, 
including a dense buffer strip on the northern boundary and specimen trees on the 
southern boundary.

As originally submitted, the scheme had proposed 41 dwellings, with a mix of 12 x 2 
bedroom, 4 x 3 bedroom and 25 x 4-bedroom houses.  It had since been amended 
to provide a more appropriate mix of housing: 12 x 2 bedroom, 14 x 3 bedroom and 
14 x 4-bedroom houses.   The internal layout of the site and the design of dwellings 
had also been amended to address issues such as overlooking and visual impact. 
Off-site highway works were proposed on New Dover Road, to include a right-hand 
turn splitter lane, a road island and extensions to the public footpath.

A draft Section 106 agreement had already been submitted which would secure the 
provision of six affordable housing units on site, and a financial contribution of 
£300,000 towards off-site affordable housing.  The applicant had already secured a 
social registered housing provider – Southern Housing Group – to manage the 
affordable housing units.  Other contributions secured by the agreement related to 



the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA mitigation strategy; local library book 
stocks and the upgrading of the northern part of the bridleway.  

The policy proposals map indicated that the southern half of the site lay beyond the 
urban confines, meaning that a small proportion of the built development 
(approximately 20 metres) would be beyond the confines and technically within the 
countryside.  The Committee would therefore need to give due weight to 
countryside and housing policies and the Council’s general lack of a five-year 
housing supply.  

Concerns had been raised regarding the exact proportions of the site to be 
developed.  The proposals map indicated that approximately half the site would be 
developed, and it was suggested that there was a conflict between the map and the 
policy requirements.  The application proposed 40 dwellings (considerably less than 
the policy maximum) over a larger area than 1.42 hectares.  The area to be 
developed was approximately 2.24 hectares which equated to 17.8 dwellings per 
hectare.  A higher density in a more restricted area would result in a cramped form 
of development which would be at odds with the spatial character of the area.  For 
example, the density of adjacent residential roads (Avondale and Helena Roads) 
was equivalent to 19.8 dwellings per hectare.

The preamble and criterion I of policy LA24 stated that the precise boundary 
between the developed and undeveloped parts of the site would be established on 
the basis of ecological evidence.  To this end, the applicant had commissioned 
specialist consultants to carry out detailed ecological surveys and soil analysis to 
establish the parameters for the development footprint and layout.   These surveys 
had been agreed by the Council’s Ecology Officer.   In summary, Officers were 
satisfied that the proportion of the site to be developed was acceptable. 

The Committee was advised that it was required to consider paragraph 14 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) to assess whether any adverse 
impacts of granting planning permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits of the proposal when weighed against the policies in the 
NPPF.  Furthermore, whether there were specific policies in the NPPF which 
indicated that development should be restricted.   Whilst the development would 
result in significant benefits (as set out in the report), it would also result in the loss 
of countryside, thus conflicting with Policy DM15 of the Core Strategy.  However, it 
was considered that the harm would be limited in the existing context of the site.  
Officers were of the view that there were no compelling and overriding reasons to 
justify a refusal of planning permission, particularly when considered in the context 
of there being no five-year housing land supply.  Weight should also be given to the 
delivery of 15% affordable housing and the off-site contribution.  Weighing up all the 
material considerations, it was concluded that the limited adverse impacts of the 
proposed development would not outweigh the benefits, and the granting of 
planning permission was therefore recommended.  

Councillor F J W Scales stated that Capel-le-Ferne Parish Council was opposed to 
the development.  The Parish Council and local residents had worked closely with 
the Council through the development of its Local Development Plan and Core 
Strategy, and had agreed this site as the preferred location for development.  
However, the proposed density and general design were not appropriate for this 
rural location.  The Local Development Plan and the LALP had identified a lower 
density of dwellings for the site, and the case for extending the development beyond 
50%, thus reducing the amount of reinstated chalk grassland to 30%, had not been 
proven.  



On highways matters, he raised concerns about the location of the proposed road 
island.  This needed to join the bridleway in order to provide a safe crossing point 
for children using the bridleway to get to school.  He was also firmly of the view that 
the proposed splitter lane should be in place before construction commenced in 
order to minimise disruption to road users.  Being a member of the village’s 
Speedwatch initiative, he was concerned about the speeds identified by the 
applicant’s traffic speed survey which differed considerably from those found by 
Speedwatch.  The speed restriction on both New Dover Road and Old Dover Road 
should start at Winehouse Lane.  It was not acceptable to argue that the speed limit 
should not be extended because it was currently not enforced by Kent Police.  

It was the developer’s intention to use weatherboarding on the dwellings.  Capel 
was not a seaside area and the use of such materials was out of keeping with the 
rest of the village.  The mix of house types, although better, was still not right.  For 
example, a larger number of 2-bedroom dwellings, potentially for people with links to 
Capel, should be provided and the number of 4-bedroom dwellings should be 
reduced.  He was of the view that the development was of poor design and, overall, 
not the right one for Capel.  

Councillor Gardner raised concerns that the confidential viability appraisal review 
report, which he wished to refer to, had been circulated to Members at such short 
notice.  Councillor Scales pointed out that substitute Members had not received the 
report.  

In response to Councillor G Rapley, the Principal Planner advised that the proposal 
had been extensively discussed for over a year, and all issues (including parking, 
materials, etc) had been considered afresh when she assumed responsibility for the 
application as Case Officer.  Material samples had been submitted and she was 
satisfied that the proposals would achieve a reasonable development on the site.   
Retirement flats had been suggested, but these would create a dense form of 
development on the edge of the village which would be distant from local amenities 
and out of keeping with the character of the village.   

In response to Councillor Bannister, the Principal Planner reported that KCC had  
advised that no additional primary school spaces would be needed.  Whilst the 
school was full to capacity, this was due to the school taking children from outside 
the District.  In future, Capel children would be given priority.   Councillor Bannister 
advised that this was not the information he had received from the school which 
apparently had no additional capacity.   He suggested that this was an issue which 
needed further discussion with KCC. 

In response to questions raised, the KCC Highways Development Planner advised 
that highways conditions would be resolved by the submission of evidence.   It was 
intended that there would be a connection linking the short distance between the 
bridleway and the road island.  It was not considered reasonable to ask the 
applicant to install the splitter lane before construction.  However, they could be 
asked to implement temporary construction measures.  Since there was no reason 
to doubt the results of the traffic speed survey, an extension of the speed limit by 
the developer was not required. Councillor Scales pointed to the fact that 
construction plans were not always enforced, often with negative consequences for 
local communities.  He questioned why the speed limit could not be extended when 
it was unlikely to cost the developer much more to do so.   



The Principal Planner advised that Southern Water had confirmed that there were 
no public surface water sewers in the area.  Alternative means of drainage would be 
required as disposal to the main foul water sewer was not permitted.    Consultants 
had indicated that the use of soakaways would be acceptable.  Condition 9 would 
deal with these matters, requiring details of foul and surface water disposal to be 
submitted and approved.

Councillor Ovenden raised several issues, including the public use of the chalk 
grassland and safety barriers at access points to the bridleway.  The Principal 
Planner advised that the grassland would be public open space.  However, although 
there would be no physical barrier to accessing it, its wider use would be 
discouraged by providing only a mown grass path through the site.  The bridleway 
would not be re-tarmacked.  Safety barriers at bridleway access points had not been 
considered but a condition could be added to address this matter.  In respect of 
boundary treatment, Members were advised that additional plans had recently been 
received showing a 1.8-metre close-boarded fence and vegetation strips along the 
boundary with the caravan park.  

It was moved by Councillor F J W Scales and duly seconded that the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting.

RESOLVED:  That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the remainder of the 
business on the grounds that the item to be considered involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Councillor P M Beresford, supported by Councillor Ovenden, indicated that she 
would not participate in the vote as she had not had time to consider the viability 
appraisal review.   Councillor Gardner raised concerns that, having been given 
assurances that all Members would receive viability assessments, the report had 
only been received by Members on the preceding Saturday.  The Principal Planner 
stressed that the viability appraisal review had been available since January and 
Members could have sought sight of it.  Moreover, the review was summarised in 
the report to Committee.

The Chairman advised Members that there were three options: (a) to defer the 
application; (b) for substitute Members to absent themselves from proceedings; or 
(c) to determine the application with all Members present.  

The Committee was advised that, in the interests of openness and transparency, 
members of the press and public should be present to hear the Committee’s 
determination of the application.

It was moved by Councillor J S Back and duly seconded that the press and public 
be re-admitted to the meeting.

RESOLVED: That the press and public be readmitted.

Following the re-admittance of the press and public, the Committee moved to the 
vote.

It was moved by Councillor P M Beresford and duly seconded that the application 
be DEFERRED.  On being put to the vote, the motion was CARRIED.



RESOLVED: That Application No DOV/15/01032 be DEFERRED on the grounds 
that substitute Members had not had sufficient time to consider the 
contents of the viability appraisal review.

(The Chairman relinquished the chairmanship of the meeting for this item on the 
grounds that it was an application for a site within his ward and he wished to play a 
full part in the debate, unfettered by being Chairman.  Councillor B W Butcher 
assumed the chairmanship of the meeting for this item.)

123 APPLICATION NO DOV/15/01032 - LAND ADJACENT TO ALLOTMENTS, 
FOLKESTONE ROAD, DOVER 

Members viewed photographs and plans of the application site.  The Principal 
Planner advised that, since the report was written, two additional letters of objection 
had been received, raising concerns about the impact on the AONB, inappropriate 
access to the site and additional infrastructure.  The application site lay outside the 
settlement boundaries of Dover and was therefore contrary to Policy DM1 of the 
Council’s Core Strategy.  However, as the District was unable to demonstrate a 5-
year housing land supply, Policy DM1 carried less weight and it was therefore also 
necessary for Members to consider paragraphs 14 and 49 of the NPPF which 
presumed that permission should be granted unless the development was 
unsustainable or overruled by specific policies in the NPPF.  

Part of the site lay within the boundary of the Kent Downs AONB, and the entire site 
was designated as Open Space.  As such, the site contributed to the setting of the 
town, and the extent of the proposed development would substantially alter this 
setting and cause unavoidable harm.  KCC Highways had raised no objections, but 
had indicated that the proposed access point was not in an appropriate location and 
would need to be moved.  Although the development would contribute towards the 
District’s housing supply, it was not sustainable, causing adverse social and 
environmental impacts that significantly outweighed any benefits.  For these 
reasons, it was recommended that the application be refused.  

Councillor J S Back stated that the site had at one time been allotments and there 
had been buildings on it.  No objections had been received from Dover Town 
Council, KCC Highways or Southern Water.  There were as many letters in support 
of the application as there were against.  The developer appeared to be flexible 
over the mix of housing provided, which included 30% affordable housing. Given 
that there would be no buildings on the AONB itself and that planning permission 
had been granted for 600 houses on a site opposite, he was of the view that the 
development would enhance the area.  Councillor Beresford agreed, stating that the 
development would provide much needed housing, particularly affordable housing, 
for the District.  In the absence of a 5-year housing land supply, she supported the 
proposal.   

Councillor Gardner referred to page 64 of the report which set out the planning 
history of the site.  Although the 30% offer of affordable housing was attractive, he 
did not want to see housing on the site.  Councillor Bannister referred to Dover’s 
unique valley system which he argued should be preserved.   Such a development 
in a prominent site would spoil the landscape.  

Referring to previous refusals, the Chairman reminded Members that these had 
occurred before the existence of the NPPF.  Like Councillor Ovenden, he 
questioned the certainty of obtaining 30% affordable housing on the site.  Whilst the 
impact of the development on short views was less significant, its impact on long 



views would be considerable.  The Committee had a duty to consider the harm that 
would be caused to the AONB because the site was linked to it.   

RESOLVED: (a)  That, notwithstanding the Officer’s recommendation, and subject  
to a satisfactory legal agreement relating to the Thanet Coast 
and Sandwich Bay SPA and other necessary contributions, 
Application No DOV/15/01032 be APPROVED on the following 
grounds: (i) The proposed development would deliver much 
needed housing (including social housing) in the context of the 
District’s lack of a 5-year housing land supply; (ii) The proposed 
development is in a sustainable location; and (iii) It is considered 
that the impact on the adjoining Kent Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty would not be severe.    

     
(b) That powers be delegated to the Head of Regeneration and 

Development to finalise the legal agreement and to settle any 
necessary planning conditions in line with the issues set out in 
the report.

(There being an equality of votes, the Chairman used his casting vote.)

124 APPLICATION NO DOV/15/01026 - 30 MILL HILL, DEAL 

The Committee was shown photographs and plans of the application site.  The 
Principal Planner advised that the application sought retrospective permission for 
the use of the ground floor and basement of 30 Mill Hill for a gym and fitness studio, 
with a first floor residential studio above for use by the applicant.  A single storey 
extension had also been constructed to provide a fire escape and improve access. 
An amendment was proposed to condition 6 to ensure that the first floor flat could 
only be occupied by the owner/manager or employees of the gym and their resident 
dependants.  The Principal Planner advised that a further letter of support had been 
received since the report was written.   

The development was in a sustainable location in a residential area.  The gym was 
located in the basement, and the ground floor would be used for weight machine 
activities. Noise testing had been carried out and levels were found to be 
acceptable.  KCC Highways had advised informally that the provision of seven off-
road parking spaces was acceptable.  In response to a proposal by Councillor 
Gardner, the Principal Planner advised that marking and signage for the car parking 
spaces could be discussed with the applicant and condition 5 amended accordingly.

RESOLVED: (a)  That Application No DOV /15/01026 be APPROVED subject to 
                             the following conditions:

(i) Development to be carried out in accordance with 
approved plans;

(ii) Classes to be limited to basement area;

(iii) Hours of operation to be limited to 06.00-22.00 
Monday to Friday; 09.00-17.00 Saturdays, Sundays 
and Public Holidays;

(iv) No alteration to internal sound insulation;



(v) Parking on forecourt to be kept available at all times, 
with appropriate marking and signage installed;

(vi) First floor flat to be occupied by the owner/manager or 
employees of the gym and their resident dependants.

(b)    That powers be delegated to the Head of Regeneration and 
Development to settle any necessary planning conditions and 
matters in line with the issues set out in the recommendation 
and as resolved by the Planning Committee.

125 APPEALS AND INFORMAL HEARINGS 

The Committee noted that there was no information to receive regarding appeals or 
informal hearings.

126 ACTION TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ORDINARY DECISIONS 
(COUNCIL BUSINESS) URGENCY PROCEDURE 

The Committee noted that no action had been taken since the last meeting.

The meeting ended at 8.47 pm.



   

DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 21 APRIL 2016

CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS HAS BEEN 
DEFERRED AT PREVIOUS MEETINGS

Members of the Planning Committee are asked to note that the following 
application(s) have been deferred at previous meetings.  Unless specified, these 
applications are   not for determination at the meeting since the reasons for their 
deferral have not yet been resolved.   

1.  DOV/15/00525       Erection of 40 dwellings, creation of access, 
associated parking, landscaping and open space – 
Land south of New Dover Road, Capel-le-Ferne 
(Agenda Item 8 of 17 March 2016)

This application is dealt with elsewhere on the agenda. 

2.  DOV/15/00952  Variation of Condition 14 of planning permission 
DOV/14/1206 to introduce a new form of layout for 
junction 21: application under Section 73 
(amended description/further details) – Aylesham 
Village Expansion (Agenda Item 13 of 21 January 
2016)

   
Background Papers:

Unless otherwise stated, the appropriate application file, the reference of which is 
stated.

MIKE EBBS
Head of Regeneration and Development

The Officer to whom reference should be made concerning inspection of the background papers is 
Alice Fey, Planning Technician, Planning Section, Council Offices, White Cliffs Business Park, Dover 
(Tel: 01304 872468).



APPLICATIONS WHICH MAY BE SUBJECT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING

The Reports

The file reference number, a description of the proposal and its location are identified under 
a) of each separate item. The relevant planning policies and guidance and the previous 
planning history of the site are summarised at c) and d) respectively. 

The views of third parties are set out at e); the details of the application and an appraisal of 
the proposal are set out at f) and each item concludes with a recommendation at g).

Additional information received prior to the meeting will be reported verbally. In some
circumstances this may lead to a change in the recommendation.

Details of the abbreviated standard conditions, reasons for refusal and informatives may be 
obtained from the Planning Technician (telephone 01304 872471).

It should be noted, in respect of points raised by third parties in support of, or objecting to, 
applications that they are incorporated in this report only if they concern material planning 
considerations.

Each item is accompanied by a plan (for identification purposes only) showing the location of 
the site and the Ordnance Survey Map reference.

Site Visits

All requests for site visits will be considered on their merits having regard to the likely 
usefulness to the Committee in reaching a decision.

The following criteria will be used to determine usefulness:

 the matter can only be safely determined after information has been acquired directly 
from inspecting this site.

 there is a need to further involve the public in the decision making process as a result 
of substantial local interest, based on material planning considerations, in the 
proposals.

 the comments of the applicant or an objector cannot be adequately expressed in 
writing because of age, infirmity or illiteracy;

The reasons for holding a Committee site visit must be included in the minutes.

Background Papers

List of background papers: unless otherwise stated, the appropriate file in respect of each 
application, save any document which discloses exempt information within the meaning of 
the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985.

The Officer to whom reference should be made concerning inspection of the background 
papers is Abi Robinson, Planning Technician, Planning, Council Offices, White Cliffs 
Business Park, Dover (Telephone: 01304 - 872471).



IMPORTANT

The Committee should have regard to the following preamble
During its consideration of all applications on this agenda

1. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that, in dealing with an 
application for planning permission, the local planning authority shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other 
material considerations.

2. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "If regard is to be 
had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to be made under the 
planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise."

3. Planning applications which are in accordance with the relevant policies in the Development Plan 
should be allowed and applications which are not in accordance with those policies should not be 
allowed unless material considerations justify granting of planning permission. In deciding such 
applications, it should always be taken into account whether the proposed development would 
cause demonstrable harm to interests of acknowledged importance. In all cases where the 
Development Plan is relevant, it will be necessary to decide whether the proposal is in 
accordance with the Plan and then to take into account material considerations.

4. In effect, the following approach should be adopted in determining planning applications:-

(a) if the Development Plan contains material policies or proposals and there are no other 
material considerations, the application should be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan;

(b) where there are other material considerations, the Development Plan should be taken as 
the starting point and the other material considerations should be weighed in reaching a 
decision;

(c) where there are no relevant policies in the Development Plan, the planning application 
should be determined on its merits in the light of all material considerations; and

(d)  exceptionally, a development proposal which departs from the Development Plan may be 
permitted because the contribution of that proposal to some material, local or national need 
or objective is so significant that it outweighs what the Development Plan says about it.

5. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that, in 
considering planning applications for development affecting a listed building or its setting, special 
regard shall be had to the desirability of preserving the building, its setting or any special features 
which it possesses. Section 72 requires that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas when considering 
any applications affecting land or buildings within them. Section 16 requires that, when 
considering applications for listed building consent, special regard shall be had to the desirability 
of preserving the listed building, its setting, or features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it has.

6. Section 38(6) of the 2004 Act does not apply to the determination of applications for 
advertisement  consent, listed building consent or conservation area consent. Applications for 
advertisement consent can be controlled only in the interests of amenity and public safety. 
However, regard must be had to policies in the Development Plan (as material considerations) 
when making such determinations.

The Development Plan

7. The Development Plan in Dover District is comprised of:

The South East Plan 2009
Dover District Core Strategy 2010
Dover District Local Plan 2002 (saved policies only)
Kent Minerals Local Plan : Brickearth 1986
Kent Minerals Local Plan : Construction Aggregates 1993
Kent Minerals Local Plan : Chalk and Clay and Oil and Gas 1997
Kent Waste Local Plan 1997



Human Rights Act 1998

During the processing of all applications and other items and the subsequent preparation of 
reports and recommendations on this agenda, consideration has been given to the 
implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in relation to both applicants and other parties 
and whether there would be any undue interference in the Convention rights of any person 
affected by the recommended decision.

The key articles are:-

Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence.  There shall 
be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except such as is in 
accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national 
security, public safety or the economic well being of the country, for the prevention of 
disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the rights and 
freedoms of others.

Article 1 of the First Protocol - Right of the individual to the peaceful enjoyment of his 
possessions.  No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest and 
subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of international 
law.

Account may also be taken of:-

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial and public trial within a reasonable time.

Article 10 - Right to free expression.

Article 14 - Prohibition of discrimination.

The Committee needs to bear in mind that its decision may interfere with the rights of 
particular parties, particularly under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol.  The decision 
should be a balanced one and taken in the wider public interest, as reflected also in planning 
policies and other material considerations.

(PTS/PLAN/GEN)  HUMANRI



PUBLIC SPEAKING AT PLANNING COMMITTEE

1. The scheme for public speaking at Planning Committee only concerns matters 
relating to the determination of individual applications for planning permission 
contained in the Planning Committee agenda and not to other matters such as Tree 
Preservation Orders or Enforcement. 

2. The scheme for public speaking will apply at each meeting where an individual 
application for planning permission is considered by the Planning Committee.

3. Any person wishing to speak at the Planning Committee should submit a written 
request using this form and indicate clearly whether the speaker is in favour of, or 
opposed to, the planning application. 

4. The form must be returned to Democratic Support no later than two working days 
prior to the meeting of the Planning Committee.

5. Speaking opportunities will be allocated on a first come, first served basis but with 
the applicant being given first chance of supporting the scheme.  Applicants or 
agents will be notified of requests to speak.  Third parties who have applied to speak 
will be notified of other requests only when these directly affect their application to 
speak.  The names, addresses and telephone numbers of people who wish to speak 
may be given to other people who share their views and have expressed a wish to 
address the Committee. The identified speaker may defer to another at the discretion 
of the Chairman of the Committee.

6. One person will be allowed to speak in favour of, and one person allowed to speak 
against, each application.  The maximum time limit will be three minutes per speaker.  
This does not affect a person’s right to speak at a site visit if the Committee decides 
one should be held.

7. Public speakers will not be permitted to distribute photographs or written documents 
at the Committee meeting.

8. The procedure to be followed when members of the public address the Committee 
will be as follows:

(a) Chairman introduces item.
(b) Planning Officer updates as appropriate.
(c) Chairman invites the member of the public and Ward Councillor(s) to speak, 

with the applicant or supporter last.
(d) Planning officer clarifies as appropriate.
(e) Committee debates the application.
(f) The vote is taken.

9. In addition to the arrangements outlined in paragraph 6 above, District Councillors 
who are not members of the Committee may be permitted to address the Planning 
Committee for three minutes in relation to planning applications in their Ward.  This is 
subject to giving formal notice of not less than two working days and advising 
whether they are for or against the proposals.   In the interests of balance, a further 
three minutes’ representation on the contrary point of view will be extended to the 
identified or an additional speaker.  If other District Councillors wish to speak, having 
given similar notice and with the agreement of the Chairman, this opportunity will be 
further extended as appropriate.

10. Agenda items will be taken in the order listed.

11. The Chairman may, in exceptional circumstances, alter or amend this procedure as 
deemed necessary.



Application:Not to scale

This plan has been produced for Planning Committee purposes only.  No further copies may be made.

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controlled of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

2015

Note: This plan is provided for purposes of site
identification only.

DOV/15/00525

Land south of New Dover Road

Capel-Le-Ferne

TR25463860

Dover District Council Licence Number 100019780
published

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced



a) DOV/15/00525 - Erection of 40 dwellings, creation of access, associated 
parking, landscaping and open space – Land South of New Dover Road, Capel-
Le-Ferne

Reason for report: Number of third party contrary views and deferred by Planning 
Committee at their meeting 17th March 2016 

b) Summary of Recommendation

Grant planning permission.

c) Planning Policy and Guidance

Dover District Core Strategy

Policy DM1 states that development will not be permitted on land outside the urban 
boundaries and rural settlement confines, unless justified by other development plan 
polices of is ancillary development.

Policy DM5 seeks to secure the provision of 30% affordable housing on sites of 
fifteen or more dwellings, or in exceptional circumstances, a financial payment 
towards provision off-site.

Policy DM11 considers the location of development and managing travel demand. 
Development that would generate travel outside of rural settlement confines will not 
be permitted unless justified by development plan policies.

Policy DM13 sets out parking standards for dwellings and identifies that it should be 
a design led process.

Policy DM15 seeks to protect the countryside and identifies development that would 
be acceptable, provided that measures are incorporated to reduce any harmful 
effects on countryside character.

Policy CP1 identifies Capel as a local centre, Secondary focus for development in the 
rural area; suitable for a scale of development that would reinforce its role as a 
provider of services to its home and adjacent communities.

Policy CP2 identifies the requirement for allocating land for houses and employment.

Policy CP3 identifies the distribution of housing allocations, stating that land to be 
allocated to meet the housing provisions of CP2 will include land for 1,200 homes in 
rural areas.

Policy CP4 relates to housing mix, density and design on sites of 10 or more 
dwellings.

Policy CP6 requires infrastructure to be in place or provision for it to be provided to 
meet the demands generated by the development.

Policy CP7 seeks to protect and enhance the existing network of Green 
Infrastructure, and states that integrity of the existing network of green infrastructure 
will be protected and enhanced.

Dover District Council Local Plan ‘saved’ policies (DDLP)



Policy C08 seeks to protect hedgerows from being adversely affected by 
development.

Policy C05 seeks to protect the designated Heritage Coast

Policy ER6 sets standards for external lighting.

Land Allocations Local Plan (LALP)

Policy DM27 sets out standards for providing open space to meet the additional need 
generated by residential development of 5 or more dwellings. It also requires that a 
minimum of 15 years maintenance be demonstrated. Where it is impractical to 
provide open space on site, consideration will be given to accepting a commuted 
payment to providing and maintaining improvements to existing facilities.

Policy LA24 - Land adjacent to New Dover Road is allocated for residential 
development with a maximum estimated capacity of 50 dwellings. Planning 
permission will be permitted provided that:

i. long term management arrangements of the chalk grassland on the southern 
part of the site are delivered to improve the biodiversity quality. The precise 
boundary between the developed and undeveloped parts of the site will be 
established on the basis of ecological evidence;

ii. Development proposals are sensitively designed in terms of height and 
massing in order to ensure the development does not have an adverse impact 
on the AONB and countryside;

iii. a landscape buffer of planting is created along the southern boundary;
iv. If street lighting is required this should be designed to minimise the impact of 

light pollution and conserve the dark night skies of the AONB;
v. Bridleway ER252 is retained and enhanced;
vi. development should ensure future access to the existing sewerage 

infrastructure for maintenance and upsizing purposes;
vii. a financial contribution is secured to mitigate the impact on the Thanet Coast 

and Sandwich Bay SPA; and
viii. vehicular access is achieved from New Dover Road which is designed to 

minimise the loss of existing trees and vegetation, in order to screen the site 
from the adjacent AONB located to the north of the site.

Material considerations

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The NPPF states that at its heart is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, to be seen as a golden thread running through decision-taking. It sets 
out three dimensions to achieving sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental. These should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are 
mutually dependent. To achieve sustainable development, economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF requires that where the development plan is absent, silent 
or relevant policies are out-of-date development should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 



benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or, 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate that development should be restricted.

Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that "housing applications should be considered in 
the context of sustainable development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing 
should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of housing sites.

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)

Provides guidance on matters relating to main issues associated with development.

Other documents

• Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document - the purpose of this SPD is 
to alert developers to the scale and need for affordable housing, including outlining 
measures for how it will be secured.

• The Kent Design Guide sets out design principles of development.

• Manual for Streets (2007) and Manual for Streets (2010) provide guidance and 
case studies in residential street design, to encompass both rural and urban 
locations.

• Building for Life (2015) provides advice to include local communities in planning, to 
create attractive, functional and sustainable places.

 Natural England’s standing advice - Protected species and sites: how to review 
planning proposals

 Biodiversity and geological conservation: circular 06/2005

 The Kent Downs AONB management plan

d) Relevant Planning History

There is no relevant planning history.

e) Consultee and Third Party comments

Environmental Health (Environmental Protection Officer): There are no 
contaminated land issues on this land; however a safeguarding condition is 
suggested ‘just in case’. A condition requiring a construction management plan 
should be submitted for approval by the Local Planning Authority. 

Principal Ecologist: (08/07/15) 

Ecological Assessment

This is competent and comprehensive.  Of particular note were the commentaries on 
migrant birds, bats, invertebrates and reptiles. None of the findings militated against 
development, but it is clear that the retention and enhancement of the southern 
section of the site is important in sustaining biodiversity on the site.



Ecological and Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan

This document provides a useful analysis of the site and describes the site 25 years 
after it was classified as a mixture of chalk grassland and scrub by Phase 1 
methodology. The ecological succession that has inevitably taken place with 
abandonment allows a certain relaxation in the ecological constraints on the site, 
although AoNB protection is of equal, if not greater significance. 

The proposed layout of the development is considered satisfactory from an ecology 
and landscape perspective and the submitted plan is competent and reflects the 
interests identified in the Ecological Assessment.

It is concluded that subject to the Ecological and Landscape Management and 
Maintenance Plan being carried in full, approval can be recommended on ecology 
and landscape grounds.

Thanet coast spa mitigation strategy

Cost per House, Depending on Bedroom Number

Number 
of 
bedrooms 
in a 
house

Bond 
(£)

Monitoring 
etc. (£) Total (£)

1 12.33 5.46 17.79

2 24.67 10.91 35.58

3 37.00 16.37 53.37

4 49.34 21.83 71.16

(08/12/15) The proposed amended landscaping plans are good. 

Corporate Estate and Coastal Engineer Officer: No objection, the development is 
unlikely to impact on the stability of the cliffs.

Principal Infrastructure and Delivery officer: - The expected number of people 
arising from this development is approximately 117 and this gives rise to an 
additional need for equipped play space (LEAP) of 0.0007ha.

The commuted cost of providing a LAP is £43,512. Given that we would expect 0.007 
ha of play provision to support this development and the average play area size in 
our district is 0.01 ha, we can calculate an appropriately scaled contribution 
as £30,460.  This could be used as the figure for our request to deliver increased 
capacity for equipped children’s play by means of improving the access to an existing 
facility.  

Housing Initiatives Manager: (14/07/15) Initial queries were raised in respect of the 
number of affordable units, confirmation that the units would be provided on site, and 
the suitability of the house types, and whether there have been any discussions with 
a potential Registered Provider partner, confirmation of the proposed 70:30 tenure 
split (rented:shared ownership) is acceptable. The starting point is the Affordable 
Housing SPD.



(20/01/16) Southern Housing Group has made an offer to Jarvis Homes in respect of 
the affordable housing required as part of the S.106. 

Final agreement on the provision of the affordable homes has been subject to a 
financial viability appraisal. This has been concluded and our viability consultant is 
recommending that we accept a reduced quota for the site which would amount to 6 
units (15%)  in total. I believe these may be 2 bed houses on plots 1-6, with 3 to be 
for Affordable Rent (say Nos.1-3) and 3 for Shared Ownership. The alternative would 
be to accept a commuted sum payment.

The preferred option would be to accept a reduced quota as this helps maintain the 
integrity of the planning policy which seeks on-site contributions. 

(12/02/16) – Confirms that the provision of affordable housing (partly on site and off 
site commuted payment) accords with the Preferred Principle 2 in the Council’s SPD. 

Whilst there is not a site in Capel which would benefit from the off site contribution 
there are several affordable housing schemes in Dover that the money could be 
usefully be  put towards which would be fully in accordance with paragraph 5.38 of 
the SPD.

Savills (Independent Viability Assessor (IVA)): (06/12/15) concluded that the site 
can financially support the inclusion of 30% on-site affordable housing with a ratio 
split of 70:30 affordable rent and shared ownership. The significant difference of 
opinion lies with the assessment of the land value and construction costs.

Further negotiations conclude that the site is viable for the inclusion of a lesser 
amount at 15% (6 units) on site affordable housing with a ratio split of 50:50 
affordable rent and shared ownership. Together with all other financial contributions 
that are sought.

The Council is advised to accept this offer.

(11/02/16) Turner Morum’s assessment included contribution at £300K and the IVA 
reflected the inclusion of £354K towards S106 contributions. As actual financial 
contributions only amount to £58,192.43 the extra £295,807.57 can be secured for 
the off-site provision of affordable housing.

County Highways: (15/06/2015) 
Access
1. The visibility splays at the access should be calculated from measured speeds 
using Manual for Streets 2. 
2. The apparent provision of a pedestrian crossing island opposite the Bridleway 
would be in an inappropriate location due to the existing bus stop location. 
3. Clearing the narrow section of Bridleway to the North of the site, between New 
Dover Road and Beatrice Road would improve the route to and from the School and 
therefore encourage its use.
4. The connection between the internal site access road and Old Dover Road should 
be a shared footway/cycleway of minimum 2.5 metre width. At the connection to Old 
Dover Road visibility splays of 2 metres x 43 metres x 43 metres are required unless 
measured speeds indicate otherwise. 
5. The speed restraint narrowing adjacent to plot 20 should also incorporate a raised 
table to be effective. The narrowing adjacent to plots 24/27 is unnecessary and 
should be removed.



6. The refuse swept path analysis should track a refuse vehicle of 11.2 metres not 
9.9 metres. 
7. The adoptable turning head adjacent to plots 36/41 is unnecessary and should be 
removed. A private drive can be used to serve plots 36-41, accessed from a vehicle 
crossing.
8. A plan scaled at 1:200 should be submitted showing dimensions of carriageways, 
footways, cycle ways, service margins, radii, visibility splays/envelopes (including 
around the bends in the access road), extent of proposed adoption areas and an 
indication of gradients/finished levels.
9. The numerous private footway connections to New Dover Road may encourage 
on-street parking on the same. 
10. The parking numbers are acceptable however, the visitor parking bays should be 
distributed more evenly throughout the site and be readily accessible. 
11. Parking bays should measure a minimum of 5 metres long x 2.5 metres wide. 
Layby car parking bays should measure 6 metres x 2 metres wide, increased to 2.5 
metres wide, when the bay is not abutting a footpath. 
12. Independent access is required to the cycle parking in the rear gardens of plots 
1-12, and this should not be obstructed by parked cars. 
13. The measured speeds in the Transport Assessment indicate that the existing 40 
mph limit and gateway in New Dover Road could be relocated to the eastern 
boundary of the site. This could not be secured by condition but could be included in 
the highway works under the Section 278 agreement along with the other highway 
alterations.
14. I note the site policy states that minimising lighting is required. The street layout 
could be unlit apart from the speed restraint feature adjacent to plot 20.

Holding objection until the above matters have been satisfactorily resolved.

(23/12/15) with reference to drawings 1311991/A/01, 131191/A07, no objections on 
behalf of the highway authority are raised. Suitable visibility based on measured 
speeds can be achieved to encompass the site. A formal right turn lane is proposed 
in New Dover Road to serve the access to the site and improvements are proposed 
to provide footway and cycleway links to existing routes. Adequate car parking is also 
provided in accordance with policy DM13 of the CS. A number of conditions are 
requested and are listed in the recommendation section of the report below.

(09/11/15) The following comments were made;
 the visibility splays demonstrated on plan 131191/A/01 Rev L are acceptable
 The swept path analysis is adequate shown on drawing 131191/AT/01 Rev E.
  The parking numbers are adequate for the proposals.
 The provision of the 2.5 metre footway/cycleway should extend from the 

bridleway to the Helena Road junction and extend to the west of the proposed 
access. A 1:200 engineering drawing is still required for the alterations to the 
highway including the right hand turn lane.

 The bridleway to the north of the site must be cleared as well as improving the 
surface as suggested by KCC PROW team. This will be of benefit to the 
residents connecting them to the village school.

 The pedestrian route from the site to Old Dover Road still requires a visibility 
splay of 43 metres by 2 metres by 43 metres to be provided. This must be 2.5 
metres wide to accommodate cyclists as it connects to the local cycle network.

 The footway fronting Plot 17 and 18 is not required as it does not serve a 
purpose.

 The service margins within the turning head must extend across the dropped 
kerbs of plots 15 and 18.



Public Rights of Way (PRoW): (19/06/15) No objection, but makes the following 
comments;  
 The buffer of vegetation is retained to protect views and privacy to Helena Road, 

to encourage biodiversity and to maintain the enjoyment of the bridleway for 
equestrians.

 The enhancement of the bridleway 
 We are currently working with the local school to provide a safe cycle/scooter 

route from the school to its junction with footpath ER242 this will entail preparing 
a tarmac surface. 

 It is consider appropriate for the development to make a contribution to enhance 
the remainder of the bridleway from the Old Dover Road to the junction of 
footpath ER242 through constructing a tarmac surface. 

 The width of the existing bridleway must be maintained to 2.5 metres although 3 
metres would be an enhancement. 

(04/11/15) The set standard figures for a new full tarmac surface (£45.00 per M2) at 
a width of 3 meters would work out around 54k.  This would offer the greatest benefit 
to the public, particularly with its proximity to the primary school. 

Environment Agency: Will have a low environmental risk and therefore no 
comments to make. 

Southern Water: Foul sewage disposal can be provided at this site. A formal 
application for a connection to the public sewer is required. There are no public 
surface water sewers in the area to serve this development. Alternative means of 
drainage surface water from this development are required, this should not involve 
disposal to a public foul sewer. A condition is suggested requiring details of the foul 
and surface water disposal to be submitted for approval. 

Local Lead Flood Authority: No objection in principal. The excess surface runoff 
will be disposed of by soakaway. While this is likely to be feasible, no details have 
been supplied to demonstrate this will be the case and the Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA) prepared by Herrington Consulting and dated 19th May 2015, does identify 
some possible constraints with this method. Furthermore, we assume soakaways are 
to be restricted to stormwater drainage from individual dwellings but no detail has 
been included regarding road drainage. As insufficient information has been provided 
regarding means of surface water disposal, we recommend the following as a 
condition of planning: ‘Development shall not begin until a sustainable surface water 
drainage scheme for the site, which is compliant with the Non-Statutory technical 
standards for sustainable drainage, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The drainage strategy should demonstrate the surface 
water run-off generated up to and including the 100yr critical storm (including an 
allowance for climate change) will not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site 
following the corresponding rainfall event, and so not increase the risk of flooding 
both on- or off-site. The strategy should also include details for the provision of long 
term maintenance of all surface water drainage infrastructure on the site. The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
before the development is completed. Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the 
satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from the site’.

Kent Police: It has been projected that this development would result in a demand of 
police services that would equate to a financial contribution being sought from the 
developer of £6,332.  



KCC Mouchel: (17/07/15) there is no requirement for either Primary or Secondary 
education funding. All other requests remain the same.

(08/07/15) Have identified the following requirements:

 Library Bookstock - there is an assessed shortfall in provision for this service of 
1009 bookstock per 1000 population in Dover District which is below the County 
average of 1134, and both the England and total UK figures of 1399 and 1492 
respectively. The capital cost of providing the additional stock to mitigate the 
impact of the additional demand from this proposed development upon the 
mobile Library bookstock that attends at 4 locations in Capel Le Ferne alone is 
£1968.65.

 Social care – delivery of 1 Wheelchair Accessible Home as part of the affordable 
housing on this site

 a Condition be included for the provision of Superfast Fibre Optic Broadband, 
namely:
‘Before development commences details shall be submitted (or as part of 
reserved matters) for the installation of fixed telecommunication infrastructure 
and High Speed Fibre Optic (minimal internal speed of 100mb) connections to 
multi point destinations and all buildings including residential, commercial and 
community. This shall provide sufficient capacity, including duct sizing to cater for 
all future phases of the development with sufficient flexibility to meet the needs of 
existing and future residents. The infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance 
with the approved details and at the same time as other services during the 
construction process’.

Kent Downs AONB Unit: (16/06/15) Object. The proposal would adversely impact 
on the setting of the Kent Downs AONB, by virtue of inappropriate design and lack of 
appropriate landscaping. The proposal has disregard for the primary purpose of the 
AONB designation and is contrary to paragraphs 114 and 115 of the NPPF.

Network Rail: No objections;
1) The location is away from areas we are currently monitoring for cliff instability
2) The loading is likely to be light
3) It’s not our land
4) Drainage aspects are likely to be insignificant compared and coped with by the 

permeable chalk.

Parish Council comments: (09/10/15) the intention of the preamble to the Land 
Allocation Local Plan is not being reflected in the current application. The comments 
are summarised as follows;
 The intent for Policy LA24 was for development of under 50% of the site along 

the New Dover Road Boundary. The site plan appears to show approximately 
70% - 75% of the site being developed, so leaving only 25% - 30% for the 
residents of Capel to enjoy the opportunity of a grassed open space. 

 The Parish Council still do not support the planned development and 
amendments of additional housing in the village in its current format. 

 It is disappointing that comments both previous and subsequent, have been 
mostly ignored. The following recommendations are suggested;

o Limit of area to be developed to 50% of total site. 
o Maximum roof height of the development is reduced in keeping with the 

general street scene and characteristic of the surrounding area. 
o Privacy is preserved. 
o Chalk grassland area is officially designated as a protected open space, 



o Planting in the buffer zone on the north side of the site should include 
trees of sufficient height and depth to provide a visual screen from the 
adjacent AONB. 

o  A visual screen should be planting in the buffer zone on the south side of 
the site to soften the view of the development from Old Dover Road, 

o 30mph speed limited is extended to the eastern end of the site on the Old 
Dover Road. 

o 40mph speed limited is extended at the eastern end of village to at least 
the Old Dover Road/New Dover Road (B2011). This should be a condition 
before any development is commenced under the basis of road safety. 

o Additional car parking is allocated. 
o The mix of houses is altered to decrease the size of the 3 bed units and 

number of 4 bedroom 2½ storey units. 
o Consideration should be given to a block of retirement apartments and 

increase the 2 bedroom properties or starter homes. 
o A range of materials should be used on the exterior of houses
o To ensure that the work on developing the chalk grassland is undertaken, 

it is recommended that it commences once 50% of the development is 
constructed. 

o To investigate the monitoring of cliff movement adjacent to the site 
o The right hand turn lane for the development on the Dover bound side of 

the B2011 should be installed before development commences 

 Restoration of land in the south should compensate for loss of the northern 
section. 

 the area for development should be restricted to 50% 
 Long term management plans need to include provision and maintenance of flora 

attractive to butterflies and insects. 
 The amended document “Landscape Layout Plan” indicates “retained shrubs” on 

the eastern flank. Much of this has now been removed and requires replanting, 
 To ensure long term protection of the chalk grassland the area should be 

designated a protected open space 
 The proposed houses are higher than expected when compared with surrounding 

properties, 
 As the majority of surrounding accommodation are bungalows or mobile homes, 

the height of the 2½ storey houses are unacceptably out of keeping,  
 The number of 2½ storey units represents 40% of the total planned build which is 

not within the spirit of the policy. 
 Some houses are built close to properties in Helena Road and the caravan park.
 Overlooking the caravans so invade the privacy of the residents of the Caravan 

Park. 
 Planned planting should include trees high enough to screen the houses from the 

Heritage Coast, enhanced with appropriate hedgerows,  
 The risk of accidents by children running from the grassland onto the Old Dover 

Road.
 The provision of a Blackthorn or similar hedge on the perimeter of the grassland 

flanking the Old Dover Road would act as a natural barrier against children or 
animals running into the road and also act as a windbreak for the site. 

 The 30mph speed limit should be extended beyond the site, together with the 
white gates and planters. 

 A chalk grassland buffer does not provide a visual screen. 
 If street lighting is required this should be designed to minimise the impact of light 

pollution and conserve the dark night skies of the AONB; 



 A frequent bus service but does not go to the doctors’ surgeries, train station or 
supermarkets that are used by the majority of Capel residents, 

 Despite being designated as a local centre, the only facility in Capel is a shop 
which the current owners plan to sell/close in the near future. This results in many 
residents necessity of using cars and on street parking is limited. 

 The parking spaces per unit quoted is too low for these conditions. 
 There is a need for retirement flats and smaller housing units for residents. 
 The development is unbalanced in terms; 4 bedroom (17 – 42.5% site total), 3 

bedroom (11 – 27.5% site total),) and 2 bedroom (12 - 30% site total) of which 16 
(40%) are 2½/3 storey houses.

 The number of 4 bedroom houses needs to be reduced and the number of 2 and 
3 bedroom houses increased. 

 The housing design  is out of keeping. House design throughout the village is 
varied and 40 houses with identical exteriors do not fit. 

 The site lacks architectural imagination by the over use of a shiplap type finish, 
which is not in keeping with the general street scene of Capel. 

 Cliff Movement adjacent to the site 
 Old Dover Road is an iconic spot which attracts many visits and any access to 

the site should be enforced to be from New Dover Road and not Old Dover Road. 
 The access from New Dover Road would require the creation of a right hand 

turning lane,
 The access should be designed to minimise the loss of existing trees and 

vegetation along New Dover Road as this screens the site from the adjacent 
AONB to the north of the site. 

 The speed data is considered to be flawed, it is known that 22% of vehicles 
speed through the 40mph area. 

 Maximum recorded speed from the data being 93 mph. 
 This value is significantly different to speeds considered in paragraph 4.10 of the 

Transport Assessment data which were taken outside the 40mph limit. 
 the B2011 is a designated diversion for Port of Dover traffic, including heavy 

goods vehicles. 
 Capel-le-Ferne is 560ft above sea level, known as “The Village in the Clouds”, 

giving rise to frequent low cloud which severely impairs visibility. 
 Concerned about the road safety aspects of the development access as it is on a 

bend of the B2011. 
 If the 40mph is not extended, the entry and exit should be designed for a speed 

of 60mph rather than 47.2 mph. 
 Vehicular access right turn lane and extension of the 40mph should be in place 

before development commences. 
 A slip road for Folkestone bound traffic would be beneficial 
 Inclusion of footpaths and cycle-ways is welcomed, including safe pedestrian 

crossing points adjacent to the site on the B2011. 
 If the grassland portion on the southern part of the site that flanks the Old Dover 

Road is designated protected open space, the 30mph speed limit should be 
extended beyond the eastern boundary for road safety purposes.

(20/08/15)  The following projects should be identified as a result of any proposed 
development, due to increase in capacity. 

These are prioritised in order of preference. 

1. Enhancement and redevelopment of entire length of Bridleway ER252, subject to 
liaison with Kent County Council Public Rights of Way on feasibility and 



maintenance. This would be to include the section from Old Dover Road adjacent to 
the “Grasslands” site to New Dover Road (B2011) and also, the section from New 
Dover Road (B2011) to Capel Street, Capel-le-Ferne. 

This will give ease of access for all residents, new and existing, by various means of 
alternative travel, including disabled use, to access the following: 
 Coastal footpath to Folkestone and Dover, including a restaurant, café and the 

National Memorial to the Few at the Battle of Britain Memorial Trust site. 
 Various sport and play amenity facilities, including junior play area, multi-use goal 

area, gym equipment, skate-park, zip wire, petanque court and green field play 
surfaces,

 The Village Hall, 
 Primary School rear gate entrance,
 Reduce vehicle usage on the already congested rural roads, especially in the 

vicinity of the Playing Field, Lancaster Avenue and the Primary School main 
entrance in Capel Street. 

2. Enhancement and/or resurface of football pitch, giving the village the possibility of 
generating and maintaining a league and/or other football team use. This could 
possibly lead in the future to construction of adjacent changing room facilities.  This 
will give an extra dimension to the sport facilities in this area on the playing field and 
encourage competitive matches and/or individual play.

(24/06/15) Object to this application unless the following amendments are made;
 Limit of area to be developed to 50% of total site. 
 Maximum height of development is reduced to the average height of the houses 

in Helena Road. 
 Privacy to residential caravans and housing adjacent to the development is 

preserved.
 Roof heights are varied. 
 Chalk grassland area is protected as a public open space,
 Planting in the buffer zones should include trees of sufficient height to provide a 

visual screen,
 40mph Speed limited is extended to the eastern end of village to at least Old 

Dover Road/New Dover Road (B2011) junction, due to evidence of vehicle travel 
at 70mph and safety issues, but also to make the development part of the village 
and not just an annex.

 The village white gates and planters need to be moved 
 Additional car parking is allocated. There is serious concern that spaces planned 

are insufficient. 
 The mix of houses is altered to increase the number of 2 and 3 bedroom houses 

and to decrease the number of 4 bedroom houses. 
 A range of materials should be used on the exterior of houses to fit in with the 

range of finishes elsewhere in Capel,
  To ensure that the work on developing the chalk grassland is undertaken, it is 

recommended that it commences once 50% of the development is constructed,
  A Construction Management Plan should be produced prior to development.

Third party representations:
A total of 39 representations have been received. A number of persons have 
submitted more than one representation. The comments are summarised as follows;
 Thoughtless clearance of trees before permission has been granted,
 The land has been decimated without any regard to wildlife,



 Harm to protected species,
 No visual screening,
 The trees on the southern boundary should’ve been retained,
 Views of the AONB should be protected,
 The site will need long term management,
 There should be a higher proportion of affordable housing,
 There should be no access from Old Dover Road,
 Speed limits on New Dover Road are too high,
 Speed restrictions should be extended,
 There is already cars parking on the grass verge on New Dover Road,
 Three storey houses are not in keeping,
 The material pallet is not in keeping,
 No landscape screening from the Heritage Coast,
 Caravan park is over looked,
 The mix of housing is wrong,
 There is a need for smaller more affordable housing,
 Retirement flats are needed,
 The local primary school is full,
 How will crime prevention be integrated into the design?
 Is there sufficient supply for gas and water? 
 What boundary treatment will be erected on the East boundary (with the caravan 

park)?
 The development is too close to the cliffs,
 Will the new development impact on cliff stability?
 Development will cover 75% of the site
 Properties 1, 37 and 38 are too close to Helena Road,
 Properties 18, 25 – 29 are too close to the caravan park,
 Capel does not comply with Local Centre definition, there is no post office or 

primary healthcare provider,
 Capel is a village,
 There is no mention of water or energy efficiency measures,
 The houses should be made smaller, the density of the site increased,
 The removal of trees will lead to surface water flooding and will destabilise the 

cliff.

f) 1. Introduction

1.0 This application was considered at the Planning Committee meeting on the 17th 
March 2016 but was deferred to give substitute members of the Committee sufficient 
time to consider the contents of the viability appraisal review.

1.1 This report is essentially a re-presentation of the report brought to Committee 17th 
March with updates where appropriate.

2. The Site and the Proposal

The Site

2.1 The site lies on the eastern edge of Capel-le-Ferne and is located between new 
Dover Road to the north, Old Dover Road to the south with Helena Road to the west 
and the caravan park to the east. A bridleway (ER252) abuts the western boundary 
separating the rear gardens of Helena Road from the application site. 



2.3 The site is allocated for development under policy LA24 of the LALP (refer to the 
policy section above for the full details). The site is rectangular in shape. The 
proposals show the northern part of the site developed for housing, with a new 
vehicle access from the New Dover Road, and the southern end re-instated to chalk 
grassland.

2.4 The whole of the site is classified as chalk grassland which is of national importance 
for biodiversity. The biodiversity interest is restricted to the southern area nearest to 
the cliffs. The lack of management over many years however has led to much of this 
becoming scrubbed over.

2.5 At present the site consists of mature tree and vegetation along the northern 
boundary. At the time of the LALP allocation the site had extensive tree cover 
however during the process of the current planning application the majority of the 
trees were scrubbed out. Vegetation remains on the north, east and west boundary. 

2.6 The cliffs and the coastline, located to the south are designated as Heritage Coast, 
AONB and SSSI. In addition, the land is protected open space. The land to the north 
of the site (north of New Dover Road) is located in the AONB from where extensive 
views of the site can be gained.

Proposed Development

2.8 The scheme has been amended since its first submission following concerns raised 
by your officers. 

2.9 The original scheme proposed 41 dwellings with a mix of 12 x 2 bedroom; 4 x 3 
bedroom and 25 x 4 bedroom. The amended plans include changes to the layout of 
the site (houses and internal road), the design of the dwellings, house numbers and 
mix of unit sizes. Off-site highway works have been introduced providing a right hand 
turn splitter lane and road island into the site from the New Dover Road. The 
proposal is now for 40 dwellings with the following mix of bedroom numbers: 12 x 2 
bedrooms; 14 x 3 bedrooms; and 14 x 4 bedrooms. The revised details were re-
advertised for public comment. 

2.10 Plans will be displayed.

3. Main Issues

3.1 The main issues relate to:

• The principle of residential development and the housing land supply.
• Impact on the countryside and street scene.
• Impact on existing community facilities.
• Accessibility and highways matters.
• Flood risk and water management.
• Affordable housing and housing Mix.
• Ecology and green infrastructure.
• Open space;
• Residential amenity;
• Development Contributions; and
• The sustainability overview and planning balance.

4. Assessment



Principle of residential development

4.1 As stated above, the site is allocated for residential development under policy LA24 
of the LALP. Reference is made to the site having an estimated capacity for 50 
dwellings – 10 more the current application. The site (some 3ha in total) is shown on 
the Proposal Map of the Core Strategy as a housing allocation. The northern half of 
the site (1.42ha) is referred to as the ‘developable portion’ and is included within an 
extension to the Capel village confines. The policy indicates that planning permission 
will be given subject to 8 criteria being satisfied including the delivery of chalk 
grassland improvement/management on the (remainder) southern half of the site, 
which is shown outside the confines. While the site is divided into these areas, the 
policy (criteria i) recognises that the precise boundary between the developed and 
undeveloped parts of the site will be established on the basis of ecological evidence.  

4.2 Relevant to the application of Policy LA24 however is the inability of the District to 
demonstrate a five year housing land supply. Having regard to paragraph 49 of the 
NPPF, the Councils housing policies can no longer be considered up-to-date. In such 
instances the presumption in favour of sustainable development (under paragraph 14 
of the NPPF) will apply, meaning that unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise, permission should be granted for the development in question unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole or 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate that development should be restricted. 

4.3 Set against the backdrop of no five year housing land supply and with regard to 
assessing the principle of residential development on the site, it is nevertheless 
considered that the allocation for housing within the LALP (a recently adopted 
Development Plan document) should be afforded considerable weight. The criteria 
set by policy LA24 remain material as does the rationale for their application, 
however the weight afforded to them must defer to the overall presumption in favour 
of sustainable development as set out in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. 

4.4 A particular consequence of paragraph 49 of the NPPF is that Policy DM1, which 
restricts residential development outside settlement confines can no longer be 
considered up to date. This reduces the weight to be given to the Capel settlement 
confines as they apply to the LA24 allocation. Core Strategy policies CP1 (settlement 
hierarchy) and DM11 (travel demand assessed relative to settlement confines) are 
similarly not up to date.

4.5 The application under consideration shows a small proportion of the built 
development beyond the confines (by some 20m) and technically within the 
countryside. By virtue of paragraph 49 of the NPPF however, this ‘infringement’ does 
not necessarily render the application unacceptable. As stated, Criteria i of LA24 also 
acknowledges that the precise developable area will in effect be informed by 
ecological evidence. In this case, the application has been accompanied by a 
detailed ecology survey. The ecological evidence provided and the advice of the 
Council’s Ecological Officer indicates that while the objective of the policy had been 
to safeguard the special value of the site (for chalk grassland), which had been in 
decline, at the time of the application submission there was in fact little chalk 
grassland left to save (this being a core in the south-east corner). In addition to 
safeguarding this existing resource the application proposes additional chalk 
grassland. This would require significant soil stripping to create suitable low nutrient 
base. Officers consider that the additional proposed extension more than reasonably 
adds to the existing chalk grassland. 



4.6 The acceptability or otherwise of the developable area as shown in the current 
application will also turn on the impact of the proposals relative to other 
environmental interest, namely the impact on the countryside. Policies concerned 
with the protection of the countryside (specifically policy DM15) continue to attract 
weight in accordance with paragraph 215 of the NPPF which states that, “due weight 
should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with this framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in 
the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)”. Particular consideration 
needs to be given to the impact of the development on the setting of the AONB (to 
the north and south of the site) and the Heritage Coast (to the south). 

4.7 In assessing the overall application against the policies in the NPPF, the Committee 
must be satisfied that the proposal would constitute sustainable development, where 
in line with paragraph 8 of the NPPF, economic, social and environmental gains are 
achieved jointly and simultaneously through the planning system. In respect of other 
advice in this framework, these would particularly include matters in respect of 
highways and accessibility, residential amenity and conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment.

Landscape character

4.8 Given the edge of centre location and the proximity to the AONB and Heritage Coast, 
the site is sensitive in the landscape. Old Dover Road has an open rural character 
which is dominated by the cliffs, the open space and the views of the coast line. The 
approach to the site from the south east along Old Dover Road, has loose knit 
sporadic development consisting of the public house and the caravan park. Beyond 
the caravan park the undeveloped/chalk grassland within the southern part of the 
application site would be visible. As outlined in the application, the undeveloped 
nature of the southern half of the site will retain a sense of openness and maintain 
the current rural character before the built residential form starting at Helena Road 
commences. 

4.9 The chalk grassland will act as a landscape buffer strip, softening the built impact of 
the new development and setting it away from the Old Dover Road to the south. 
Specimen tree planting is also proposed on the southern boundary of the housing 
site and the native shrub planting on the southern boundary of the chalk grassland. 
The density of development on the site is slightly lower than the existing development 
in Avondale and Helena Road. The resulting, more loose-knit, character of 
development fronting the chalk grassland area would be an appropriate urban design 
response to this sensitive frontage. These elements combined will ensure that the 
impact of development on the natural beauty and integrity of the area as viewed from 
the south will be minimised.  

4.10 The character of the site from the New Dover Road (to the north) is significantly 
different and is characterised by the main road running through Capel. The approach 
from the east along this road is still open and bounded by the AONB to the north, but 
the character quickly changes from rural to urban. The plans as originally submitted 
showed the properties fronting onto New Dover Road. This was considered to 
introduce a particularly urban character which would detract from the adjoining 
AONB. As such the current plans show a landscape screen fronting the road, with 
additional planting to supplement existing and with the dwellings set back into the site 
(described further below). The site boundary is now shown to be well screened by 
mature vegetation and provides visual separation between the caravan park and the 
start of residential properties.



Visual impact and Design

4.11 The development site will be visible from a number of public vantage points, 
particularly the bridleway which abuts the western boundary, views from New and 
Old Dover Road and from the private dwellings in Helena Road and the adjacent 
caravan park.

4.12 The layout of the site has evolved during the course of pre-application discussions 
and through the consideration of the application. The plans originally submitted 
showed plots (15 to 18) with a frontage onto New Dover Road, which proposed 
several pedestrian access points onto the main road, however the main negative 
impact of this layout was with the internal arrangement of the site, which would have 
resulted in a ring road dominated by rear gardens, garages and side boundary 
treatments. These inactive frontages would have resulted in a highway dominated 
layout, lacking a sense of character and place.

4.13 The amended scheme, allows for plots 15-18 to be accessed from within the site. 
The rear elevations would front New Dover Road but there would be a significant 
distance setting them back from the road edge. A landscape buffer strip of at least 
5m would fall outside of the curtilage of each dwelling and would separate the 
gardens from the road. The management of this buffer strip allows for existing 
planting to be retained (where appropriate) and for new planting to be provided. This 
will enhance biodiversity and ensure connectivity for wildlife along the site frontage. 
The management of this buffer strip is proposed to be secured by a section 106 
agreement.

4.14 The circular route throughout the site has been replaced with a cul-de-sac 
arrangement (this is acceptable to KCC Highway services). By removing this 
connection, greater separation between plots 13 – 21 has been achieved which will 
improve the visual appearance of the site entrance and will allow for additional 
planting between plots. 

4.15 The main route through the site has also been enhanced through officer negotiations 
by siting car parking at the rear of plots 7 – 12. This allows for the dwellings to be 
sited closer to the street frontage and removes the domination of hard surfacing.

4.16 The open chalk grassland towards the south is an important focal point for the site 
and the wider area. A fundamental principle of urban design is to ensure that views of 
the grassland are incorporated into the layout. This has been achieved by visually 
linking the main access route into the site with the footpath across the grassland. 
This entrance onto the grassland from the houses has also been framed with a 
landscape buffer.

4.17 Plots 29 – 37, will front onto the chalk grassland, with a pedestrian path between the 
frontage of the dwellings and the grassland. This will ensure that there is natural 
surveillance and an attractive frontage when viewed from Old Dover Road. The 
development proposals due to the road and footway links are considered to be 
suitably permeable in terms of links to surrounding roads and footpath networks.

4.18 Consideration has been given to the relationship of the proposed dwellings to the 
existing dwellings adjacent to the site and the adjacent countryside. The proposed 
dwellings do not significantly vary in height. The tallest has a ridge of 9m (type G, F1 
and F3), and these are two storey dwellings. The 3 storey properties, which have 
rooms in the roof space have a ridge height of 8.5m (Type D1 and D2 - plot number’s 
14, 19, 20, 22, 26, 27, 38 and 39 and 13, 21, 23, 24, 25 and 40).  Through 



negotiations the height of the dwellings have been reduced by approximately 1m 
since the submission of the original plans.

4.19 Section drawings have been submitted to show the relationship between the existing 
dwellings at Helena Road and the proposed dwellings (see plan number’s CAP 
2014/27, 28 and 29 Rev B received 15th September 2015). While the proposed 
dwellings are higher than the neighbouring bungalows, their height is shown no 
greater than two storey units within Helena Road. The degree of separation (some 
30m) between the existing and proposed units, formed by rear and side gardens and 
the bridleway, also ensures an acceptable visual relationship between the proposed 
and existing development.

4.20 The design of the dwellings in the amended scheme have been altered. There are 
now 10 different house types, which are of different designs but have similar 
characteristics such as the steeply pitched roofs and fenestration proportions.  The 
mass of the dwellings has been broken up by having projections which have a lower 
ridge line and by changing the axis of the ridge e.g. some have gable front facing 
ends. On balance the general design of the houses are acceptable. 

4.21 The applicant has submitted material samples which are to be used: 
Roof: Marley Eternit Rivendale slate (synthetic slate),
Boarding: Hardie plank (man-made composite board), five different colours are 
proposed (Arctic white, sail cloth-cashmere, light mist, Boothbay blue, Monterey 
taupe) and; 
Brickwork: Yellow stock bricks (Hanson: Village Golden Thatch) with feature 
red/orange brickwork. 

4.22 The applicant has advised that the smooth composite boarding has been chosen to 
compliment the contemporary design of the dwellings. They advise that the wood 
grain effect boarding would be pastiche and not suitable. The chosen boarding has a 
deep profile and would be overlapped which would create texture and interest in the 
dwellings.

4.23 Whilst there is third party concern that the proposed development would be at odds 
with the existing pattern of development, due to its height, it is acknowledged that 
there is variety in the design and height of dwellings to the west of the site, such that 
there is scope for the variety in the height and scale and design of the development 
proposed. Overall gaps and spaces between and around dwellings would mitigate 
their height and relationships between existing and new built development. It is not 
considered that the development would appear over dominant in the wider landscape 
or at odds with the existing development along New and Old Dover Road, given the 
distance from existing dwellings.

4.24 It is accepted that a significant amount of vegetation on the site has already been 
removed. This however has been necessary in order to undertake early restoration of 
the chalk grassland. Third parties have raised concerns regarding the removal of the 
trees along the southern boundary. Whilst criterion iii of policy LA24 requires a 
landscape buffer on the southern boundary, it does not specify in what form. 
Furthermore, since the policy was framed, the ecologists have confirmed that in order 
for the restoration of the chalk grassland to be successful, trees could not remain on 
the southern boundary; these would compete for nutrients and create overshadowing 
of the grassland. It is considered that this is an important material consideration 
which would justify setting aside the strict application of this part of the policy.  



4.25 It has been negotiated that some native shrub planting will be provided along the top 
of the southern bank. This will soften and frame the appearance of the site and to 
some extent will provide a visual barrier whilst safeguarding the opportunities for 
biodiversity enhancement (see landscaping plan 13404 – TLP -400 received 
4/12/15).  It has also been agreed that some specimen tree planting be provided on 
the southern boundary of the built development, thereby further assisting with 
screening/softening the development to views from the south. Details of this can be 
secured by a planning condition.

4.26 The landscaping on the western boundary abutting the bridleway will be managed 
and maintained (secured by a section 106 agreement) and replanted in accordance 
with the landscaping plan.

4.27 Third parties have raised queries relating to the boundary treatment on the eastern 
boundary (shared with the caravan park). The chalk grassland will have an area of 
retained natural scrub on the eastern side, where the rear gardens of the dwellings 
abut the caravan park. A plan has recently been submitted which shows the 
proposed boundary treatment for the site and shows that a 1.8m high close boarded 
fence would be erected along the eastern boundary (adjacent to the caravan park) 
and new vegetation would be planted on the western side of the fence within the 
curtilage of the new dwellings. A condition can be imposed to ensure the boundary 
treatment is provided as shown on plan and thereafter retained.

4.28 The provision of external lighting is also a very important consideration due to the 
detrimental impact that light pollution could have on the AONB. No details have been 
submitted at this stage, however in accordance with criterion iv of policy LA24, a 
condition requiring details should be imposed.

4.29 It is advised that the development would not adversely affect the character of the 
local landscape (AONB and Heritage Coast), given the location of the site, the 
proposed layout in its amended form, with the landscaped buffer to the north and 
south boundaries.

4.30 The enhanced planting to the north boundary and the chalk grassland to the south 
would retain a soft edge to the village, and provide a development that would 
integrate well with the wider context and the fringe location.

Impact on existing community facilities

4.31 Capel is a designated in the Core Strategy as a local centre and has a number of 
services and facilities including a local shop, village hall, public house, church, 
primary school, childrens’ play area and a bus route. A number of residents have 
questioned Capel’s position in the settlement hierarchy (see policy CP1).  Whilst it 
can be acknowledged that Capel has lost some facilities since the Core Strategy was 
adopted, Policy CP1 is still part of the Development Plan and in this respect the 
proposed development is in accordance with the settlement hierarchy in the Adopted 
Core Strategy. The status of Capel was considered at the Examination in Public into 
the LALP. Capel Parish Council, at that time, were supportive of Capel’s designation 
as a 'Local Centre' and specifically lobbied for the redesignation from ‘Village’ status. 

4.32 Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that “to promote sustainable development in rural 
areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities. For example, where there are groups of smaller settlements, 
development in one village may support services in a village nearby”. Given the 
connectivity of the site to the settlement and the role of Capel as a Local centre, it is 



considered that the development would support and be consistent with the 
function/role of Capel as identified through the Core Strategy. 

4.33 New housing development can also support existing services and facilities by an 
increase in the population of rural settlements. Jobs will be provided during the 
construction stage of the development. The provision of homes would also provide 
the opportunity to enhance the vitality of the existing community.

4.34 It is considered that the development would be in a ‘local centre’ location that can 
accommodate the development in respect of services and facilities.

4.35 The development would promote healthy communities, and support economic 
development, through the provision of family homes, contributing to addressing the 
deficit of housing, offering employment during construction and being close to 
employment opportunities. This would be consistent with the NPPF that seeks to 
ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services.

4.36 KCC as the Local Education Authority, has advised that this development generates 
11 new Primary School pupils but the overall Primary situation moves out of deficit 
this year with an increasing surplus thereafter.  As such a contribution towards new 
school places is not being sought. KCC advise that Capel is not the only Primary 
School within a 2 mile radius of the site. Thus whilst Capel is at capacity, other 
nearby Primary Schools are not and can therefore accommodate the pupils 
generated from the development. 

Accessibility and highways

4.37 Capel is located to the north east of Folkestone and south west of Dover. The A20 is 
located to the north and east of Capel and can be accessed via an interchange with 
the New Dover Road (B2011).

4.38 A footpath exists on both sides of New Dover Road to the west of the site, with the 
footpath on the southern side terminating approximately 15m to the east of the 
junction with Helena Road, where a central island is provided to assist pedestrians 
crossing New Dover Road to access the footpath on the northern side of the road. 
The footpath on the northern side of the road continues east for approximately 1km 
and provides access to the eastbound bus stop. 

4.39 The proposal includes an extension to the footpath on the southern side of New 
Dover Road from its current location to the east of Helena Road to cover the frontage 
of the site. This will ensure a safe link is provided to the west of Capel and the 
westbound bus stop. The site is within 650m of the local shop and 500m of the 
primary school.

4.40 A footpath will also be provided through the site to Old Dover Road. Some local 
facilities such as the café are provided on Old Dover Road. 

4.41 A public bridleway runs the length of the site boundary and continues north across 
the New Dover Road and terminates at the primary school. This bridleway is 
currently quite restrictive due to overgrown vegetation and the surfacing. The 
bridleway on the southern side of New Dover Road is within the ownership of the 
applicant and the maintenance and management of the vegetation along the route 
will be controlled by the section 106 agreement. The resurfacing of this part of the 
bridleway is considered unnecessary as a new footpath through the site and across 



the grassland (just a mown pathway) would run parallel with it. Concerns were 
expressed that where certain points of the bridleway join the new development, the 
safety of the bridleway users may be put at risk and therefore barriers were 
requested. This seems a reasonable concern and therefore it is suggested that a 
condition be imposed requiring details of the barriers to be submitted and for them to 
be erected prior to first occupation. 

4.42 KCC Public Rights of Way and the Parish Council, have expressed a need for the 
bridleway on the north side of New Dover Road to be resurfaced with tarmac in order 
to promote it as a pedestrian route to the play area, village hall and primary school.  
A financial contribution of £54,000 to carry out these works have been sought by 
KCC and the applicant has agreed to pay this amount. This payment will be secured 
by way of a legal agreement. This is a positive enhancement, which will improve 
connectivity and permeability of the area. This is in accordance with criterion v. of 
LA24.

4.43 There is a bus stop located directly opposite the northwest corner of the site. The 
stop is for those travelling in an easterly direction. The west bound stop is located at 
around 200m west from the entrance of the site. There are two regular services that 
serve these stops. These services combine to provide a 15 minute frequency in both 
directions on weekdays, Saturdays and a 30 minute frequency on Sundays. These 
bus routes provide a link to Folkestone and Dover Town Centre as well as providing 
a route to a number of other towns and villages including Lydd-on-Sea, Hythe, 
Dymchurch and New Romney. There are two further services that run once daily as 
school buses.

4.44 The site is situated within an accessible location. Frequent bus connections can be 
made from a stop immediately opposite the site to a number of key destinations 
including Folkestone and the railway station and Dover. Pedestrian and cyclist 
provision within and surrounding the site is sufficient, providing accessibility to the 
surrounding public transport modes and local facilities.

4.45 Paragraph 35 of the NPPF advises that developments should be located and 
designed, where practical, to give priority to pedestrian and cycle movements and to 
have access to high quality public transport facilities. However, paragraph 29 
recognises that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary 
from urban to rural areas. 

4.46 Turning to matters of detail regarding the access and parking. The site does benefit 
from a frontage onto New Dover Road and Old Dover Road. Due to the width and 
character of Old Dover Road, it is not considered appropriate to provide vehicular 
access to the site from Old Dover Road and therefore in accordance with criterion viii 
of policy LA24, the access is proposed from New Dover Road. As the proposed site 
access is within the existing 60mph speed limit, a right turn lane is proposed at the 
junction and a splitter island would also be provided at the eastern end to prevent 
overtaking manoeuvres. The lane would be provided by a section 278 (highway) 
Agreement. It is currently proposed that the right hand lane be provided prior to the 
first occupation of any unit. The KCC highway engineer advises that the safe 
movement of construction traffic into the site could be secured by temporary works 
such as signage and bollards (essentially having the same effect as the right hand 
turn lane) and that this could be agreed as part of the construction method statement. 

4.47 Initial concerns raised by KCC Highway Services have been satisfactorily addressed, 
with amendments to the crossing points, right hand turn splitter lane, the footpath 
extension and visibility splays on the New Dover Road and Old Dover Road. 



4.48 The visibility splays are 2.4m x 133m to the east and west and are based on 
measured traffic speed surveys. The Parish Council have requested that the traffic 
speed restrictions be extended on both the New Dover Road and the Old Dover 
Road in order to increase safety. The Highway Authority do not consider this to be 
necessary as measured speeds indicate traffic to be moving slower than 60mph. 
Notwithstanding, the applicant has indicated that they would be willing to fund the 
relocation of the existing entry gateway (currently west of the site on New Dover 
Road), at which point the 40mph limit starts, to a location just east of the application 
site frontage. KCC have confirmed that the costs of this work, which would be 
covered under a S.278 agreement, could be up to £20,000.  

4.49 Concern has been raised by third parties at the level of car parking provided. All 3 
and 4 bedroom houses have a driveway with space to park two vehicles side-by-side. 
Garages are also provided for these properties but these are not considered as part 
of the parking provision. The 2 bed units will be provided with 1.5 car parking spaces 
plus 4 visitor parking spaces. The amended scheme is considered to provide an 
adequate level of parking that accords with Policy DM13 of the Core Strategy and 
does not dominate the street scene, reflecting advice in Building for Life 12. Parking 
would also be well related to the dwellings that it serves. KCC Highways are satisfied 
with the level of parking provided. Parking will be required to be provided prior to first 
occupation, by imposition of a condition.

4.50 The development is considered to be acceptable in respect of highway safety and 
access, in a location where the highways network has the ability to accommodate the 
development. The site is also considered to be in a safe, sustainable location, being 
adjacent to the existing centre, well placed for employment opportunities, and 
providing good connectivity to public transport links. 

Flood risk and water management

4.51 Development that increases the amount of impermeable surfaces can result in an 
increase in surface water run-off, particularly the development of greenfield sites. 
This in turn can result in increased flood risk both on site and elsewhere within the 
catchment. 

4.52 The Environment Agency guidance is that when considering site drainage in Flood 
Zone 1, the focus should be on flood risk management of surface water run-off, but 
the use of SUDS should also seek to maximise opportunities for water quality and 
amenity benefits. It is not a requirement for development proposals to rectify existing 
flooding problems, but the NPPG (paragraph 50) advises that opportunities should be 
taken to reduce the overall level of flood risk in the area and beyond. This can be 
achieved, for instance, through the layout and form of development, including green 
infrastructure and the appropriate application of sustainable drainage systems. The 
development of this site provides opportunities for such measures to be incorporated. 

4.53 Southern Water advise that there are no public surface water sewers in the area to 
serve this development. Alternative means of drainage surface water from this 
development are required and this should not involve disposal to a public foul sewer. 
They suggest a condition is suggested requiring details of the foul and surface water 
disposal to be submitted for approval. 

4.54 Kent as the Local Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) advise that they have no 
objection in principal to the drainage proposals and note that the excess surface 
runoff will be disposed of by soakaway. They confirm that this is likely to be feasible 



but no details have been supplied to demonstrate this will be the case and the Flood 
Risk Assessment (FRA) does identify some possible constraints with this method. 
Furthermore, they assume soakaways are to be restricted to stormwater drainage 
from individual dwellings and no detail has been included regarding road drainage. 
As insufficient information has been provided regarding means of surface water 
disposal, the LLFA recommend the following as a condition: ‘Development shall not 
begin until a sustainable surface water drainage scheme for the site, which is 
compliant with the Non-Statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
drainage strategy should demonstrate the surface water run-off generated up to and 
including the 100yr critical storm (including an allowance for climate change) will not 
exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding rainfall 
event, and so not increase the risk of flooding both on- or off-site. The strategy 
should also include details for the provision of long term maintenance of all surface 
water drainage infrastructure on the site. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is 
completed. Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage 
of/disposal of surface water from the site’.

4.55 It is not considered that the surface water run off generated from the site would 
exacerbate the surface water flooding as it is intended that all run off would be 
captured on site. 

4.56 Southern Water have confirmed that foul sewage disposal can be provided at this 
site. A formal application for a connection to the public sewer is required. Further 
details of foul water disposal are not required but details relating to the disposal of 
surface water should be sought via a condition.

Affordable housing and housing mix

4.57 The Council seeks to incorporate 30% affordable housing into residential 
developments of fifteen or more dwellings (CS Policy DM5). It states that the exact 
amount of affordable housing or financial contribution to be delivered from any 
specific scheme will be determined by economic viability, having regard to individual 
site and market conditions. The Council’s Delivering Affordable Housing SPD states 
that the Council will have regard to the particular costs associated with development 
and whether the provision of affordable housing would prejudice other planning 
objectives that need to be given priority.

4.58 The Council’s preferred provision is for 30% (12 units) to be provided on site, 
however the applicant states that the site is not economically viable if the full 
provision is provided. The SPD advises that in these circumstances the Council will 
expect ‘open book’ negotiations and that specialist independent advice in assessing 
the economic viability of development will be sought. In this instance the Council has 
instructed ‘Savills’ to carry out the assessment.

4.59 The initial report indicated that the site would be viable for the full contribution of 
affordable housing which was significantly different to the applicant’s report which 
advised that the site could not be developed with the level of contribution sought 
together with other section 106 requests. The assessment was reconsidered by the 
applicant and four additional land appraisal scenarios based on the proposed 
scheme, with adjustments made to revenue and build costs were submitted to 
Savills.  Their conclusions were that the scheme could support a higher in-lieu off-site 
contribution towards affordable housing than first proposed. With the aim of achieving 
a mutually agreeable position in order for the scheme to be deliverable, Savills 
prepared a further illustrative residual appraisal incorporating BCIS mean tender 



figures reflecting build costs relating specifically to Dover District and also taking into 
account the quality of build offered by Jarvis Homes. The consequence was an 
increase in build costs with the conclusion that the scheme could financially support 
the inclusion of 15% (i.e. 6 units with a tenure split of 50:50 Affordable Rented/ 
Shared Ownership) on-site affordable housing provision (or an in lieu payment of 
£600,000), along with the Section 106 contributions previously accounted for.  

4.60 Savills have identified that a commuted payment for off site provision could be 
provided, the sum of which is £295,807.57.

4.61 The applicant has also received an offer from Southern Housing Group (register 
provider) to purchase these properties. Therefore there is a very strong possibility 
that the affordable housing will be provided on site imminently. The applicant advises 
that the 6 units numbered 1 – 6 on the layout plan would be allocated as the 
affordable housing.

4.62 This provision of affordable housing (partly on site and off site commuted payment) 
accords with the preferred principle 2 in the SPD. The Housing Manager advises 
whilst there is not a site in Capel which would benefit from the off site contribution 
there are several schemes in Dover that would.

4.63 Affordable housing provision will be secured and provided in perpetuity through a 
S106 agreement.

4.64 The housing mix proposed on the site will provide 12 x 2 bedrooms (30%), 14 x 3 
bedrooms (35%) and 14 x 4 bedrooms (35%). Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy 
requires housing developments of 10 or more dwellings to reflect the broad mix of 
housing identified in paragraph 3.40 of the Core Strategy. The Core Strategy 
indicates that 35% of the dwellings should be 1 bedroomed, 40% of the housing 
should be 2 bedroomed, 20% should be 3 bedroomed and 5% should be 4 
bedroomed. The proportions setting out the housing mix set out in the Core Strategy 
should be used to inform decisions, and needs to be adjusted by market information 
on the housing needs and preferences of people moving into the District, and any 
specific site and design considerations. 

4.65 However, given the lack of a five year housing supply, this policy relating to housing 
supply has reduced weight.

4.66 The Core Strategy identifies that the 2008 Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
indicated that resident’s aspirations lie more towards semi-detached and detached 
housing, and that there should be an emphasis on the provision of detached and 
semi-detached housing in the mid and upper price ranges. The provision of this is 
crucial to broadening Dover’s housing base and making it a more attractive offer.

4.67 It is expected that in urban locations that developments should include one 
bedroomed units as these can be provided within flatted developments, and at higher 
densities. The provision of one bedroomed units and a greater proportion of the two 
bedroomed units would necessitate a higher density of development that would be 
incompatible in design and layout terms, with the edge of confines location, where a 
looser grain of development would be expected.

4.68 Hence the proposed mix of housing in this location would provide the type of homes 
that would meet the aspirations identified in the 2008 Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment, and reflect the rural character of the area.



4.69 The proposed development would meet an identified social and economic need by 
providing 15% provision of affordable housing on site and a mix of the type of units 
that would appeal to the market in this location, which would weigh in favour of the 
development.

Viability

4.70 It’s important to emphasise that arriving at an accurate picture on viability is not a 
precise science. The outcome of any appraisal relies on inputting a range of 
cost/value assumptions, variations of which, even by modest degrees, can result in 
material changes to conclusions. The approach adopted here whereby the Council 
uses an independent appraiser to assess and interrogate the applicant’s 
assumptions and then seeks to arrive at an agreed position with the applicant, is felt 
to be a reasonable and pragmatic approach. It also recognises the requirement in the 
NPPF that local planning authorities should approach decision-taking in a positive 
way to foster the delivery of sustainable development. It is felt that the 
recommendation here, informed by Savills, provides an appropriate outcome that will 
enable the site to come forward for development whilst also ensuring the delivery of 
affordable housing and other necessary infrastructure. A letter from Savills providing 
more information on viability will be available for members to consider.

Ecology and green infrastructure

4.71 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF identifies that the planning system should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on biodiversity 
and providing net gains in biodiversity, where possible. In decision making, 
paragraph 118 states that local authorities should aim to conserve and enhance 
biodiversity and encourage opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around 
developments. Where significant harm would arise that cannot be avoided, 
adequately mitigated, or as a last resort compensated for, the NPPF states that 
planning permission should be refused.

4.72 The Councils Ecologist has commented on the application and has concluded that 
the scheme will enhance biodiversity. The development in its amended form, will 
allow for a substantial landscaped buffer along the northern boundary, with improved 
connectivity here and along the bridleway. The creation of the chalk grassland makes 
a significant contribution to biodiversity.

4.73 An ecological assessment of the site was carried out and the survey identified that 
the site was of importance to reptiles, with three species recorded (adder, slow worm 
and common lizard). The site is used by foraging and nesting common birds, resting 
migrant birds, foraging and commuting pipistrelle bat. A number of mitigations are 
suggested and where they have not already been carried out they should be secured 
by a planning condition.

4.74 It advises that the provision of external lighting should follow current Bat 
Conservation Trust guidelines and vegetation along the western boundary of the site 
should be retained with no light spill onto the public bridleway. This is especially 
important for the south-west corner of the site with pipstrelle suspected of roosting in 
the adjacent property (London House). The applicant has advised that the only 
external lighting will be on individual dwellings and will be controlled by a PIR sensor, 
however a condition requiring details of external lighting to be submitted should still 
be imposed. The applicant’s ecology report also recommended that 6 bat boxes 
should be erected in retained trees. The applicant has confirmed that this has already 



been done and therefore a condition to require the retention of the bat boxes should 
be imposed.

4.75 With regard to reptiles the assessment advises that the grassland and scrub habitat 
to the south should be retained and expanded upon to promote the expansion of 
local reptile populations. The proposed landscaping plan shows a large area of scrub 
retained adjacent to the east boundary. It was noted by your officer during a site visit 
that a temporary reptile holding area had been created whilst the trees were being 
scrubbed out, your officer also met on site the applicant’s ecologist whom was 
supervising the works and translocating the reptiles if found.

4.76 The Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening of likely significant effects on 
European Sites has been undertaken by the Councils Ecologist. The main impact 
pathway of residential development on European sites is recreation. The nearest 
European site is the Lydden and Temple Ewell SAC. Given this, it is considered that 
development here can be screened out in respect of potential recreational impacts on 
SACs. Likewise, due to distance it is considered that potential impacts of 
urbanisation (e.g. cat predation) can also be screened out. As with all sizeable 
development in the district, there is a concern regarding cumulative impact on the 
Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA and RAMSAR sites. A contribution of 
£2,223.78 will be secured towards the District wide Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay 
SPA Mitigation Strategy, through the S106 agreement, which can allow for this 
development to be screened out.

4.77 The proposed development will provide opportunities to enhance the natural 
environment through strengthening planting improvements to the existing poor 
species, gappy, boundary hedge along the bridleway, provide a landscaped buffer to 
the open countryside to the northern boundary, provide new trees, and improve 
habitats for bats and birds. The development would accord with the requirements of 
the Development Plan and the provisions of the NPPF in respect of green 
infrastructure and ecological enhancements, offering benefits to the natural 
environment.

Open space

4.78 Policy DM27 of the Land Allocations Local Plan requires developments of five 
dwellings or more to meet the additional need for accessible green space generated 
by the development. Proposed standards in the Land Allocations Local Plan 
Document require that a play space should be located within 600m of new residential 
development. The existing play area in the village, which is managed by the Parish 
Council, appears to be about 600 m from the centre of the development. The play 
area is accessible along a safe route from the development site. 

4.79 The Councils Principal Infrastructure and Delivery Officer has been in discussion with 
the Parish Council and has advised that since there is an existing facility within 600m 
of the site, an off-site contribution to improve the access to the existing children’s 
play area (which is well equipped) would meet the aims of this policy. An 
appropriately scaled contribution would equate to £30,460. Improvements to the 
access would involve the resurfacing of bridleway to the north of the New Dover 
Road. It however would be unreasonable to seek this contribution on top of the 
£54,000 identified by KCC PRoW to carry out the same work.

4.80 The proposed development will satisfy the Development Plan policy requirement for 
open space, and provide both the social and environmental benefits afforded by 
enhanced play space being in close proximity of the new family dwellings, and the 



location close to existing public rights of way networks. The chalk grassland will be 
publicly accessible however its use for amenity will not be widely supported or 
encouraged. 

Residential amenity

4.81 One of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure a good standard of amenity for 
existing and future residents. Further to initial concerns relating to overlooking from 
the three storey dwellings, as well as wider concerns about the design and layout 
approach of the whole development, amended plans were submitted.

4.82 Regard has been had to the relationship of the proposed dwellings with existing 
caravan park to the east. The house types of plots 25, 26 and 27 have been altered 
from three storey dwellings (house type D2 and D3) to a two storey house (house 
type H), the rear elevation of these dwellings would have a cat slide roof, with three 
roof windows in the roof slope. Two of the windows would serve bathrooms and 
therefore can be fitted with obscure glass; the third window would serve a bedroom. 
Given the distance between the proposed dwellings and the common boundary 
ranging from 10 – 13m and from the rear elevation of the dwellings to the actual 
caravans of between 15 – 20m the separation distance together with the 
amendments is considered to be acceptable to mitigate harm to the residents that 
occupy the caravans. 

4.83 At the request of the owner of the caravan park, plots 29, 30 and 31 have been 
altered in orientation so they are now set at an oblique angel with the eastern 
boundary and the garage on plot 29 has been handed to increase the separation 
distance from the caravan park.

4.84 As discussed in the visual impact assessment above, the dwellings situated adjacent 
to the west boundary have an acceptable separation distance between them and the 
existing dwellings in Helena Road, so as not to result in a loss of light, or enclosure. 

4.85 The nearest dwellings to the west boundary are number 1, 37 and 38. No. 1 does 
have a first floor side facing window which serves the hallway and 37 and 38 do not 
have any side facing windows. A condition could be imposed to ensure that the 
hallway window is fitted with obscure glass and that no windows are inserted into 37 
and 38.

4.86 It would also be prudent to remove permitted development rights relating to out 
buildings, extensions, roof conversions and boundary treatments. This would protect 
residential amenities and the character and appearance of the site. 

4.87 Future residents would benefit from a good standard of amenity. There would be no 
significant loss of residential amenity through overlooking, loss of outlook, 
overshadowing, loss of daylight or sunlight to existing residents. The development 
would accord with this environmental and social dimension of the NPPF.

Cliff Stability

4.88 The Coastal Engineer has confirmed that there is evidence of land movement along 
Old Dover Road to the east of the site. This is evidenced by a slight dip in the road 
and fresh tarmac in the highway. The engineer confirms that 4 periods of study and 
ground investigation have been carried out since WWII, each following periods of 
renewed activity. The most recent was in 2001 with increased movements and chalk 
falls in the Warren. The cliffs are now being monitored by automatic electro levels, 



established at critical points along the railway and with further topographical surveys 
extended to include the cliff top. This monitoring work is carried out by Network Rail. 
In light of third party concerns it was considered prudent to make Network Rail aware 
of this development and ask them to comment on the proposal.

4.89 An Engineer at Network Rail advised that ‘they were not overly concerned’ for the 
following reasons;
1) The location is away from areas we are currently monitoring for cliff instability
2) The loading is likely to be light
3) It’s not our land
4) Drainage aspects are likely to be insignificant compared and coped with by the 

permeable chalk.

4.90 The Council’s Coastal Engineer took a similar view relative any risks associated with 
stability.

Developer Contributions

4.91 Planning obligations are used to mitigate the impact of proposed developments. 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 
requires that if planning obligations contained in S106 Agreements are to be taken 
into account in the grant of planning permission, that those obligations must be 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, directly relate to 
the development and fairly and reasonably relate in scale and kind to it. As of 6th 
April 2015 there is also a limit on the number of contributions that can be pooled for a 
project. This also has to be taken into account in assessing the developer 
contributions.

4.92 Contributions have been sought in respect of Thanet coast SPA mitigation strategy, 
Up-grading works to the bridleway ER242 and KCC library book stock. The total 
contribution amounts to £58,192.43. A draft section 106 agreement has been 
submitted and is currently being reviewed by the Council’s legal department. A 
number of different trigger points for the provision of the payments have been 
suggested in the legal agreement, these are currently being reviewed and considered 
by your officers.

4.93 Kent Police have requested a contribution towards policing infrastructure. It is not 
considered that the contribution requested would be necessary to make the 
application acceptable in planning terms.

4.94 The contributions sought are considered to meet the tests set out in regulation 122 of 
the 2010 Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 and paragraph 204 of the 
NPPF, and would be secured through the S106 agreement. These contributions will 
assist with meeting the social and environmental dimensions of sustainable 
development.

4.95 The contribution by the applicant of £20,000 towards the relocation of the existing 
entry gateway on New Dover Road is not considered to constitute a reason for 
granting planning permission. Nevertheless it is included in the S.106 as a payment 
that the applicant is willing to offer to address planning concerns raised by the Parish 
Council. 

Employment



4.96 Economic benefits associated with the development include the employment 
opportunities that will arise from the construction of the development. The applicant 
(Jarvis Homes) advises that, as a company, they have always strived to use local 
workforce where possible. Information has been provided to show the use of 
contractors from Dover, Folkestone and other locations within east Kent. It’s stated 
that they try and build up good relationships with all subcontractors and usually use 
the same ones on each of their developments. Concerns are raised about the delay 
with this particular application (which was submitted in May 2015) and the 
implications for the local workforce. Mention is made that the proposed site manager, 
site foreman and a labourer employed by the applicant live in Capel and that they’ve 
been made redundant due to lack of work as a consequence of the site not coming 
forward as quickly as hoped. The site manager has been waiting for this 
development to start and as a result remains unemployed.

Sustainability overview

4.97 The development would deliver a range of social, economic and environmental 
benefits. It is noted that a Statement of Community Involvement specific to this site, 
was submitted as part of the application. The development clearly offers a number of 
benefits. The social benefits include the provision of market housing and affordable 
housing units, which would widen the available housing stock within the area and 
increase the opportunity for local residents to remain or even return to Capel. 

4.98 Improvements would be made to upgrade the access route to the play area, primary 
school and village hall. The footpaths within the site will improve connectivity to the 
existing footpaths at the north and south ends of the site, and the location of the site 
is well connected to the wider Public Rights of Way Network. The location and 
improvements to existing infrastructure will encourage healthier communities, which 
is one of the core principles of the NPPF. 

4.99 The site would also be safe and accessible, given the edge of centre location, 
offering good pedestrian connectivity between the site and the community facilities. 
These social benefits are considered to weigh in favour of the application.

4.100 Economic benefits will be provided by increasing the range of family housing offered 
which will also meet the aspirations set out in the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment that identifies that semi and detached houses in the middle and upper 
price range are needed across the district. The local economy would also benefit 
from the increased population, adding to the vitality of Capel.

4.101 Employment opportunities will also arise during construction. These economic 
benefits weigh in favour of the application.

4.102 While the development would, in effect, be an extension of Capel, and as such would 
impact on the rural environment, this impact needs to be viewed against the 
backdrop of the allocation for housing in the LALP. In this respect officers are 
satisfied that the environmental impact is commensurate with what was anticipated 
by the LALP policy. There are a number of site specific environmental benefits, 
including the retention of a soft edge to Capel through the provision of a looser grain 
of development (usually associated with edge of village locations) and landscaping. 
The layout of the scheme is well designed and would complement the character of 
Capel and open countryside, together with proposed boundary planting. 

4.103 Water management would ensure that surface water run off would not exceed that of 
the greenfield site and soakaways would be used within the site to manage water 



run-off, necessary infrastructure will be provided to ensure capacity for foul water, 
with associated biodiversity opportunities. Enhancements would be made to the 
limited green infrastructure close to the site, and there would be no harm to 
designated sites.

Planning balance

4.104 The NPPF introduces a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ to ensure 
that local planning authorities identify and plan for the development which their areas 
need, and to make clear that applications that will deliver sustainable development 
should normally be allowed. It makes clear that it is the purpose of planning to help 
achieve sustainable development, not development at any cost. However, the 
NPPF’s policies for significantly boosting the supply of housing are material 
considerations of great significance and weight.

4.105  In accordance with paragraph 14 of the NPPF, it is necessary to consider whether 
any adverse impacts of granting planning permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal when weighed against the 
policies in the NPPF when taken as a whole and whether there are specific policies 
in the NPPF that would indicate that development should be restricted.

4.106 This report has identified that the development would result in significant benefits, 
consistent with the three, mutually dependent social, environmental and economic 
dimensions of sustainable development. It has also identified that the development 
would result in the direct loss of countryside, which would conflict with Policy DM15 
of the CS. However, the harm would be limited in the existing context of the site, 
being a site that is edged by housing at its northern and western extremities.

4.107 In weighing the planning balance, it is your officers view that there is no compelling 
and overriding reason to justify a refusal of planning permission, particularly against a 
backdrop of there being no five year housing land supply and its allocation for 
housing. Weight should also be given to the delivery of 15% affordable housing 
together with an off-site contribution to the same. 

4.108 Placing all of the relevant material considerations in the balance, it is concluded that 
the limited adverse impacts of the proposed development would not outweigh the 
benefits. There are also no particular policies in the NPPF that would suggest that 
development should be restricted.

4.109 It is therefore recommended, by reference to paragraph 14 of the NPPF that planning 
permission be granted.

4.110 With reference to the Viability section (paragraph 4.70) above, further 
information relating to viability is appended to copies of the report which is 
available for Committee Members to consider only. This is confidential and 
contains information which is exempt by virtue of the provisions of Paragraph 
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

g) Recommendation

I Subject to the completion of a S106 Agreement to secure matters including;
1) the provision of 6 affordable housing units on-site, 
2) the commuted off site financial contribution towards affordable housing 

£295,807.57,



3) the financial contributions towards Thanet coast spa mitigation strategy 
£2,170.38,

4) up-grading works to the bridleway ER242 £54,000 and 
5) KCC library book stock £1968.65 for mobile library.

And the addressing of the following matters through the S.106:

 A management company – to be established by the owners for the purpose of 
maintaining and managing (1) chalk grassland, (2) vegetation buffer strip to the 
northern boundary and (3) bridleway.

 A landscape management plan and strategy – for the provision, maintenance and 
management of the above.

 An annotated site plan  to show areas (1), (2) and (3)
 A payment of £20,000 to secure the relocation of the 40mph gateway on the New 

Dover Road. 

PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 

1) Standard time limit for commencement,

2) In accordance with approved plans; 

3) The materials for the dwellings shall be: 
      Roof: Marley Eternit Rivendale slate (synthetic slate),
      Boarding: Hardie plank (man-made composite board), five different colours are   

proposed (Arctic white, sail cloth-cashmere, light mist, Boothbay blue, Monterey 
taupe) and; 

       Brickwork: Yellow stock bricks (Hanson: Village Golden Thatch) with feature 
red/orange brickwork.

4) Details of hard surfacing materials; 

5) Soft landscaping details for planting within the site,  

6) Retention front (northern) boundary landscaping (except where necessary for 
access and visibility splays); 

7) Measures to protect existing trees and hedges 

8)   Replacement of landscaping if removed or dies etc 

9) Details of foul and surface water sewerage disposal to be submitted, 

10) Provision and implementation of a Construction Management Plan 

11) If land contamination is found development should cease until the local authority 
agrees re-commencement,

12) Completion of the following works between a dwelling and the adopted highway 
prior to first occupation of the dwelling:

      (a) Footways and/or footpaths, with the exception of the wearing course;
      (b) Carriageways, with the exception of the wearing course but including a turning 

facility highway drainage, visibility splays, street lighting, street nameplates and 
highway structures (if any).



13) Provision and maintenance of vehicle visibility splays 

14) Provision and maintenance pedestrian visibility splays 

15) Use of a bound surface for the first 5 metres of each private access from the 
edge of the highway.

16) Provision of cycle parking facilities 

17) No discharge of surface water onto the highway 

18) Retention of the vehicle parking spaces 

19) Retention of the vehicle turning facilities 

20) Removal of permitted development rights for further development – extensions, 
roof alterations, windows, outbuildings and means of enclosure  

21) Existing and proposed levels, including finished thresholds; 

22) Boundaries to be provided prior to first occupation; 

23) Windows in 100mm reveal; 

24) A Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority to include, dust mitigation, the prevention of mud being 
carried on to the highway and the control of noise in accordance with 
BS5228:2009 ‘Noise and Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites’. It 
shall also include a timetable for the provision of a temporary right hand slip lane 
on the New Dover Road for use by construction traffic.  

25) The construction of the development and associated works shall not take place 
on Sundays or Public Holidays or any time otherwise than between the hours of 
0700 hours and 1800 hours Mondays to Fridays and 0800 hours and 1300 hours 
on Saturdays and there shall be no access to the site outside of these permitted 
hours by any vehicle associated with the construction of the development.

26) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling the right hand splitter lane, splitter 
island and the extension of the footpath on the southern side of New Dover Road 
(which shall form part of a separate Section 278 application to KCC Highways), 
shall be provided and thereafter retained. Reason: In the interest of highway 
safety. 

27)  Details of external lighting details 

28) The hallway window at first floor level on the west elevation of plot 1 shall be 
fitted with obscure glass, impenetrable to sight prior to the first occupation of that 
dwelling.

29) No windows shall be inserted into the west elevation of plots 37 and 38. Reason: 
to safeguard the privacy of residents in Helena Road.

30) Prior to first occupation, the roof windows serving the bathroom and en-suite 
bathroom in plots 25, 26 and 27 (house type H) shall be fitted with obscure glass 
impenetrable to sight.



II Powers be delegated to the Head of Regeneration and Development to settle any 
necessary planning conditions and S106 matters, in accordance with issues set out 
in the report and as resolved by the Planning Committee.

III  INFORMATIVE:

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established 
in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. The 
applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in 
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is 
therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to 
progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

The developer is encouraged to install Superfast Fibre Optic Broadband. The BT 
GPON system is currently being rolled out in Kent by BDUK. This is a laid fibre 
optical network offering a single optical fibre to multi point destinations i.e. fibre direct 
to premises.

Case Officer
Rachel Humber



Application:Not to scale

This plan has been produced for Planning Committee purposes only.  No further copies may be made.

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controlled of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

2015

Note: This plan is provided for purposes of site
identification only.

DOV/15/01035

MOT Centre

46 West Street

Deal

CT14 6AH

TR37505271

Dover District Council Licence Number 100019780
published

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

5.3m

TCB

E

nyside Bungalow

31

15

42

41

Garage

S
u
rg

e
ry

5
4

Hall

40

20

18

3
1 38

7

32

5

5

Hall

Sunnyside Cotts
1

Hall

11

3
6
 t
o
 3

8



a) DOV/15/01035 - Erection of seventeen one and two bedroom apartments and 
maisonettes (existing building to be demolished) - MOT Centre, 46 West Street, 
Deal

b) Summary of Recommendation

Grant Planning Permission.

c) Planning Policy and Guidance 

Dover District Core Strategy 

Policy DM5 seeks to secure the provision of 30% affordable housing on sites of 
fifteen or more dwellings, or in exceptional circumstances, a financial payment 
towards provision off-site.

Policy DM11 considers the location of development and managing travel demand. 
Development that would generate travel outside of rural settlement confines will not 
be permitted unless justified by development plan policies.

Policy DM13 sets out parking standards for dwellings and identifies that it should be 
a design led process.

Policy CP4 relates to housing mix, density and design on sites of 10 or more 
dwellings.

Policy CP6 requires infrastructure to be in place or provision for it to be provided to 
meet the demands generated by the development.

Dover District Council Local Plan ‘saved’ policies (DDLP)

There are no saved local plan policies that are relevant to this application. 

Land Allocations Local Plan (LALP) 

There is no policy within the LALP directly related to this proposal. 

Material Considerations

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

The NPPF states that at its heart is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, to be seen as a golden thread running through decision-taking. It sets 
out three dimensions to achieving sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental. These should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are 
mutually dependent. To achieve sustainable development, economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system.

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

Provides guidance on matters relating to the main issues associated with 
development.



Other Documents

 Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document - the purpose of this SPD 
is to alert developers to the scale and need for affordable housing, including 
outlining measures for how it will be secured.

 The Kent Design Guide sets out design principles of development. 

d) Relevant Planning History

DOV/15/1143 – Demolition of MOT Centre – Prior Approval Required. 

e) Consultee and Third Party Comments

Environmental Health (Environmental Protection Officer) was consulted and 
raised no objections to the proposal subject to the imposition of a suitable 
safeguarding condition that relates to contamination.  

No concerns were raised with regards to air quality or with regards to noise and 
disturbance. 

Kent County Council Highways were consulted and raised no objections to this 
proposal subject to the imposition of conditions that address the following matters: 

 Provision of construction/delivery vehicle loading/unloading and turning facilities 
prior to commencement of work on site and for the duration of construction; 

 Provision and permanent retention of the cycle parking facilities shown on the 
submitted plans prior to the use of the site commencing; 

 Provision and maintenance of the visibility splay shown on the submitted plans 
with no obstructions over 0.6metres above carriageway level within the splay, 
prior to the use of the site commencing. 

Kent County Council Flood Officer was consulted and has placed a holding 
objection on the application. This is on the basis that the proposal seeks to discharge 
surface water into the existing foul water system. This matter is subject to ongoing 
discussions with both Southern Water and KCC, and is hoped to be resolved prior to 
the planning committee meeting. A verbal update will be provided at the meeting. 

Kent County Council (Infrastructure) requested that contributions be made 
towards library book-stock. They stated that whilst they would ordinarily request other 
contributions on a site such as this, given the pooling restrictions in place, they did 
not consider it prudent to do so. 

The Environment Agency were consulted and raised no objections to this proposal 
subject to the imposition of suitable safeguarding conditions that would reduce the 
risk of tidal flooding to any future occupants. They have raised concerns with regards 
to ground floor accommodation within the flatted element. This is discussed in detail 
within the main body of the report. 

Southern Water were consulted and raised concerns with regards to the discharge 
of surface water into the foul system. As set out above, this is a matter that is 



currently in the process of being resolved, and we will report this to Members at the 
Planning Committee meeting. 

Kent Police were consulted and raised concerns that the applicant had not 
contacted them with regards to considering Secure by Design. They requested that 
should planning permission be granted a condition be imposed to address this 
matter. This point is dealt with in the main body of this report. 

Southern Gas Networks were consulted and raised no objections to the proposal 
subject to informatives being added. 

Third Party Representations

A total of 53 representations (52 objections) have been received (including a letter 
from the ‘Friends of North Deal’). The comments raised within these letters are 
summarised below: 

 The proposal would represent an overdevelopment of the site; 
 There is a lack of car parking provision within the application site; 
 The proposal would encroach further forward than the existing building which has 

been used publicly for a period of time, and would obscure sight lines; 
 The proposal would result in overlooking to the existing properties; 
 The proposal would be out of character with the surrounding area; 
 It will be dangerous for young children during construction; 
 Insufficient utilities within the area; and
 There is no overriding housing need. 

As stated, there was also one letter of support. The comments raised within this letter 
are summarised below:  

 The proposal would be an improvement on the existing building; and
 The development is in the right location near to facilities. 

Deal Town Council were consulted and objected to the development on the following 
grounds: 

 The proposal is detrimental to the Conservation Area; 
 The area for development is not the same as the existing building footprint; 
 Concerns regarding drainage and flooding; and
 There is a lack of parking and visibility for existing residents. 

f) The Site and the Proposal

1.1  The Site

1.1.1 The site lies within the town centre of Deal, close to the station, and 
immediately adjacent to a Sainsbury’s supermarket (and associated car park). 
The site formally contained a garage/MOT testing station which has 
subsequently been removed from the site by the new owners. This building 
was of a reasonable bulk, and its footprint encompassed the majority of the 
application site. The building was approximately 8 metres to its ridge. 

1.1.2 To the north of the site lies Anchor Lane which is a narrow (made) track which 
serves a number of terrace properties at the end. These properties currently 



face on to both the application site, and to a number of bungalows which site 
immediately to the rear of the site. At the end of Anchor Lane is a one and a 
half storey dwelling, of brick and tile hanging construction. 

1.1.3 A number of properties to the north of the site have their private amenity 
space that backs on to the application site. There are a number of trees 
planted along their boundary which provide privacy to these occupiers. 

1.1.4 To the east of the application site (and across West Street) lies an open car 
park which is subject to a separate planning application. Surrounding this 
application site are terraced properties which sit within the Conservation Area. 
Many of these properties retain their original features, and contribute 
positively to their surrounds. 

1.1.5 Likewise, as one moves northwards, the area becomes characterised by 
traditional terraced properties, with timber sash windows, and walls/railings 
along their frontage. This is a particularly attractive part of the town, which 
has a distinctive character and scale of building. 

1.1.6 Heading southwards, the character quickly changes to a more commercial 
and open feel. There are large expanses of car parking within the locality, and 
the buildings are of a lesser merit than those to the north.   

1.1.7 The application site therefore lies within a transition zone from the larger, 
blockier commercial buildings (of which the MOT centre was one), to the 
smaller and more detailed residential properties to the north. 

1.2  The Proposed Development

1.2.1 The proposed development would see the erection of a three storey block of 
flats that would front West Street, and the erection of two storey maisonettes 
to the rear. 

Front Element

1.2.2 The flatted element at the front would be constructed of brown stock brick at 
ground floor level, with timber effect cladding at first floor. The top floor would 
be set back from the façade by approximately 0.8metres and would be of a 
more lightweight construction (cladding and glazing). 

1.2.3 This component would have a maximum width of 16metres (fronting West 
Street) and a depth of 18metres (along the Sainsbury’s car park elevation). 

1.2.4 It is proposed that a front projection be incorporated within the front elevation 
which would add some depth to the façade. 

1.2.5 This element would incorporate nine flats (6 x one bedroom units and 3 x two 
bedroom units) which would all be served from a central core, accessed from 
West Street. None of these units would be provided with any external amenity 
space. 



Rear Element

1.2.6 The maisonette element of the proposal would be constructed of brick at 
ground floor with render above. The proposal would have a more traditional 
form, being of pitched roof construction. 

1.2.7 This component would have a width of approximately 21.6metres (fronting 
Anchor Lane) and a depth of approximately 12metres. This would be set back 
approximately 3metres from the edge of the highway, set behind a flint 
boundary wall.  

1.2.8 The front elevation of this component would include gable projections, and 
would also incorporate rooflights within the roof. 

1.2.9 The rear element would consist of 8 units (4 x one bedroom units and 4 x two 
bedroom units split over two floors) which would all have independent 
accesses served from Anchor Lane. 

1.2.10 These units would all be provided with some external outdoor space, be that 
either a small garden or a terraced (for the upper floor units). 

1.2.11 Bin storage and cycle storage is proposed to be both internal and within 
designated units to the front of the maisonettes. 

1.3  Main Issues

1.3.1 The main issues with regards to this application are the impacts upon the 
character and appearance of the locality, the impact of the proposal on the 
existing residential properties, the provision of housing within the flood plain, 
and the impact upon highway safety. 

Assessment

1.4  Principle of Residential Development

1.4.1 The site in question lies within the urban area, and upon previously developed 
land. The site has not been allocated within the Local Plan or the Core 
Strategy for any specific use although it does lie within an area of flood risk 
(flood zone 3). 

1.4.2 As such, the principle of development is considered to be acceptable in this 
location, subject to all material considerations being fully addressed.    

1.5  Five-Year Housing Land Supply

1.5.1 Whilst the Council are unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing 
land it is not considered that in this instance, this would represent any 
overriding requirement to grant planning permission in this location. There 
has historically been a presumption in favour of developing brownfield land in 
sustainable locations, and for this reason the lack of a five your housing land 
supply does not tip the balance in favour (or indeed otherwise). 

1.5.2 The Council has quite correctly identified that some of their housing trajectory 
(213 units) can be met through windfall sites (of which this is one) but given 



that the number of units is relatively small, it is not considered that this should 
be given significant weight in the determination of this application. 

1.6  Townscape Character

1.6.1 The application site is located adjacent to a large supermarket building 
‘Sainsbury’s’ which is a functional building of little architectural merit. This 
building, together with the large areas of car parking create a relatively 
utilitarian character, which juxtaposes a more traditional street pattern of 
terraced houses. The application site sits between the two differing areas, 
with the building (that has recently been demolished) linking the large scale of 
the supermarket with the small dwellings. 

1.6.2 The design of this proposal has been significantly amended since the initial 
submission, which sought to introduce a more traditional design, with a 
mansard roof. This design approach was considered to be of insufficient 
quality to be approved, and as such the design has been amended 
accordingly.  

1.6.3 The proposal is now of a more contemporary form, with two storeys of brick 
construction, and a lightweight third storey, which is set back from all exposed 
elevations fronting onto the public domain. 

1.6.4 Whilst this form of building is not replicated within the immediate vicinity, it is 
considered to be of a scale and form that would respond positively to the 
character and appearance of the locality. This is very much a transition site 
between the commercial centre of Deal and the more residential area, and so 
to my mind the site can accommodate a good level of development subject to 
the standard of design being sufficient.  

1.6.5 Significant negotiations have taken place to ensure that there is a good level 
of fenestration within all elevations, that would provide a strong vertical 
emphasis to the building that take its reference from the more traditional, 
Victorian terraces nearby. 

1.6.6 The use of suitable materials has also been given a strong consideration, with 
the applicant encouraged to use a high quality stock brick, and boarding (or a 
relatively dark/subdued hue) that would reduce the prominence of the 
building, and also ensure that longer term it would retain its character (given 
this is a well-used highway, it is likely to generate significant dirt and dust).

1.6.7 The set back within the top floor is also considered to be important, as this 
further reduces the bulk of the building, particularly as one approaches the 
building. Given the relationship of the building with the highway, this reduction 
in bulk is particularly important, and as such, precise details of the set-back 
will be requested via condition should planning permission be granted. 

1.6.8 Concern has been raised with regards to the fact that the building has been 
brought forward from the footprint of the existing building. I have no concerns 
in this regard as I consider that this reduces the possibility for the front 
gardens to accumulate rubbish and dirt. 

1.6.9 All visible elevations of this property would be well articulated, and would 
include a good level of fenestration. Initially there were no side windows on 



the proposal (fronting the Sainsbury’s car park) but these have now been 
included. This is considered to represent good design, and will also provide 
additional surveillance over this area. 

1.6.10 The maisonettes to the rear would be more traditional in their form, and would 
be at a lesser scale that would respond to the character and appearance of 
the nearby terraced properties. The inclusion of gable projections, and the 
use of a suitable palette of materials would ensure that this element of the 
proposal would be acceptable, and would assimilate into the area 
appropriately. 

1.6.11 This part of the development would be set back from the main highway which 
again further reduces their impact, particularly when viewed from West Street. 

1.6.12 The inclusion of a flint wall to the front is welcomed, and is considered to 
acknowledge a more traditional material that is seen within the locality. 

1.6.13 Given the above, it is therefore considered that the proposal would not 
adversely impact upon the character and appearance of the locality, and 
would respect the setting of the Conservation Area to which it adjoins. No 
objection is therefore raised on the basis of the design, and impact upon the 
wider area.   

1.7  Accessibility and Highways

1.7.1 The application has been fully assessed by Kent County Council Highways. 
Whilst no off-street parking provision is proposed, the site is a sustainable 
town centre location and there are parking controls in place on the highways 
surrounding the site. There is also a good level of off-street parking nearby 
(including within the adjacent car park). As such, no objection is raised to this 
proposal on highway safety grounds. 

1.7.2 The County Council do request however, that due to the constrained nature of 
the site, the delivery of materials will need to be carefully considered and a 
condition is suggested that would ensure the provision of vehicle 
loading/unloading on site (where possible), the provision of suitable cycle 
parking, and the provision and maintenance of suitable visibility splays. 

1.7.3 I am in agreement that suitable cycle storage and visibility splays should be 
provided and maintained, but I am of the view that the details of the delivery 
of materials is not necessary, given there are existing parking controls within 
the locality that would overcome these matters. 

1.7.4 For these reasons, I consider there to be no grounds to seek to refuse the 
application on highway safety or accessibility grounds. 

1.8  Head of Terms

1.8.1 The County Council have identified a number of contributions that they would 
require as a result of this development. In order to fully assess these requests 
they must be considered in light of Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations 2010. These stipulate that an obligation can only 



be a reason for granting planning permission if it meets the following 
requirements: 

It is:
(i) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(ii) directly related to the development; and
(iii) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

1.8.2 The Council’s policy for developments of this nature is to require 30% of all 
units to be provided for the provision of affordable housing. Policy DM5 of the 
Core Strategy sets out that any development of 15 or more units would trigger 
this requirement, and given that this is for 17 units there would be a necessity 
to provide 5 units of the overall number. This is considered to meet the tests 
set out above.   

1.8.3 The County Council have requested that contributions of £816.27 be made for 
the provision of additional book-stock that would mitigate the impact of this 
proposal. The necessity for this requirement has been evidenced, and as 
such I consider that this meets the tests set out above. As such, I consider it 
appropriate to request this contribution. 

1.8.4 The County have stated that whilst they would ordinarily request contributions 
from a development such as this, given the pooling restrictions in place, they 
would be better served to obtain any contributions from other schemes that 
would be more likely to have a profound impact upon school provision within 
the locality.

1.8.5 If members are mindful of accepting the recommendation to grant permission, 
it would only be issued subject to the satisfactory completion of the signed 
legal agreement which would then bind the current and future owners of the 
land.

1.9  Flood Risk and Water Management

1.9.1 The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment that has 
been fully analysed by the Environment Agency. This sets out a number of 
conditions that they would wish to see imposed. They have however raised 
concerns with regards to the provision of sleeping accommodation within the 
ground floor, although they raise no objections to it.

1.9.2 The site is included within Flood Zone 3a on the Environment Agency’s flood 
map and therefore has a 1 in 100 year or grater annual probability of river 
flooding, or a 1 in 200 year or greater annual probability of sea flooding. In 
this case it is the latter and to put it into context, a large part of the deal urban  
area falls within that same zone. Primarily for that reason, new flood defence 
works were recently completed in June 2014 also the Deal sea frontage. 
Together with rock revetment at Sandown Castle, and new wave wall and 
new beach, coastal flood defence works now provide a 1 in 300 year standard 
of protection against coastal flooding and wave overtopping. 

1.9.3 Because of the site’s location, a full Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) was 
submitted. In accordance with national policy advice in the NPPF and 
National Practice Guidance, it is necessary for development in such areas to 
pass both the sequential and the exception test. The purpose of the former is 



to guide development to less vulnerable areas. However, as referred to 
above, that is difficult in the case of Deal given that most of the urban area 
lies within Flood Zone 3 and there are no obvious other sites within the town 
centre which pose less risk. The 3 allocated sites within the LALP are now 
committed and the remaining allocation relies heavily on windfall sites such 
as the current proposal, coming forward. Given its sustainability advantages 
and other site specific advantages as noted above, it is considered to be 
acceptable from a site sequential point of view.

1.9.4 With regard to the exception test, the two key components are the wider 
sustainability benefits and the outcome of the specific flood risk assessment. 
The former has been dealt with above. The FRA notes that all sleeping 
accommodation will be at first floor level and that the finished floor levels will 
be 150mm above existing ground levels which would be sufficient for both 
actual risk events and residual risk events such as the new sea defences 
failing. The calculations were based on a numerical hydrodynamic flood 
model and have been accepted by the Environment Agency. However as a 
further precautionary measure, the Agency would prefer to see thresholds set 
at 600mm above ground level due to the risk of some overland flow. 

1.9.5 The conditions that have been requested would require that the internal floor 
level of building be raised to 600mm above the possible flood level, and this 
would ensure that there would be no water ingress into the building. Whilst 
the concern with regards to sleeping accommodation within the ground floor 
is understood, given there would be no water entering the building I am 
satisfied that this would not be to the detriment of the future resident’s safety. 

1.9.6 The applicants are currently liaising with Southern Water, who they state have 
‘verbally agreed’ to allow for the surface water to be discharged into the foul 
water system, despite Southern Water’s initial concerns. It is anticipated that 
this will be confirmed in writing very shortly, and that an update can be 
provided to Members prior to, or at the Planning Committee meeting to 
address this concern.  

2.0  Residential Amenity

2.1.1 The proposed development would result in the replacement of a commercial 
use, and all of the associated noise and disturbance that this would bring, 
with a residential use. Given the relatively tight nature of the site however, 
careful consideration needs to be given to both the existing residents, as well 
as future occupants of the building.

2.1.2 Due to the orientation of the existing buildings within Anchor Lane, (which 
front onto it) and the fact that some of the properties have private amenity 
space that lies in front of the application site, careful consideration had to be 
given to the impact of the proposal is terms of whether it would appear as 
overbearing, or whether there would be any direct overlooking. There is an 
existing row of trees and shrubs that provide a good level of screening as one 
first moved into Anchor Lane, and these fall within the ownership of the 
existing residents (and as such there is no pressure to remove these as a 
result of the development). This screen will prevent any significant 
overlooking of the private amenity space of these dwellings, and as such, the 
proposal would not give rise to any unacceptable impact upon the existing 
residents in this regard. 



2.1.3 The separation of the properties from the proposed development would be as 
per the existing building and whilst this would be slightly higher it would not be 
of a scale that would appear as overbearing, or would result in the creation of 
a sense of enclosure. No objection is raised on this basis. 

2.1.4 The rear of the site would see the scale of the buildings drop down, and to be 
set back from the access road. This would ensure that the relationship with 
the properties opposite would be acceptable, and would not give rise to direct 
overlooking, or the creation of a sense of enclosure. 

2.2  Other Matters

            2.2.1    There are no outstanding ecological concerns with this application given the 
previous use of the site, and the fact that it was wholly developed. No 
mitigation has therefore been requested in terms of either quantitative or 
qualitative enhancements. 

 2.2.2 Due to the previous use of the site, and the provision of asbestos within the 
building the Council’s Environmental Health Officer has requested that 
detailed planning conditions be imposed to ensure that the site is ‘cleaned up’ 
prior to any development taking place on site.  

2.3  Planning Balance

2.3.1 As with any planning application, there are a number of considerations that 
need to be fully balanced in the determination process. Clearly, in favour of 
this application is its sustainable location, within the town centre, and close to 
services and infrastructure that reduce the reliance upon the private car. The 
site is also brown field, and the proposal would make very efficient use of the 
land. It is however, a particularly densely developed site. 

2.3.2 The application has been amended in order to provide a more sensitive 
design response to the character of the area. The design is now considered 
to be of a standard that warrants approval, subject to suitable conditions that 
would control the quality of the materials, and fenestration used. Whilst it is 
noted that a number of objectors have raised concerns that the development 
is not ‘in keeping’ with the Conservation Area, there is no requirement for new 
development to be of a pastiche form. 

2.3.3 No parking provision is to be made for future residents of these units, and 
although numerous concerns have been raised by existing residents about 
the existing parking problems within the area, given the sustainable location, 
and the level of nearby car parking, I see no reason to object on this basis. 
Kent County Council concur with this view. 

2.3.4    All other material matters have been fully considered within the report above. 

2.3.5 For the reasons given above, it is considered that on balance this application 
is now acceptable, and as such I recommend that Members give this proposal 
favourable consideration, and grant delegated powers to approve, subject to 
the completion of a suitable S106 agreement that provides the heads of 
terms, and the imposition of suitable safeguarding conditions that relate to the 
matters set out below. 



 

g) Recommendation

I Subject to the completion of a S106 Agreement to secure the following heads 
of terms: (i) The provision of 30% affordable housing within the development; 
and (ii) Contributions of £816.27 towards library book-stock; PERMISSION 
BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions: (i) Standard time limit for 
commencement; (ii) The development to be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans; (iii) Agreement of the materials (which shall include stock 
brick). (iv) Details of hard surfacing materials; (v) Details of soft landscaping 
for the site; (vi) Details of all boundary treatments – including the provision of 
a flint wall to the front of Anchor Lane; (vii) Contamination matters; (viii) 
Provision of bin stores; (ix) Provision of cycle stores; (x) Details of window 
recesses and roof overhangs; (xi) Details of fenestration (which shall be of a 
high quality material); (xii) Drainage details to be submitted; (xiii) EA 
Conditions (re: flood risk); (xiv) Highways conditions. 

II Powers be delegated to the Head of Regeneration and Development to settle 
any necessary planning conditions and matters in line with the issues set out 
in the recommendation and as resolved by the Planning Committee.

Case Officer

Chris Hawkins



Application:Not to scale

This plan has been produced for Planning Committee purposes only.  No further copies may be made.

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controlled of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

2016

Note: This plan is provided for purposes of site
identification only.

DOV/16/00063

The Barn

North of 7 Millfield

St Margarets-at-Cliffe

CT15 6JL

TR35814508

Dover District Council Licence Number 100019780
published

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

M
IL

LF
IE

LD

TO
W

N
S
E
N
D

 F
A
R

M
 R

O
A
D

77.2m

P
ath (um

)

84
.3

m

A
V
E
N

U
E

LAN
E

C
H

A
P

E
L

THE

Pond

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

Green

Down

84
.0

m

Free

Bowling

77.0m

61

71

75

Lo
ng

 A
cr

e

Sar
n

te

M
ilr

oy

Sid
eLi

nk

Spindles
The O

ld
School

3

10

Knoll
Court

4

5

1

P
or

ts
id

e

2759

55 36

25

Quietways

7

8

30

9

29

M
onReve

Cochabam
ba

4

G
lenbeg

Chering

Seahorses

Nordic
Bockhill

4

W
oo

dp
ec

ke
rs

Wood

Whistlers

28

30

37

45

Cromlech

24

39

D
el

ta

C
ot

ta
geFa

nt

Li
ttl

e

1

1
Curfew

C
ottage

T
ree

T
he

P
ear

C
lo

is
te

rs

M
yanda

C
ottage

1

C
ot

ta
ge

s

Cottages

Chapel

C
ur

lin
g

3

18

15

Li
by

S
ch

14

27

23

31

M
oonrakers

10

Bank

C
ha

pe
l C

ot
t

Cherry

Farm

Street

Club

7

Nalaki

4

11

17

1
9

PH
M

erzenich

To
w
ns

en
d

B
un

ga
lo

w
O

liv
e 

C
ot

ta
ge

Shelter

El Sub Sta

Chering

3

8

2

1

1

1

4

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

2

The Old W
ell House

G
re

en
sl
ee

ve
s

D
el

l

The
 O

ld

C
ot

ta
ge

W
yv

en
ho

e

G
ol

f H
ou

se

Li
nd

le
y

M
on

tro
se

C
lif
to

n

B
ra

m
bl

e

R
os

e 
Ban

k

Stanelaw

Holm
 O

aks

Townse
nd

Fm Cott

House
O

ld

Bar
n

Farm

Townsend



 a) DOV/16/0063 – Variation of Conditions 2 (partition), 5 (storage use) and 
6 (access to building) and removal of Condition 3 (noise) of planning 
permission DOV/14/01213 (Use of barn for mixed use of agricultural and 
building business storage) (Application under Section 73) - The Barn, 
north of 7 Millfield, St Margaret’s-at-Cliffe

 b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning permission be refused. 

 c) Planning Policies and Guidance

Core Strategy (CS) Policies

 Policy DM1 states that development will not be permitted outside the 
settlement boundaries unless it is ancillary to existing development 

 Policy DM3 restricts commercial buildings in the rural area unless it is 
shown that no suitable site within the village exists and then the 
development should be located adjacent to the village boundary.

 Policy DM4 allows for the re-use or conversion of rural buildings 
beyond the confines of the village boundary for commercial uses 
providing it is acceptable in other planning respects, is of suitable 
scale for the use proposed and contributes to local character.  

 Policy DM15 protects the countryside from development which would 
harm its character or appearance. Development will only be permitted 
in the countryside in certain circumstances and provided that 
measures are incorporated to reduce, as far as practicable, any 
harmful effects on countryside character.

 Policy DM16 restricts development which would harm the character of 
the landscape. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

 The NPPF has 12 core principles set out in paragraph 17 which 
amongst other things seek to secure high quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future residents.

 NPPF – is relevant as the proposal should seek to be of a high design 
quality and take the opportunity to improve the visual quality and 
character of the area.  Paragraphs 56-58 and 64 seek to promote 
good design and resist poor design.

 NPPF – paragraph 28 seeks a prosperous rural economy by 
supporting sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business 
through conversion and new buildings.



 NPPF – Chapter 8 seeks to promote healthy communities

 NPPF – Chapter 11 seeks the protection and enhancement of valued 
landscapes, and that great weight should be given to conserving 
landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
which have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape 
and scenic beauty. 

 Paragraph 123 states that planning decisions should aim to avoid 
noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life as a result of new development, and aim to mitigate and 
reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life arising from noise from new development including through the 
use of conditions

 Section 72 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special attention to be paid to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of conservation areas.

The Kent Design Guide (KDG)

 The Guide provides criteria and advice on providing well designed 
development and advises that context should form part of the decision 
making around design.

 d) Relevant Planning History

DOV/14/01213 – Granted for the use of the barn building for a mixed use of 
agricultural and building business storage, subject to the imposition of 
conditions.  

DOV/14/00528 – Withdrawn for the use of the barn building for a mixed use of 
agricultural and building business storage, following the Officers’ 
recommendation to Refuse planning permission.

DOV/12/00142 – Certificate of Lawfulness for an existing use for the 
continued use of the Barn as a mixed use of agricultural, building business 
storage and incidental residential use. Refused.

DOV/12/00455 – 0771 – Certificate of Lawfulness for a proposed use for the 
mixed use of the Barn for agricultural, building business storage and ancillary 
residential purposes incidental to No.7 Millfield. Refused.

Enforcement Appeal A 2153022 – Change of use for business and incidental 
residential uses – Appeal Allowed.

Enforcement Appeal B 2153023 – Change of use of the Barn building and 
adjoining land from agricultural to a business and incidental residential uses – 



Appeal Dismissed (subject to Notice being corrected).

Enforcement Appeal C 2152024 – Carrying out operations by the deposit of 
materials – Appeal part allowed (for a section of the land) and part dismissed.

Enforcement Appeal D 2153025 – Change of use of land from agricultural to 
business and incidental residential uses – Appeal Dismissed.

In 1990 and 1992 – the Barn building was constructed and extended for 
agricultural purposes.  This use continued until (approximately) 2006 when 
the business use became the main use.

The barn building along with land surrounding it was the subject of the above 
four enforcement notices in 2011.  The barn building was being used for 
business and domestic storage rather than for agricultural purposes.  With 
regard to the appeal affecting the barn building, the Inspector upheld the 
enforcement notice and dismissed the appeal against it and required the use 
of the barn building to cease. The planning merits of using the barn for 
business and domestic purposes were assessed by the Inspector.  In 
summary, he was concerned with the scale of the barn building and the 
possibility of the business use intensifying within it – which would have a 
wider and increased impact which would harm residential amenity.

Following the Inspector’s decision the applicant submitted two LDC 
applications for the existing and proposed uses of the barn building.  These 
were refused in 2013.

Under application 14/00528, for the same proposal as this current application, 
the Officer’s recommendation to the Planning Committee was to refuse 
permission, but ahead of the meeting the application was withdrawn.

Under application 14/01213, for the mixed use of the barn building, planning 
permission was granted and the Officer’s recommendation was overturned, 
subject to the imposition of planning conditions set out and approved by the 
Planning Committee. 

 e) Consultee and Third Party Responses

Parish Council: The Parish Council believes the decision of the Planning 
Officer should be accepted in this case.

DDC Environmental Protection Officer: Under the previous application, the 
comments were: The proposed hours of operation should be in line with 
national operating hours for construction sites, namely: 0800-1800 hours 
(Mondays to Fridays) and 0800-1300 hours (Saturdays) with no noisy activity 
on Sundays or Bank Holidays.  Furthermore, with regard to noise insulation, 
determination of the level of increased sound insulation required and 
installation of any sound insulation should be carried out by the applicant.

Under this current application, in view of the lack of any noise complaints from 
nearby residents being made to the Environmental Protection (EP) team, and 



in view of the reasons submitted by the applicant, there is no objection to the 
removal of Condition 3.

In respect of Condition 6 to allow access to the site from 7.30am rather than 
8.00am, there have been no complaints received by the EP team in relation to 
the hours of use (complaints were received in 2011 against Sunday use).  
The EP team does not object to extending the hours of use to 7.30am but 
remain of the opinion that the use of the access and building should not take 
place after 1pm on Saturdays, in order to safeguard residential amenity.  

Kent Highways: Under the new protocol Kent Highways make no comment on 
this application.

Kent Public Protection Team: No objections are received.

Public Representations: 

One letter of support has been received raising no objections to the increased 
hours of use and the existing noise levels.

Two letters of objection have been received (one from a near neighbour and 
another from a planning consultant representing the same near neighbour.  
The objections can be summarised as follows:

 The proposal represents a further attempt to intensify the use of the 
building

 Existing conditions have not been complied with.  The previous 
Enforcement Notice had not been complied with.

 The use of the rear doors to serve the proposed business use (Condition 
5) would lead to an erosion of the AONB and the character of the area

 The opening up of the two areas of the building would blur the uses 
approved and therefore further weaken the control of the use of the 
building

 The agricultural use has not given rise to complaints; the building 
business use has given rise to complaints.

 The existing hours of operation condition was suggested by the applicant 
at the appeal Hearing.

 The variation of conditions would fail to guard against intensification, 
would not safeguard residential amenity and would increase the impact of 
the use in the countryside and AONB.

 The proposal is contrary to Policy, contrary to NPPF and comprises 
unsustainable development



 f) 1. The Site and the Proposal  

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

Site Description

The application property comprises a portal framed barn building 
served by an access from Millfield which is a cul de sac of eight single 
storey dwellings.

The access has been created from Millfield, between the properties 
numbered 6 & 7 which leads to a long driveway culminating at the barn 
building.  The driveway also serves some new and old stable buildings 
on its left hand side used for keeping horses and for domestic 
purposes.  To the right of the driveway there is a fenced paddock, 
where horses are kept.

The barn building is rectangular in shape and measures some 33m 
long by 17m wide (561 sq m).  There is a set of double doors to the 
front and a smaller set of double doors to the rear.  Originally, the barn 
building which was built in 1990 was used for entirely agricultural 
purposes.  Over more recent years the building has been increasingly 
used for domestic and business purposes.  The agricultural use of the 
building declined as the business use increased.

The barn building falls within the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
outside the village confines of St Margarets at Cliffe.  Two footpaths 
exist to the east of the barn, one of which cuts across the adjacent 
paddock in a north east to south west direction.  As such, the barn is 
clearly visible to the public within the protected landscape.  By reason 
of proximity, the rear of the building would be more visible from the 
public footpaths than the front of the building.

The Proposal Considered under 14/01213

This section of the report sets out the relevant section of the previous 
report to Committee to enable the Committee to understand the 
permitted use.

“The submission of the application seeks to overcome the Inspector’s 
reasons for not granting planning permission for the use of the building 
for business/domestic purposes, referred to in the above section, as 
well as the reasons why Officers had recommended the previous 
planning application for refusal, prior to it being withdrawn.

The use proposed is for agriculture and building business storage.  The 
hours of operation would be from 0730 hours to 1800 hours, Mondays 
to Saturdays, with no Sunday working.  The extent of the business 
related storage would be confined to the front of the barn building up to 
some 253 sq m of floor space.  The agricultural storage would be 
confined to the rear of the barn including a mezzanine floor (already in 
situ).  The full extent of the agricultural storage would be some 430 sq 
m.  The two areas of storage would be separated by a floor to ceiling 



1.8

1.9

1.10

1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14

1.15

partition.

The applicant has set out the equipment, plant and machinery that 
would be stored within the agricultural section and what plant and 
machinery would be stored in the building business section.

The applicant has nearby landholdings amounting to some 20 acres.  
Site plans have been submitted with the application.

The applicant considers that appropriate controls through planning 
conditions could be used to ensure that the two storage areas remain 
distinct and the impacts arising from the business use restricted.

The applicant considers that the proposed use is compliant with 
Development Plan and NPPF policies and objectives.”

Proposal under Consideration in the Current Application

The proposal seeks to vary some of the conditions imposed on the 
permitted application.  Appendix 1 of this report provides a copy of the 
decision notice with the wording of all the conditions set out.

Condition 2 – partition

The proposal seeks to insert a set of double doors into the partition to 
provide an internal link between the two distinct areas of the barn 
building.  Combined with the variation of Condition 5, the request for 
the partition seeks to avoid moving equipment and plant around the 
building to the far side (north eastern side) and to avoid vehicles 
crossing the land as this would harm the condition of the ground and 
harm the character and appearance of the countryside.  The applicant 
considers that no additional impact upon residents would ensue 
through the variation of this Condition.

Condition 3 – noise

The proposal seeks to remove the condition as it is not necessary.  The 
applicant considers that the other conditions would regulate the use of 
the barn building and prevent it from intensifying to any significant or 
noisy extent.

Condition 5 – Relocate the uses of the barn building

The proposal seeks to swap the uses of the areas of the barn building 
so that the agricultural use takes place in the front section of the barn 
and the building business use takes place in the rear section of the 
barn.  This swap around of uses would also be related to the proposed 
variation of Condition 2 and the reasons behind providing an internal 
link between the two areas.  The applicant considers that access to the 
agricultural ‘area’ is required at all times of the day and is not controlled 
by the conditions relating to hours of use.  In swapping around the 



1.16

1.17

uses, the potential for disturbance to the residents in Kingsdown Road 
is reduced as the activities associated with the agricultural use are 
more contained and further from those properties.

Condition 6 – Hours of operation

The proposal seeks to extend the hours of operation to begin at 
7.30am (and not 8am) Mondays to Saturdays, and to extend the hours 
of use on Saturdays from 1pm to 6pm.

The applicant considers that the proposed hours reflect the business 
hours of the building trade and would safeguard the amenities of 
nearby residents.

2. Main Issues
2.1 The main issues are:

 the impact of the proposals on the character and appearance of 
the area, including whether the use conserves or enhances the 
AONB

 the impact upon residential amenity

3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

Assessment

For ease of reference part of the previous assessment set out in the 
Report to the Planning Committee for application DOV/14/1213 is set 
out below.  This is then followed by an assessment of each of the 
proposed changes to conditions.

“The appeal decision concerning four Enforcement Notices addressed 
the issue of the planning merits of the business storage/domestic 
storage use in the barn. In essence, the Inspector considered that the 
use of the barn building in 2011 may not have been problematic at the 
time but there was ample room within the barn for a building business 
use to expand and a more intensive building business was a concern 
to the Inspector.  He also opined that it was not apparent (to him) that 
conditions attached to a grant of planning permission could guard 
against unacceptable intensification or otherwise control such a use to 
an acceptable degree. The Inspector considered that the continued 
use of the barn had a realistic potential to expand which would harm 
the living conditions of neighbouring residents (those in Millfield and in 
adjacent gardens).  However, the use of the building was not 
considered to harm the character or appearance of the area, including 
the AONB.  Furthermore, the Inspector considered that the use would 
not materially affect the proximity of the edge of the conservation area 
on the eastern edge of the paddock.  

Policy DM4 is particularly relevant because it relates to the conversion 
or re-use of rural buildings. Permission would normally be given for 
buildings in the rural areas but in all cases the building to be re-used or 
converted must be of suitable character and scale for the use 



3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

proposed, contribute to local character and be acceptable in other 
planning respects. 

The key determination is the balance between supporting business 
growth in the rural areas through the re-use or conversion of rural 
buildings and whether the scale of the proposed use including its 
potential to grow would cause harm in the public interest - in this case, 
the AONB, the local character, the Conservation Area, and the living 
conditions of the existing and future occupiers of nearby residential 
properties.

Whilst the existing operation appeared to the Inspector not to cause 
harm any planning permission would run with the land and not the 
applicant.  Therefore the current operation could change in the future.  
This could be changed through letting the different floor areas of the 
building to tenants other than connected to the business, introducing 
ancillary uses and operations such as cleaning, repairing, servicing of 
plant and equipment, storage of tools and materials, parking, or 
introducing further items for storage, increasing the frequency of the 
use of the access and increasing the size and frequency of vehicles 
visiting the site.

It is also apparent that the transportation of the proposed business 
storage items either by being loaded onto vans or lorries and driven 
away, or by being pulled on a trailer, are going to give rise to clattering, 
banging and other intermittent noises not conducive close to a 
residential area.

The point of access to the site, from Millfield, is between and close to 
Nos 6 and 7. The access to the land to the rear partly shares the 
crossover/access/driveway with No.6.  The use of the access for 
farming traffic is not a regular occurrence at the moment, but is a daily 
occurrence for the current business.  Once agricultural traffic also uses 
this access there would be two unrelated uses using an access that is 
close to Nos.6 and 7 and near to the remaining properties in the cul de 
sac.  In addition, the access remains in use for domestic purposes and 
horse related purposes (the use of the stables/buildings and land and 
paddock either side of the drive to the Barn).  The future use of the 
access is therefore a significant concern.”

Current Position

Since the grant of planning permission last year Investigation Officers 
have visited the site four times as a result of complaints regarding non 
compliance with Conditions and other activities taking place on and 
adjacent to the land.  The submission of the details for CCTV has taken 
place to comply with Condition 11 and these have been approved.  The 
visits have not shown a breach in the hours of operation.  However, 
Officers are currently investigating a possible breach of the hours of 
operation. Conditions 2, 3, 5, 7 and 10 remain in breach.



3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

The Planning Committee in granting permission identified the 
conditions that it considered would enable the building business to 
continue whilst safeguarding the future amenities of the occupiers of 
nearby dwellings.  This current application seeks to vary or remove four 
of these conditions.

Conditions 2 & 5

In essence, the applicant is seeking to swap the uses of the two areas 
of the barn (to have the agricultural use at the front and the business 
use at the rear) and to insert a set of double doors into the partition to 
allow an internal link between the two areas.

It is of concern that the uses would be swapped around.  The building 
business use has a degree of containment at the front of the barn, 
served by an existing hard standing and access and being closer to 
existing buildings along this access.  Vehicle manoeuvring, loading and 
unloading, and the use of vans and small lorries take place in front of 
the barn.  Should permission be granted, this level of activity would be 
more visible from two public footpaths and would lead to a further 
encroachment of commercial activity into the more open countryside 
and the AONB.  Furthermore, it is considered that this activity would be 
more visible from the residential properties in Kingsdown Road and the 
conservation area.  A greater intensity of commercial activity in this 
location would detract from the rural character and appearance of the 
area.  Views from the Conservation Area and footpaths would be 
adversely affected by not only the activity around the doors to the barn, 
but this would also represent an encroachment into the open 
countryside and landscape of commercial noise, activity, and comings 
and goings. Commercial vehicles driving over the existing grass/field 
would drive close to or over the right of way to sweep in towards the 
double doors.  It is anticipated that frequent use of this area by vehicles 
would despoil the land.  It is also anticipated that a future application 
could be submitted to provide hardstanding to the rear of the building, 
which would be made on the basis of need.  This may be difficult to 
resist if there is an obvious impact upon the landscape.

The applicant considers that the uncontrolled use of the rear of the 
barn by the agricultural activities would likewise do damage to the land 
but also lead to activity outside of the hours of operation currently 
controlling the business use which would affect nearby residents.  
However, there is no evidence that there is any current and frequent 
agricultural activity associated with the rear of the barn building.  There 
is no evidence that what agricultural activity that does take place 
causes disturbance.  The barn is within the countryside and agricultural 
activity associated with the use of the barn adjacent to the open 
countryside is what is expected in the countryside. 

It is considered that the swapping around of the uses would lead to a 
further encroachment of commercial and incongruous activity into the 
countryside and the AONB.



3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

3.18

With regard to the opening up of the partition to provide double doors 
and an internal link, it is of concern that having offered/accepted the 
need for the partition the applicant now wants to change the partition 
and provide the opportunity to combine the distinct areas before he has 
first put the partition into place.  No need has been established or 
justified at this stage for the internal link and it is of some concern that 
the proposal could lead to the increase of building business activity and 
storage within the building.  The variation opens up the opportunity to 
intensify the building business and further erode the living conditions of 
the occupiers of nearby properties. 

Assuming that the partition stays in the same place the area for 
business use would become considerably larger at 430 sq. m. rather 
than 253 sq m as approved, which implies intensification.  This is a 
significantly different proposition to that given planning permission by 
Committee.

The point of the partition was to separate the two uses and aid 
enforcement.  The proposed insertion of doors into the partition would 
undermine the purpose of the partition and make enforcement much 
more difficult.

Condition 3

The applicant considers that the noise condition is no longer required 
and should be removed.  The EP Officer suggests that the noise 
condition could be removed as there have been no complaints 
regarding noise.  The reason behind the condition is to ensure that 
what noise that does emanate from the building is acceptable to 
safeguard residential amenity.  Officers are not aware of any noise 
readings that have taken place. If there were readings, they may show 
that the activity taking place within the barn is not audible from the 
nearest residential boundary and other sensitive locations.  This would 
mean that no measures other than the closing of the doors are 
required to contain the noise.  Or, if there were readings they may 
show that some insulation measures are required.

In the absence of any noise readings to demonstrate that there are no 
concerns it would ordinarily be necessary to retain the condition to 
safeguard local amenity on a precautionary basis.  The condition has 
only been relevant for 6 months and despite the comments from the EP 
Officer it is suggested that the condition should remain until such times 
as it is demonstrated that the condition is no longer needed or that the 
existing barn structure contains the noise within the building to an 
acceptable level so that no measures are required.  In addition, any 
planning permission runs with the land and not the applicant, which 
means that a different user might change the current working practice 
and operation

Condition 6



3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

3.24

3.25

The EP Officer does not raise concerns with regard to allowing the 
business activity to begin at 7.30am but does raise concerns over 
allowing the business activity to extend throughout Saturdays if the 
activity cases noise disturbance at the nearest residential boundaries.

To begin on a building site around 8am it is anticipated that the barn 
would need to be accessed prior this for tools and equipment to be 
loaded and taken to site.  The increased morning hours are therefore 
acceptable on the basis of need, with the existing conditions in place 
and on the advice of the EP Officer.

On the basis that the usual construction industry hours run until 1pm 
on Saturdays, the applicant has not demonstrated why in his case the 
activities and use associated around the barn should operate longer 
hours.  However, for the purposes of coming back to the barn, 
unloading, cleaning and locking up it would seem reasonable to allow 
the applicant some additional time after 1pm on Saturdays in which to 
do this.  It is suggested that the use could operate until 2pm on 
Saturdays.  The existing condition precludes Sundays, Bank and 
Public Holidays

Conclusion

Although the re-use of rural buildings is supported in principle by the 
Development Plan and NPPF, the scale of the proposed business use 
and its opportunity to intensify and have a greater impact upon nearby 
residential properties and the ANOB and conservation area is of 
significant concern.  

There have been on-going breaches of planning control taking place 
on the land for at least 7 years.  The appeal decision upheld the 
Enforcement Notice against the use of the barn and the Inspector 
identified his concern over future intensification of the use and how this 
might harm local residents.  The planning permission granted in 2015 
and the use of conditions sought to strike the balance between 
allowing the barn to be used for the building business and agriculture 
and the safeguarding of residential amenity, the conserving of the 
AONB and preservation of the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area.

The proposal seeks to push back the boundaries established by the 
permission without any demonstration of need or justification that the 
conditions should be varied or removed.  

The report on DOV/14/01213 (see Appendix 2) sets out Officers’ 
concerns over the additional impact upon the AONB and the setting of 
the Conservation Area and the potential for the amenities of residents 
to be further affected in the future. As such, it is recommended that the 
application is refused.



 g) Recommendation

I

II

III

PERMISSION BE REFUSED, for the following reasons: 

(1) The variation of Condition 2 would give rise to an unrestricted and 
uncontrollable intensification of the use of the barn building for 
business storage use which would cause harm to the living conditions 
of the occupiers of nearby residential properties contrary to Policy DM3 
of the Dover Core Strategy and paragraphs 17, 56-59 and 64 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework

(2) The removal of Condition 3 would fail to demonstrate that the future 
living conditions of the occupiers of nearby residential properties would 
be adequately safeguarded, contrary to Paragraphs 17 and 123 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

(3) The variation of Condition 5 would give rise to additional 
commercial activities and comings and goings within the open 
countryside and Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  These 
would result in an incongruous and obtrusive encroachment into the 
landscape which would cause harm to the character and appearance 
of the rural area, the setting of the Public Right of Way, the setting of 
the Conservation Area and the natural beauty and landscape of the 
AONB contrary to Paragraphs 17, 15, 75 and 134 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework

PERMISSION BE GRANTED to vary Condition 6 to amend the hours 
of operation to between 0730 and 1800 hours, Mondays to Fridays, 
and from 0730 and 1400 hours on Saturdays and at no time on 
Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays. No building business related 
activities or operations shall take place on the land or within the 
building outside those times.

Powers be delegated to the Head of Regeneration and Development to 
settle any necessary planning conditions or reasons for refusal in line 
with the recommendations and as resolved by the Planning Committee.
 

Case Officer

Vic Hester































Application:Not to scale

This plan has been produced for Planning Committee purposes only.  No further copies may be made.

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controlled of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

2016

Note: This plan is provided for purposes of site
identification only.

DOV/16/00090

Former Public Conveniences

Beach Street

TR37815279

Dover District Council Licence Number 100019780
published

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

M
e

a
n

 L
o

w
 W

a
te

r

M
e

a
n

 H
ig

h
 W

a
te

r

Short Street

Car Park

Car Park

S
h

in
g

le

STREET

S
h
in

g
le

OAK STREETM
ID

D
L

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T

CHAPEL STREET

Custom House Lane

B
E

A
C

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

6.4m

5.3m

MARKET

O
d
d
 F

e
llo

w
s A

lle
y

KING STREET

Five Step Alley

Cockle Swamp Alley

5
1
 t

o
 5

5

4
7

5
7

Hotel

PH

4
9

8
5

9
9

8
7

Royal Hotel

9
3

1
017

21

10

7
9

16a

9

77
PH

16b

6
9

7
1

8
1

8
3

15

5
6

12

3

5
2

6
1

14

13

4

5
2

6
6

10

6
6
a

8

6
8

New

1

7
0

a
7

0
c

2

E
v
e

w
e
ll

C
o
tta

g
e

Lodge

206
8

a
b

c

5 to 11

6
9

Leisure Centre

6
7

6
3

Royal

6
0

12

14

7
7

7
3

P
a

ris
h

 H
a

l l

S
t G

e
o

r g
e

's



a) DOV/16/00090 – Change of use of land to facilitate outdoor seating area 
(7 tables and 28 chairs) in connection with the café use - Former Public 
Conveniences, Beach Street, Deal

Reason for report: The number of third party representations. 

b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning permission be Granted

c) Planning Policy and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

 The NPPF has 12 core planning principles which amongst other things 
include the need to proactively drive and support sustainable 
economic development to deliver business needs. They also seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all 
existing and future occupants

 Paragraph 6 of NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is 
to contribute to achieving sustainable development. Further in 
paragraph 7 the NPPF goes onto state that there are three 
dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental

      Section 2, Paragraph 23 (Ensuring the vitality of town centres) states 
that planning policies should be positive, promote competitive town 
centre environments and set out policies for the management and 
growth of centres over the plan period. Town centres are defined on 
the Local Planning Authorities (LPA’s) proposal map and include the 
primary shopping area and areas predominantly occupied by main 
town centre uses within or adjacent to the primary shopping area.

       Section 2 further states that LPA’s should define the extent of town 
centres and primary shopping areas, based on clear definitions of 
primary and secondary frontages in designated centres and set 
policies which make clear which uses will be permitted in such 
locations

       Promote competitive town centres that provide customer choice and a 
diverse retail offer and which reflect the individuality of town centres

       Section 10 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change) states that applications for minor development and 
changes of use should meet the requirement for site-specific flood risk 
assessments

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

 The Department for Communities and Local Government launched a 
planning practice guidance web-based resource. This contains a 
number of sections to enable users of the planning system to obtain 



information in a useable and accessible way. It is a material 
consideration when making decisions as it replaces the previous 
planning guidance documents which are now cancelled.

Dover District Core Strategy (CS)

 Policy CP1 sets out the Government strategy which is to focus new 
development at urban areas, which amongst other things seeks to 
underpin urban revival. Deal is an District Centre which is expected to 
provide a good range of services and facilities

 Policy DM1 In order to help operate the settlement hierarchy through 
the development management process (Settlement Boundaries) 
proposes settlement boundaries for planning purposes and sets out 
how these will be used to help judge the acceptability of individual 
development proposals. Development outside settlement confines will 
not be permitted, unless specifically justified by other development 
plan policies.

 Policy DM13 requires that the provision of car parking be design-led 
approach based upon the characteristics of the site, the locality, the 
nature of the proposed development and its design objective. 

 Policy DM25 states that proposals which would result in the loss of 
open space will not be permitted unless there is no identified 
qualitative or quantitative deficiency in public open space in terms of 
outdoor sports sites, children’s play space or informal open space or 
where there is such a deficiency the site is incapable of contributing to 
making it good, or where the site is capable of contributing to making it 
good, a replacement area with at least the same qualities and 
equivalent community benefit, including ease of access, can be made 
available, or in the case of a school site the development is for 
educational purposes or in case of small-scale development it is 
ancillary to the enjoyment of the open space and in all cases except 
point 2 the site has no overriding visual amenity interest, 
environmental role, cultural importance or nature conservation value.

Dover District Local Plan (LP)

 Policy TR9 requires the Council in conjunction with the Highways 
Authority seek the provision of the cycle routes shown on the 
proposals map and the safeguarding of routes which lie outside of the 
limits of the existing highways. 

Section 72(1) (conservation area) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 72(1) states that, ‘In the exercise, with respect to any building 
or other land in a conservation area, of any powers under any of the 
provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall be paid 
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area.’

d) Relevant Planning History



DOV/14/01140 - Change of use to Café (A3) – Granted
DOV/15/00882 – Removal of condition 6 of planning permission 

DOV/14/01140 to allow external seating outside of the 
approved area – Withdrawn 

e) Consultee and Third Party Responses

KCC Highways – No objections in respect of highway matters

Conservation Officer – No comments

Deal Town Council: Object to the application as it will encroach on 
promenade, is out of keeping with the area, new seawall recently built and 
with future plans for return of shelter will vastly limit pedestrian space. 
Anomaly on the plans with the number of tables and chairs

Public Representations: 6 letters of objection have been received and their 
comments are summarised as follows:

 Density of tables is too great 
 Will reduce open space amenities on the promenade
 Number of tables and chairs is disproportionate for the size of the café
 Street furniture will detract from the current outlook over the sea
 Street furniture will obstruct access from the promenade to The Royal 

Hotel public car park and promenade walkway
 Overcrowded with noise, litter and anti-social behaviour  
 Wheelchair access to promenade will be restricted and gap left will not 

be wide enough 
 No allowance of a turning circle for wheelchair users
 Not in keeping with the conservation area
 Would obstruct a public highway
 Could result in a requirement for a further 40 cycle spaces
 Seating area will cover the site of the recently demolished shelter, 

which it is hoped to rebuild 
 Area is a seafront promenade and not a site for commercial 

development
 If granted several other businesses along the seafront will apply for 

seating areas
 Seating outside will be cramped and will cause obstruction to other 

users
 Four cycle racks are no longer used due to the seafood stall 

obstructing them, where would more cycles be accommodated
 Refurbishment of the promenade was for the benefit of the public for 

recreational and leisure use not for business use
 Plenty of places to sit and have a drink along the seafront because of 

a variety of eating/drinking venues
 Already becoming overcrowded with bikes
 Tables and chairs would cause overcrowding and children will be 

forced to walk round possibly in the road – accidents waiting to 
happen

 Area is immediately adjacent to the coach park and will block access 
for the visitors



 Ongoing plans to replace the seafront shelter which was demolished 
to allow access for the upgrading of the sea defences. Replacement 
shelter will be a facility for visitors and residents alike

 Permission was given for the café under the provision of no extra 
outside seating, why should this be altered

 Disabled parking bays and coach parking on the same stretch of 
highway together with cycles will not give the promenade good look

 Original application was supported because it was proposed to cater 
for cyclists in a space that was the footprint of the old toilets. New 
application is an overdevelopment which encroaches on an important 
public thoroughfare 

111 letters of support have been received and the comments are summarised 
as follows:

 Location is on a cycle route and would allow somewhere to sit outside 
and enjoy the views

 Plenty of space on the promenade, would not cause an obstruction 
 Would be an advantage to the town for both locals and visitors
 Would be an advantage to tourism and improve what is offered in our 

unique town
 Solves the issue of bike security
 Adds to the ambience of the seafront
 Area for seating does not impinge upon direct pedestrian route 
 Has enhanced the seafront area and would encourage more people to 

the area for recreation 
 Outside seating is needed for those with dogs
 Building has been given a new lease of life and no longer appears an 

eyesore
 Encourage passing trade and provide an opportunity for people to 

enjoy the sea view
 Makes the most of the space 
 Would enhance the footfall in the town
 Will help contribute to the improvement as a destination and will bring 

business and visitors to the town
 Café is an asset to the seafront
 Good to see an attractive and well cared for space 
 Will attract more spending and enhance the variety of visitors
 Overall will benefit the area which will add to the vibrant community
 An independent establishment run by local people which should be 

encouraged 
 Will be important to bring revenue to ensure business stays in Deal
 Will enable cyclists to look after their bikes, which are often expensive
 Seating in an idyllic location should be supported        
 Route One is already very popular and an asset to the town

f) 1. The Site and the Proposal  

1.1 The application site lies within the town confines of Deal and also lies 
within the Middle Street Conservation Area. The site is within Flood 
Zone 3 and is located on the seafront adjacent to the Royal Hotel 
carpark. The building itself is in the process of being renovated to a 
café following planning permission DOV/14/01140. 



1.2 The property is single storey and has been rendered and painted with 
a slate roof. The building was previously in use as public conveniences 
and sits immediately adjacent to the new seawall.  

1.3 The building is currently being used as a cycle café, which was 
approved under DOV/14/1140. The original plans showed a very 
limited outside seating area to the east side of the building. 

1.4 The surrounding properties are in a mix of uses including cafes, public 
houses, commercial, restaurants and residential. 

1.5 Planning permission is sought for the change of use of land to the 
south of the building for use as an additional outdoor seating area. 

1.6 The plans submitted alongside this application show the creation of a 
seating area to the south of the building fronting onto the promenade. 
Amended plans have been received which show the number of tables 
and chairs to be commensurate with that outlined on the application 
form. A temporary means of enclosure around the area to ensure that 
the tables and chairs cannot be dispersed along the promenade is 
shown. The enclosure would not be fixed or permanent and would be 
removed at the end of each day.  External seating will provide 7 tables 
with up to 28 seats (this area measures around 6m by 6m). The plans 
ensure that the area immediately adjacent to the seawall is kept clear 
to enable pedestrian access to the seaward side of the promenade. 

1.7 Plans will be on display

2. Main Issues

2.1 The main issues for consideration are:

 The principle of development
 Impact on amenity 
 Impact on highway safety
 Impact on conservation area
 Flood risk; and
 Impact on open space
 Other matters

2.2 Assessment

The principle of the development 

2.3 The site lies within Deal as a district centre where new development is 
generally acceptable and where a mix of facilities and services are 
encouraged. Whilst the property lies within the town centre boundary 
as shown on the Core Strategy proposals map it does not fall within 
either the primary or secondary shopping frontages and therefore no 
specific local plan policies apply. NPPF policies therefore prevail. 
These seek to promote and improve the vitality and viability of town 
centres.   



2.4 NPPF town centre policies promote competitive town centre 
environments. The development proposes an outside seating area for 
use in connection with the café which was granted permission in 
2015. The proposal which includes a fairly limited number of covers 
(approximately 28 seats) would strengthen the commercial offer within 
the town centre. 

2.5 In these respects the proposals are supported by both Core Strategy 
policies and the NPPF.

      3. Impact on amenity

3.1 The application building is situated on the seaward side of Beach 
Street and is a fairly isolated building. There are some residential 
properties on the opposite side of the street, which are an approximate 
distance of 21m away. As a result of the separation distance and as 
the café is not proposed to be open past 6pm (in accordance with the 
planning application approved under DOV/14/01140), it is not 
considered that the outside seating area would result in any harm to 
the amenities of the occupiers of those properties. 

    
                  4. Impact on highway safety

      4.1 Objectors have expressed concerns regarding the loss of part of the 
public highway and the loss of the access to the seaward side of the 
promenade. Following the receipt of amended plans, the area 
proposed for the tables and chairs has been reduced and now allows 
the retention of the existing access which runs along the east side of 
the building and provides access to the seaward side promenade. 
Further, whilst concerns regarding the loss of some of the footpath are 
noted this area of promenade is large, measuring between 10m and 
14m. The area which would be covered by the seating area would be 
6m by 6m. It is considered that the resultant area would be sufficient to 
allow safe and convenient pedestrian access along the promenade. 
Furthermore, the KCC Highways Engineer has advised that they have 
no objections to the proposal.

  4.2       Although no off-street parking is provided, the site is within close 
proximity to a number of car parks and controlled on-street parking 
zones. The site is readily accessible by public transport, cycle and on 
foot. Policies require that parking provision should be design led, 
based on the characteristics of the site and locality and nature of the 
proposed development. Due to the nature of the use, which is 
considered to be low-key and due to the siting of the property within 
the town centre, along with the limited opening hours and the very 
nature of the café as a cycle café, it would be more likely to attract 
passing pedestrian and cyclist traffic rather than car-borne customers. 
It is therefore not likely to result in undue pressures on parking in the 
vicinity.

5. Impact on conservation area

5.1 The NPPF requires the local planning authority to consider the impact 
of proposals on heritage assets. Section 72(1) of the Act states that 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 



enhancing the character or appearance of that area when considering 
an application to any building or land in a conservation area. In this 
case the low-key nature of the development will have little if any 
impact on the wider conservation area and would not result in any 
harm to the setting or character of the conservation area. 
It is therefore considered that the proposal would preserve the existing 
character and appearance of the conservation area and is therefore 
compliant with Section 72(1) of the Act. 

 
6. Flood Risk

6.1 The site is located within a Flood Risk Zone 3. The proposed use falls 
within the Less Vulnerable use category, which includes the use of 
buildings for shops and other services including cafes. As such it is 
considered that the proposed use of the site is appropriate within this 
area.

7. Impact on open space

7.1 The area of land subject to this application is designated as public 
open space in the Core Strategy. It is considered that as the seating 
area being proposed here is not a permanent feature it would not be 
detrimental to or result in the loss of public open space. In fact it is 
considered that the provision of tables and chairs within this area of 
open space would enhance the area and would be likely to encourage 
the enjoyment of the space by the public. The applicant has stated that 
the tables, chairs and enclosure would be removed at the end of every 
day and as such it would be possible for people to enjoy uninterrupted 
access to this relatively small area of the open space when the café is 
closed for business.

 
8. Other matters

8.1 A number of representations have raised the issue of the future plans 
for the replacement of the shelter, which was demolished as part of the 
flood defence works. It has been confirmed by DDC’s Property 
Services Department, that whilst it was originally proposed by the EA 
to replace the shelter, this is no longer the case. 

9. Conclusion

9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) reflects the 
government’s commitment to building a strong and competitive 
economy; it is also concerned with promoting competitive town 
centres.

9.2 The NPPF makes it clear that all decisions should be made in 
conformity with the Local Plan and equal weight should be given to 
economic, social and environmental factors. The development would 
comply with Core Strategy Policies. The development makes good use 
of a town centre site, introduces activity and additional vitality to this 
part of the promenade, but does so in a low-key way. The provision of 
outside seating in connection with the A3 use introduces an additional 
level of vibrancy to this site, promoting activity and enhancing vitality in 
this area and providing opportunity for business enhancement. It will 



support economic and social objectives without harming environmental 
interests. Accordingly the development is NPPF and development plan 
compliant.

9.3 In respect of the Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act, 
the recommendation is not considered to disproportionately affect any 
particular group.

g) Recommendation

I) PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to conditions to include: i) A list 
of the approved plans, ii) Details of the proposed temporary means of 
enclosure to be submitted to the local planning authority prior to the 
first use of the outside seating area and the means of enclosure 
removed from the land at the end of each days close of business and 
stored within the building, iii) No more than 7 tables and 28 chairs may 
be placed on the site at any one time, iv) All tables, chairs and barriers 
should be removed and stored within the building overnight, v) Hours 
of use of outside seating area shall not be outside of 8am – 6pm 
Monday to Sunday and Bank Holidays

II) Powers be delegated to the Head of Regeneration and Development 
to settle any necessary planning conditions in line with the issues set 
out in the recommendation and as resolved by the Planning 
Committee.

Case Officer

Kerri Bland



Application:Not to scale

This plan has been produced for Planning Committee purposes only.  No further copies may be made.

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controlled of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

2016

Note: This plan is provided for purposes of site
identification only.

DOV/16/00021

47 High Street

Deal

CT14 6EL

TR37665268

Dover District Council Licence Number 100019780
published

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Car Park

BROAD 

C
O

A
L
 Y

A
R

D

5.3m

O
d
d
 F

e
llo

w
s A

lle
y

KING STREET

TCBs

Custom House Lane

Black Horse Alley

Cockle Swamp Alley

North Black Horse Alley

3.9m
3

6

H
IG

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

3.2m

4.7m

STAN

George Alley

PARK STREET

DEAL

4.7m

E
l S

u
b
 S

ta

QUEEN STREET

10

2
8

1

Bank2
4

7

3
0

2
6

6

2
2

4
7

4
4

4
6

4
5

4
3

4
8

4
1

6
5

6
6

6
4

69a

6
2

6
3

6
9

6
7

2
1

2
3

46

Bank

2
1

a1

14

8
10

5

12

7

The Old Cottage

2

5

th
e
 R

e
tire

d
C

e
n
tre

 fo
r

D
e
a
l

6

5

23

22

4

16 to 20
22

28

5
9

5
7

5
0

4
9

5
5

26

0

30

a
14

Leisure Centre
Royal

12

7
5

Bank

1

7
0

6
8

7
1

73

21

Miniature Rifle
 Range

3
4

b3
4

3
5

PH3
3

3
4

c

Library

3
9

3
1

10



a) DOV/16/00021 – Change of Use to coffee shop (Use Class A3) - 47 High 
Street, Deal

Reason for report: Number of contrary views.

b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning permission be granted.

c) Planning Policies and Guidance

     Core Strategy Policies
 DM1 - Development will not be permitted outside of the settlement confines, 

unless it is specifically justified by other development plan policies, or it 
functionally requires such a location, or it is ancillary to existing development 
or uses.

 DM22 – Within the ground floor of premises in the Dover and Deal primary 
shopping frontages, planning permission will only be given for A1, A3 and A4 
uses.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

 The NPPF has 12 core planning principles (Paragraph 17) which amongst 
other things seeks to:

o Proactively drive and support sustainable economic development by 
identifying business and other development needs of an area, and 
respond positively to wider opportunities for growth.

o Secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all 
existing and future occupants of land and buildings.

 Paragraph 23 - requires the planning policies to be positive, promoting 
competitive town centre environments and setting out policies for the 
management and growth of centres over the plan period.

 Paragraph 103 - When determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only 
consider development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where the 
development is appropriately flood resilient and resistant, including safe 
access and escape routes where required, and that any residual risk can be 
safely managed, including by emergency planning.

 Paragraph 123 - Planning policies and decisions should aim to avoid noise 
from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life as 
a result of new development;

 Paragraph 126 - Local Planning Authorities should take into account the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of a heritage asset 
and put them to viable uses consistent with their conservation. 

                      The Kent Design Guide (KDG)
The Guide provides criteria and advice on providing well designed 
development.

Environment Agency’s Standing Advice on Flood Risk for less vulnerable 
development
For less vulnerable developments, the Environment Agency requires the 
applicant to provide details of emergency escape plans for any parts of a 
building that are below the estimated flood level which includes:

- Access to higher floors



- Occupants are able to leave the building if there’s a flood and there’s 
enough time for them to leave after flood warnings.

Section 72(1) of Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Area) Act 1990
Section 72(1) states that, ‘In the exercise, with respect to any building or other 
land in a conservation area, of any powers under any of the provisions 
mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.’

d) Relevant Planning History

No relevant planning history found.

e) Consultee and Third Party Responses

Deal Town Council: No objections.

Environmental Protection Officer: Not aware of residential properties either above 
the premises or either side - see no requirement for additional odour control 
measures. EH (pollution control) have no further observations.

Public Protection: No observations.

Environment Agency: No objections. It is best practice to have an emergency 
plan, but as this change is not to a more vulnerable use no such plan would be 
required.

Public Representations: 
Seventy nine (79) letters of objection have been received, raising the following 
relevant planning matters:

- The attractiveness of Deal’s High Street would be lost due to too many 
coffee shops

- Fails to comply with Local Plan’s shopping strategy for the district which 
includes the criteria “improve the quality of Town Centre shopping and its 
environment”.

- No provision for storage of waste as a coffee shop will produce waste 
attractive to rats.

- The proposed outside seating will reduce free flow of pedestrian traffic as 
there are already benches in-situ outside the site.

Other matters raised include lack of need for another coffee shop, overpriced 
coffee shop, increase in the competition for the existing businesses in the high 
street and criticism of the applicant’s company. The relevance of these 
objections has been assessed in the section 2.8 ‘Third Party Representation’.

Seven (7) letters of support have been received making the following comments:

- Welcome Starbucks than have an empty shop.
- Would create new jobs.
- Would bring footfall into Deal.
- Another great opportunity for DDC to support sustainable development and 

businesses that are investing in the area.
- Support the use of closed shops to make Deal a better place.

(All the public letters of representation are available online for members to review.)



f) 1.       The Site and the Proposal

1.1 The application relates to a site within Deal Town Centre constituting a part 
of the primary shopping frontage and lies within a Conservation Area and 
Flood Zone 3.

1.2 The property is currently used as a shoe shop at ground floor with storage 
areas above. It is a mid-terraced property sandwiched between WH Smith 
to the north and M&Co to the south.

1.3 The property backs onto a private car park from where the rear elevation of 
the premises is visible. 

1.4 This application seeks consent for the change of use of the premises from 
a retail shop (A1 Use) to a coffee shop (A3 Use). The ground floor would 
comprise of the coffee shop with seating for 36 customers, a kitchen 
counter, a utility area and a toilet. Internal access is provided to a first floor 
office space for staff use.

1.5 Originally, the proposal included the provision for external seating which 
has now been removed to prevent the development from interfering with 
the pedestrian flow in the street. Also, an amended site plan has been 
received showing an allocated area for external waste storage to the rear 
and rearrangement to the internal layout/seating plan. 

 
2 Main Issues

2.1 The main issues are:

 The principle of the development
 Environmental/Amenity Impact

                      Assessment

                       Principle of the development

2.2      The site lies within Deal’s Town centre and constitutes a part of the primary 
shopping frontage. The proposed use (A3) would comply with Policy DM22 
of the Core strategy for Primary Shopping Frontage which states that 
planning permission will only be granted for A1, A3 and A4 uses.

Environmental/Amenity Impact

2.3 Given the fact that the proposed use complies with DM22 of the Core 
Strategy and that the application does not include proposals for any 
external alterations to the exterior fabric of the building, no visual harm to 
the character and appearance of the host property or the street scene is 
envisaged from the proposal. In terms of changes to the existing signage, a 
new application seeking advertisement consent would be required.

 
2.4  The property lies within a parade of retail/commercial units. There are no 

residential properties above the premises or to either side. Environmental 



Protection have confirmed that there is no requirement for additional odour 
control measures. An external refuse storage area is proposed to the rear 
of the building accessible from the car park.

2.5 The proposed opening hours from Monday to Friday would be 06:00 to 
20:00; on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays from 08:00 to 18:00. 
These hours are later than other cafes in the area, most of which close by 
5:30pm, but would be less than the existing hours of the public houses 
such as the New Inn and Rose Hotel at either end of the town centre, 
which are open until at least 11pm, later at weekends. Having regard to the 
nature of the proposed use and low density of residential properties in its 
vicinity, it is not considered that the hours would disturb the amenity of 
residents living within/around the town centre. Indeed, given the town 
centre location and the nature of the use, longer hours than those currently 
proposed would not be objected to.

2.6 Given the context of the proposal and the nature of its impacts, your 
officers are satisfied that the proposal would preserve the character of the 
conservation area in accordance with Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Other Matters

2.7    The information provided in the application form suggests that the proposed 
change of use would give rise to job opportunities for 4 new full-time 
employees and 4 new part-time employees. In this respect, the proposal 
would support the economic objectives of the NPPF relating to building a 
strong economy. 

2.8  The site lies within Flood Zone 3 of the Environment Agency’s flood risk 
map. The proposed use is classified as ‘Less Vulnerable’ in the NPPG 
under the section ‘Table 2: Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification’. The 
Environment Agency (EA) is not required to be consulted where a change 
of use of the type proposed by the current application is envisaged. 
Standing Advice provided by the EA requires the applicant to provide 
details of their emergency escape plans. The submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment includes a section on access and egress which states that a 
flood emergency plan would be provided to the cafe staff and made 
available to the users of the building if required. This plan would set out 
early warning systems, evacuation and emergency plans and commit users 
to a protocol of action. The information contained in the Flood Risk 
Assessment is considered acceptable and is in accordance with EA’s 
Standing Advice.

2.9  79 contrary views have been received in relation to the planning 
application. The majority of the objections have been raised on the 
grounds such as lack of need of another cafe, potential competition for 
other cafés in the town centre and adverse impact on the character of the 
streetscape due to the well-known brand and criticism of the applicant’s 
company. These letters/views are available for members to consider. 
However, these objections are not considered to be material planning 
considerations. It is worth saying that promoting competitiveness in the 
town centre and providing customer choice is likely to increase the footfall 
into Deal town centre, thereby improving the vitality of it – a key objective 
of the NPPF. It is not up to the Local Planning Authority to decide whether 



another coffee shop or café is needed or the competition arising from the 
new development for existing businesses should be prevented. In planning 
terms, it would be inappropriate to distinguish between a coffee shop  
operated by a private individual and one proposed to be run by a corporate 
chain.

2.10 In conclusion, the proposed use is considered to be in keeping with the 
character and appearance of the town centre and would not be contrary to 
national or local planning policies.

g)                   Recommendation

   I PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions: i) 
Timescale of commencement of development, ii) A list of approved plans 
iii) Prior to the erection or installation of a flue/extraction fan/air 
conditioning unit, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

II       Powers to be delegated to the Head of Regeneration and Development to 
settle any necessary planning conditions in line with the issues set out in 
the recommendation and as resolved by the Planning Committee.

Case Officer
Benazir Kachchhi



Application:Not to scale

This plan has been produced for Planning Committee purposes only.  No further copies may be made.

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controlled of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

2015

Note: This plan is provided for purposes of site
identification only.

DOV/15/00457

Land Adjoining Pentire House

The Leas

Kingsdown

CT14 8ER

TR37964733

Dover District Council Licence Number 100019780
published

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

P
a
th

 (
u
m

)

46.8m

Cap

Parker's

M
e

a
n

 H
i g

h
 W

a
te

r
S

h
i n

g
le

Old

Rock

El Sub Sta

D
W

54.8mWalmer and Kingsdown Golf Links

Coast House

Sun Villa

Pentire House

Pillar

Pillar

Moonraker

Tybryn



a) DOV/15/00457 – Erection of a detached dwelling - Land adjoining Pentire House, 
The Leas, Kingsdown 

Reason for report: Number of contrary views.

b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning Permission be refused.

c) Planning Policies and Guidance

Core Strategy Policies

 CP7 - Planning permission for development that would harm the green 
infrastructure network will only be granted if it can incorporate measures that 
avoid the harm arising or sufficiently mitigates its effects.

 DM1 - Development will not be permitted outside of the settlement confines, 
unless it is specifically justified by other development plan policies, or it 
functionally requires such a location, or it is ancillary to existing development or 
uses.

 DM11 - Development that would generate high levels of travel will only be 
permitted within the urban areas in locations that are, or can be made to be, well 
served by a range of means of transport.

 DM13 - Parking provision should be design-led, based upon an area's 
characteristics, the nature of the development and design objectives, having 
regard for the guidance in Table 1.1 of the Core Strategy.

 DM15 - Development which would result in the loss of, or adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the countryside will not normally be permitted.

 DM16 - Generally seeks to resist development which would harm the character 
of the landscape, unless it is in accordance with a Development Plan designation 
and incorporates mitigation measures, or can be sited to avoid or reduce the 
harm and/or incorporates design measures to mitigate the impacts to an 
acceptable level.

Dover District Local Plan (Saved Policies)

     CO5 - Development will only be permitted on the Undeveloped or Heritage 
Coasts, if:-

i a coastal location is essential and no suitable alternative site exists;
ii the development is not in an area of eroding cliffs or unstable land;
iii it would not result in the need for coastal protection works; and
iv there is no adverse off-shore impact.

Additionally, on the Heritage Coasts, development will not be permitted if it would 
adversely affect the scenic beauty, heritage or nature conservation value of a 
Heritage Coast or the Undeveloped Coast.

Kent Downs AONB Management Plan



 SD1 - The need to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the Kent Downs 
AONB is recognised as the primary purpose of the designation and given the 
highest level of protection within statutory and other appropriate planning and 
development strategies and development control decisions.

 SD3 - New development or changes to land use will be opposed where they 
disregard or run counter to the primary purpose of the Kent Downs AONB.

 LLC1 - The protection, conservation and enhancement of special characteristics 
and qualities, natural beauty and landscape character of the Kent Downs AONB 
will be supported and pursued.

 HC3 - Threats to the qualities and character of the Heritage Coast will be resisted 
and managed.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

 Paragraph 14 of the NPPF requires that where the development plan is absent, 
silent or relevant policies are out-of-date development should be granted unless 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, 
or, specific policies in the NPPF indicate that development should be restricted.

 Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that "housing applications should be 
considered in the context of sustainable development. Relevant policies for the 
supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning 
authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of housing sites.

 The NPPF has 12 core principles which, amongst other things, seeks to: 
proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the 
homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places that 
the country needs; secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future residents; recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of 
the countryside; contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
and reducing pollution; prefer land of lesser environmental value, where 
consistent with other policies in the framework; encourage the effective use of 
land by reusing land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), 
provided that it is not of high environmental value; and actively manage patterns 
of growth to make the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and 
cycling, and focus significant development in locations which are or can be made 
sustainable.

 Chapter four of the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable transport. In particular, 
paragraph 29 states that "the transport system needs to be balanced in favour of 
sustainable transport modes, giving people a real choice about how they travel".

 Chapter six of the NPPF seeks to significantly boost the supply of housing, 
requiring Local Planning Authorities to identify specific deliverable sites sufficient 
to provide five years' worth of housing. Housing applications should be 
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 

 Chapter seven requires good design, which is a key aspect of sustainable 
development.



 Chapter eleven requires that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by, amongst other things, protecting 
and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests and soils. 
Planning policies and decisions should encourage the effective use of land by re-
using land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), providing that it 
is not of high environmental value. Great weight should be given to conserving 
landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in 
relation to landscape and scenic beauty. Local planning authorities should aim to 
conserve and enhance biodiversity.

The Kent Design Guide (KDG)

 The Guide provides criteria and advice on providing well designed development.

d) Relevant Planning History

DOV/98/01125 - Erection of a dwelling - Refused and subsequently dismissed at appeal

DOV/10/00530 - Erection of a detached dwelling – Withdrawn

e) Consultee and Third Party Responses

Kent Downs AONB Unit - Object.

The site lies within the AONB and the Heritage Coast. Within the AONB development 
must conserve or enhance the natural beauty of the AONB. Within the Heritage Coast 
development must protect, conserve or enhance the Natural Beauty of the Coastline. 
The site is within the AONB South Foreland Character Area, where an objective is to 
'conserve the spacious and wilder aspects of the landscape, retaining species rich 
grasslands, pockets of scrub and restore the network of existing hedgerows where 
appropriate. Guidance also directs that pockets of scrub and trees are conserved and 
open views to the sea are maintained. The character of The Leas is that of detached 
dwellings which are characterised by being set in large plots with substantial spacing 
between dwellings.

"The AONB Unit is concerned that the erection of a dwelling on this site would be out of 
character with the existing residential development with a plot size and frontage much 
smaller than the existing plots, representing a more intensive form of development than 
currently exists. It is considered that an intensification of the existing residential 
development should be resisted as it would not conserve and enhance either the AONB 
or the Heritage Coast". 

Concern is also raised that the proposal would be apparent in views from the west, 
diminishing existing open views to the sea, and when viewed from this direction, 
presenting a more solid form of development. The proposal is not of such exceptional 
quality to justify the setting aside of normal policies of restraint in the countryside as 
allowed in para 55 of the NPPF, with the proposal failing to be sensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the local area. The AONB Unit does not agree with the conclusion of 
the LVIA that with mitigation the likely residual effect is likely to be beneficial or result in 
no material change. As such the application is considered to be contrary to policies SD1, 
SD3, LLC1 and HC3 of the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan. 

Planning policies in Dover’s adopted Core Strategy are also relevant to the application. 
The AONB Unit considers that policies DM1, DM15, DM16 of the Core Strategy and 
saved policy CO5 of the Local Plan are considered to be of particular relevance.



The erection of a dwelling on this site would have a detrimental impact on both the 
South Foreland Character Area and the Heritage Coast. The application proposals 
would weaken the characteristics and qualities of natural beauty and landscape 
character and disregard the primary purpose of the AONB designation, namely the 
conservation and enhancement of its natural beauty. As such the proposal is contrary to 
paragraphs 114 and 115 of the NPPF, policies SD1, SD3, LLC1 and HC3 of the AONB 
Management Plan 2014-2019 as well as policies DM1, DM15 and DM16 of Dover’s Core 
Strategy and accordingly there is policy justification to refuse this application. 

Natural England - No objection.

This application lies in close proximity to the Dover to Kingsdown Cliffs Site of Special 
Scientific Interest. This SSSI forms part of the Dover to Kingsdown Cliffs Special Area of 
Conservation. The development, as submitted, "is not likely to have a significant effect 
on the interest features for which Dover to Kingsdown Cliffs has been classified". An 
appropriate assessment is not, therefore, required. In addition, the development will not 
damage or destroy the interest features for which the Dover to Kingsdown Cliffs SSSI 
has been notified and therefore the SSSI does not represent a constraint in determining 
this application.

Natural England does not wish to comment on the impact on protected landscapes. The 
local authority should, however, consult the AONB Unit.

The local authority should refer to Natural England’s Standing Advice in respect of the 
likely impact on protected species.

Should permission be granted, the authority should consider securing measures to 
enhance the biodiversity of the site.

National Trust - Object.

The site is a very environmentally sensitive location, within the nationally designated 
AONB, close to the Saxon Shore Way and White Cliffs Country Trail. The site is 
immediately adjacent to the SSSI and SAC. The application site is visually exposed and 
sensitive. The erection of a new dwelling on this plot within this characteristically low 
density area is inappropriate and would adversely affect the character of the area. The 
proposed development would be intrusive in views form The Leas and would adversely 
affect the amenity of the area, in particular the landscape setting, biodiversity value and 
recreation value. The development would be contrary to policies DM1 and DM15 of the 
Core Strategy. The technologies and design approach do not appear to be so innovative 
or introduce new design or build qualities, over and above what has been demonstrated 
elsewhere. The proposal is also in conflict with Policy CO5 of the Local Plan which 
states that development will not be permitted if it would adversely affect the scenic 
beauty, heritage or nature conservation value of the Heritage Coast or Undeveloped 
Coast. 

Principal Ecologist – Object.

The site is isolated, within an AONB and within the Heritage Coast. The development 
must therefore fulfil the criteria of paragraph 55 of the NPPF and the policy requirements 
in respect of Heritage Coast and AONB. The building is not necessary for the 
conservation of the Heritage Coast; the building does nothing to protect the Heritage 
Coast; and the development would not enhance the Heritage Coast. The development 
would increase built form in a highly visible manner, diminishing the link between coastal 
cliff grassland and the downland golf course. The biodiversity of the site is limited and 
uncharacteristic of the calcareous grassland that occurs on some nearby properties; 
however, any improvements, if achievable, would not be significant, either in terms of 



the adjoining SAC/SSSI or the Local Wildlife Site. Any reduction in the wide spaces 
between properties would lessen the special sense of place. The permission be granted, 
it is recommended that a condition be attached to ensure that no access or parking take 
place on the adjacent National Trust land.

KCC Archaeology – Recommend that, should planning permission be granted, a 
condition should be attached requiring the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work, in accordance with an agreed written specification and timetable.

Ringwould with Kingsdown Parish Council – Object.

“The development is on a small parcel of land, the proposed construction is 
inappropriate in design and appearance and the visual impact would not blend with the 
surrounding area. The Parish Council is prepared to consider modern designs and is not 
wedded to traditional developments. However, it does not consider this proposal meets 
the criteria for good design given the plot and the context. This application does not 
meet any of the criteria outlined in National Planning Policy Framework 2012 for 
sustainable development and has a detrimental effect in terms of its social and 
environmental impact.

This is an AONB and the White Cliffs landscape should remain protected and 
unchanged. As stated in the Land Allocation Pre Submission Local Plan page 113, any 
development proposals which are located within the Costal Change Management Area 
(CCMA) will be assessed to ensure that only appropriate development that requires a 
coastal location, and provides substantial economic and social benefits, is permitted. 
This application does not meet these criteria. An application for the erection of a 
detached dwelling on a neighbouring strip on land at Ty-bryn was refused 
DOV/10/00477. The reasoning given was that the application site did not constitute 
previously developed land, lies outside of any identified settlement confines, and is 
located within the countryside where there is a presumption to protect the areas special 
character and appearance.

The development would be out of keeping with, and of significant detriment to, the 
established character and appearance of the street scene and the wider character and 
appearance of the countryside contrary to Dover District Council Core Strategy. We 
submit that the reasoning underlying the refusal of that application set out in the Notice 
of Refusal of Outline Planning Permission dated 23/07/2010 applies in equal measure to 
the present application.

A previous application to build on this site was withdrawn DOV/10/00530 Passivhaus, 
The Leas, Kingsdown. The Parish Council objects to this application and recommends 
refusal”.

DDC Head of Building Control – No objection

The evidence used to justify the conclusion that the property is not vulnerable to erosion 
within the next 100 years is robust.

Third Parties/Neighbours - 

Forty-four letters of objection have been received, raising the following concerns:

 The site lies outside of the settlement confines
 The development would harm the character of the AONB
 The site is a Site of Special Scientific Interest and a Special Area of 

Conservation
 The Leas lacks infrastructure, such as mains drainage and mains gas



 The development would be an undesirable intensification of development along 
The Leas

 The development would harm the character and appearance of the area
 Unacceptable impact on the Heritage Coast
 Harm to the integrity of the cliffs
 Impact on the road, including The Leas and the neighbouring road, which are 

unadopted and unsuitable for heavy traffic
 Impact on the living conditions of neighbours, including causing a loss of light, a 

sense of enclosure and overlooking/loss of privacy
 Impact on wildlife

In addition, fifteen letters of support have been received, raising the following points:

 The development is innovative and original
 The development would improve the appearance of the site
 The dwelling would be sustainable
 The dwelling would complement and improve the character of The Leas and the 

AONB

f) 1.     The Site and the Proposal

1.1 The Leas comprises an unadopted road running along the coast line (north to 
south) for approximately 1.1km. To the eastern side of the road is undeveloped 
and unimproved chalk grassland, displaying a wild character. To the western side 
are a string of eleven large dwellings which are typically set in spacious plots. 
The character of the properties, whilst all low density, varies along the length of 
The Leas, with White Cottage, Sun Villa and Coast House, set closer together 
than the remaining development further to the south. Beyond the dwellings, 
further to the west is the Walmer and Kingsdown Golf Club. Whilst the landscape 
of the golf club is managed, it retains a character which adds to the beauty of the 
area.

1.2 The site itself was formally part of the side garden of Pentire House, but has 
subsequently been separated off. The site is surrounded by a mixture of timber 
fences and vegetation, whilst a concrete wall demarcates the sites western 
boundary with the golf course. There are no structures or buildings on the site, 
albeit it is apparent that a garage building had once been located on the site. A 
concrete hardstanding remains towards the east of the site, adjacent to the 
boundary with The Leas.

1.3 The proposal is for the erection of one detached dwelling which would provide 
three large bedrooms, a large open plan kitchen, dining and living room, together 
with bath rooms, plant rooms and an internal garage. The rooms would be 
spread across one floor, the level of which would rise from west to east, which 
would oversail the integral garage and car parking areas. An extensive hard and 
soft landscaping scheme is also proposed around the building (and to its roof). 
The building would incorporate a number of technologies to reduce the energy 
consumption of the building, provide energy and ventilate the building. These 
include highly insulated floors, walls, roof and triple glazed windows, a ground 
source heat pump, photovoltaic solar panels, battery storage, phase change 
materials within the fabric of the building, solar walls and mechanical ventilation 
with a heat exchanger.   

2 Main Issues

2.1 The main issues are:



 The principle of the development.
 The impact of the development on the character and appearance of the 

area, including on the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.
 The impacts of the development on the living conditions of neighbouring 

properties.
 The impact on the highway network.

Assessment

Principle

2.2 The site lies outside of the settlement boundaries, where Policy DM1 applies. 
This policy states that development will not be permitted on land outside of the 
confines, unless it is specifically justified by other development plan policies, or it 
functionally requires such a location, or is ancillary to existing development or 
uses. The development is not supported by other policies in the development 
plan. Dwelling houses do not functionally require a rural location, whilst the 
development would not be ancillary to the existing uses or development at the 
site. The development is therefore contrary to Policy DM1.

2.3 However, as the District cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply and 
having regard for paragraphs 14 and 49 of the NPPF, the Councils housing 
policies cannot be considered up-to-date. In such instances permission should 
be granted unless the development is unsustainable or specific policies in the 
NPPF direct that permission should be refused. As the assessment of 
sustainability is a comprehensive exercise, having regard to the three dimensions 
of sustainable development and paragraphs 18 to 219 of the NPPF, this 
assessment will be carried out at the end of this report under the heading 
'sustainability overview'.

Character and Appearance

2.4 The site is within a highly sensitive location, being within the countryside, AONB 
and Heritage Coast. The site is adjacent to the Saxon Shore Way, England 
Coast Path and White Cliffs County Trail, which are well used public rights of 
way. Furthermore, the route has been adopted as a National Trail under the 
Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009. The site would be prominently located and 
would be visible for a length of approximately 250m along this right of way. 
These views are taken from land which is designated as countryside, AONB and 
Heritage Coast.

2.5 The site would also be visible from the land to the west, which falls from just over 
50m in elevation down to around 15m in elevation, before rising again to around 
65m in elevation. Close to the later ridge, which lies approximately 800m to the 
west, is a public footpath leading along the ridge from Victoria Road. From this 
footpath, and the junctions of Victoria Road with Queensdown Road, Hillcrest 
Road and Kingsdown Hill, the site is visible as a distinct gap in both the built 
development along The Leas and a distinct gap in vegetation. In these views the 
site appears as a transitional space between the land in the close vicinity of 
Pentire House and the large side garden of Tybryn, which has a strong sylvan 
quality. In these views the site is visually permeable, although a low level 
concrete wall which forms the southern boundaries of Coast House, Pentire 
House and the site provides some distraction from the otherwise sporadic 
development within generous, treed grounds. These views are taken from land 
which is designated as countryside and AONB.



2.6 The site lies within the countryside, where policy DM15 applies. This policy 
directs that planning permission for development that adversely affects the 
character or appearance of the countryside should be refused, unless one of five 
criteria is met. Regard must also be had for whether the development would 
harm the landscape character of the area, in accordance with policy DM16. 
Where harm is identified, permission should be refused unless it is in accordance 
with the development plan and incorporates any necessary avoidance or 
mitigation measures, or can be sited to avoid or reduce the harm and/or 
incorporate design measures to mitigate the impacts to an acceptable level.

2.7  The site also falls within an area identified by Policy CP7, where there is a 
strategy to conserve and create Green Infrastructure. Green Infrastructure is 
defined as “the network of green spaces and natural elements (including water) 
within and between the built environment”. Within this area, planning permission 
for new development which would harm the Green Infrastructure Network will 
only be permitted if it can incorporate measures that avoid the harm arising or 
sufficiently mitigate its effects.

2.8 The site is also within land designated as Heritage Coast under saved policy 
CO5 of the Local Plan. This policy directs that permission be refused for 
development within this area, unless four criteria are met. These criteria require 
that: a coastal location is essential and no suitable alternative site exists; the 
development is not in an area of eroding cliffs or unstable land; it would not result 
in the need for coastal protection works; and there is no adverse off-shore 
impact. Additionally, development will not be permitted if it would adversely affect 
the scenic beauty, heritage or nature conservation value of a Heritage Coast or 
the Undeveloped Coast. This policy was drafted prior to the publication of the 
NPPF and the weight given to this policy must therefore be proportional to its 
compliance with the NPPF which, at paragraph 114, states that development 
should “maintain the character of the undeveloped coast, protecting and 
enhancing its distinctive landscapes and improve public access to and the 
enjoyment of the coast”. However, paragraph 3.372 of the Land Allocations Local 
Plan, which was adopted after the NPPF states that “only appropriate 
development which requires a coastal location, and provides substantial 
economic and social benefits, is permitted”.

2.9 Within the 12 core planning principles of the NPPF, there is a strong emphasis to 
ensure a high quality design, which responds to its context and conserves the 
special character of the countryside. In particular, planning should recognise “the 
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside” and “contribute to conserving 
and enhancing the natural environment”.

2.10 The site is located within the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 
Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that “great weight should be given to 
conserving landscape and scenic beauty in (sic) Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and 
scenic beauty”.

2.11 The site is defined as being within the South Foreland Landscape Character 
Area, the main characteristics of which are described in the Kent Downs AONB 
Landscape Design Handbook as comprising: White Cliffs of the Heritage Coast; 
unimproved chalk grassland along the cliff tops; open exposed landscape dotted 
by farms and small settlements fringed by trees and scrub; large rolling arable 
fields with a thin network of remnant hedge; and open landscape vulnerable to 
any form of development. 



2.12 The Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 2014-2019, which is a material 
consideration, sets out how the AONB is intended to be managed and developed 
and includes a number of policies to achieve its stated aims and the aims of 
national planning policy. This document was given weight in the decision to 
dismiss an appeal for a new building at Walmer and Kingsdown Golf Club earlier 
this year (DOV/15/00491). The policies in the plan seek to protect, conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty of the landscape and advise that permission should 
be refused for development which would undermine this aim. Furthermore, the 
plan advises that threats to the qualities and character of the Heritage Coast will 
be resisted and managed.

2.13 The development would be highly visible from The Leas and the Saxon Shore 
Way to the east, where it would be plainly visible in close views. 

2.14 The build development on The Leas, whilst distracting from the wild character of 
the cliff top, has a spacious quality which substantially reduces its visual impact. 
Equally, whilst the site does not currently provide an extension of the unimproved 
chalk grassland and the boundary treatments, to a degree, impede views and the 
‘open’ character of the site, the site remains an important gap between buildings, 
providing respite from the built development and reducing the dominance of the 
buildings to either side by providing them with a broader undeveloped setting.

2.15 The development along The Leas produces a layout which is defined by a series 
of well separated buildings. Whilst the development along The Leas is 
considered to detract from the wild character of the cliff top, the spaciousness of 
these sites and the separation distances between dwellings help to reduce their 
impact. It is acknowledged that the density of development and, correspondingly, 
the separation distance between buildings is not uniform along the length of The 
Leas. In particular, Sun Villa and Coast House (and to a lesser extension White 
Cottage) are located in significantly narrower plots and significantly closer 
together than other development on the road. Whilst this development forms a 
part of the context of the site, it is considered that it serves to demonstrate the 
visual impact which is caused by an increase in the density of development, 
being significantly more visually prominent and having a greater impact on the 
natural beauty of the landscape. 

2.16 The proposed dwelling would occupy a significant proportion of the site when 
compared to its neighbours (and particularly when compared with its immediate 
neighbours). Consequently, the dwelling would appear uncharacteristically 
confined and congested within the plot. The dwelling would also be 
uncharacteristically close to Pentire House. The generous separation distance 
between properties provides a semi-natural setting to the buildings, reducing 
their impact on the character of the area. For these reasons, it is considered that 
the scale and the layout of the building fail to have regard for the special 
character of the area, detracting from the spaciousness of development along 
The Leas which is so vital in minimizing the prominence of the dwellings.

2.17 Notwithstanding the concerns raised regarding the scale and layout, regard must 
also be had for the design of the building. In assessing the design of the building, 
it is important to note that the NPPF is clear in directing that planning should not 
“attempt to impose architectural styles or particular tastes” and “should not stifle 
innovation, originality or initiative through unsubstantiated requirements to 
conform to certain development forms or styles. It is, however, proper to promote 
or reinforce local distinctiveness”. The eastern elevation of the building is 
dramatic, comprising a stark vertical elevation which would be raised above 
ground level. To the side, but visible from The Leas would be a pair of jagged 
protrusions accommodating windows. The applicant contends that this elevation 



responds to the sheer cliff face. Whilst this approach is understandable, the cliff 
face is only visible along certain stretches of the coastline and is not a notable 
feature of the vicinity of the site. It is therefore considered that this architectural 
reference to the cliff face is misplaced, with the character of the landscape within 
this part of the Heritage Coast being derived from the gently undulating chalk 
grassland atop the cliff. The effect of the bold design is to create a harsh, 
obtrusive appearance, which increases the prominence of the building and the 
harm caused by the scale and layout.

2.18 For these reasons, it is considered that the building would have a significant 
adverse impact on the natural beauty of the landscape, substantially increasing 
the density and urban character of the site and decreasing the attractiveness of 
the Saxon Shore Way.

2.19 In addition to the views from The Leas (and the Saxon Shore Way which passes 
along the cliff top), the site is visible from the north west, including from the 
Victoria Road area and public footpaths linking to Victoria Road.

2.20 From the north west existing views of the site comprise the concrete wall to the 
western boundary of the site and vegetation. The context of the site comprises 
Pentire House to the north and extensive vegetation within the curtilage of 
Tybryn. The proposal would remove the existing concrete wall, creating a more 
freely flowing landscape. The applicant has confirmed that the building proposed 
seeks to respond to the character of the landscape. From the west, the sloping 
roof would be visible which, although incorporating an area for an array of solar 
panels, would be finished in a mixture of beach shingle and chalk rubble. The 
applicant is of the opinion that, from this view, the building would respond to the 
gently undulating land to the west. The proposed dwelling would be visible in 
these views, in particular the white rendered walls, glazing and solar panels; 
however, these views would be taken at a distance of around 800m whilst some 
of the materials chosen would reduce the prominence of the building. Views of 
the building from public viewpoints to the west would take in an extensive 
panorama. Furthermore, the building would be partially screened by vegetation in 
these views. Whilst some visual harm would be caused by the development, it is 
considered that the removal of the concrete wall, which is a prominent feature 
that truncates the flowing landscape, is positive. Overall, it is therefore 
considered that the development would have a neutral impact on the character of 
the area, the countryside, the AONB and the Heritage Coast.

 
2.21 The development would also harm the Green Infrastructure Network, through the 

loss of green spaces and natural elements within the site. Whilst some mitigation 
and enhancement of the site is proposed, for example the creation of areas of 
calcareous grassland habitat and areas of chalk rubble, it is not considered that 
these measures are sufficient to off-set the loss caused by the development as a 
whole.

2.22 The development would therefore be contrary to Policies CP7, DM15 and DM16 
of the Core Strategy, Saved Policy CO5 of the Dover Local Plan, Policies SD1, 
SD3, LLC1 and HC3 of the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 2014-2019 
and paragraphs 17, 58, 60, 61, 64, 109 and 115 of the NPPF.

Impact on Residential Amenity

2.23 The site is bounded by two dwellings; Pentire House to the north and Tybryn to 
the south.



2.24 Pentire House is the closest neighbour to the proposed dwelling. It is located 
approximately 10m from the boundary with the application site, whilst the 
proposed dwelling would be, at its closest, 6m from this boundary and increasing 
to 12m. The boundary between the two sites predominantly consists of tall 
vegetation, although a section of the boundary (approximately in line with the 
rear of Pentire House, comprises a timber fence of approximately 1.8m in height.

2.25 The building itself would be approximately 3.2m in height to its rear, rising to 
around 5.9m to its front. Having regard for the separation distance between the 
two properties, together with the height and mass of the proposed building, it is 
not considered that the development would cause an unacceptable degree of 
loss of light or sense of enclosure.

2.26 The proposal would also include three side facing windows and a door within the 
northern elevation of the building. These openings, from front to rear, would be 
approximately 11m, 8m, 8m and 9m away from the boundary with Pentire House 
respectively. The two western most windows proposed would be significantly 
beyond the rear of Pentire House and, as such, I do not consider that the limited 
degree of overlooking caused would be unacceptable. This limited harm would 
be further reduced by the vegetation on the boundary. The  eastern most window 
would be approximately level with the side elevation of Pentire House and, given 
the separation distance of 21m with this side elevation, I am satisfied that the 
level of overlooking would be unacceptable. The final window would be located 
approximately level with the first few metres of the garden beyond the rear 
elevation of Pentire House, at a distance of approximately 8m from the common 
boundary. This window would undoubtedly cause a degree of overlooking to the 
side garden of Pentire House and part of the garden to the rear of Pentire House. 
However, having regard for the separation distance, relationship with windows on 
the side and rear elevation of Pentire House and the size of the rear garden of 
Pentire House, I do not consider that, on balance, the degree of overlooking 
would be sufficient to warrant refusal on that basis.  

2.27 Tybryn would be set a significant distance away (in excess of 60m) from the 
proposed dwelling. As such, no unacceptable loss of light, sense of enclosure or 
overlooking would be caused to that property.

2.28 Other properties within the area are sufficiently well separated from the site and 
would not be unacceptably harmed.

Impact on the Highway

2.29 This section will not consider the sustainability of the sites location and whether 
the development would be balanced in favour of sustainable modes of transport. 
These considerations will instead be laid out within the sustainability overview 
section which will follow. This section will focus upon the access, turning and 
parking arrangements for cars.

2.30 The development would provide a new vehicular access onto the site from The 
Leas. This access would be located towards the north of the front (eastern) 
boundary of the site, and would replace the existing access towards the south of 
the front boundary of the site, which formally served a garage on the land and 
has now been demolished. This access would be set away from the sites 
(northern) boundary with Pentire House by approximately 2m, although at this 
point the access would be splayed. The access would be significantly further 
from the (southern) boundary with Tybryn and would be set back from the 
roadway by a grass verge, approximately 1.2-1.5m wide. Following several visits 
to the site, it has been noted that The Leas is very lightly trafficked, being an 



unadopted road which serves approximately 10 dwellings beyond the Golf Club. 
Having regard for the likely use of the Leas, the visibility splays which would be 
available across the application site and the grass verge, and the likely additional 
vehicle movements which would be generated by the proposed development, it is 
not considered that the access would cause any material harm to highway safety 
or the free-flow of traffic.

2.31 The ground floor plan shows the provision of car parking for four vehicles, two 
within a garage and two under croft spaces. The application form, however, 
proposed three spaces. Having regard for the size and layout of the car parking 
area, it is considered that three or four vehicles could easily park and manoeuvre 
within the under croft area, which is approximately 12m wide by 17m long. Table 
1.1 of the Core Strategy suggests that a minimum of two independently 
accessible car parking spaces be provided for residents of the dwelling, together 
with an additional 0.2 spaces for visitors, although parking should be a design-led 
process. The development would comfortably accommodate this.

2.32 The development does not include any defined provision of cycle parking spaces, 
as recommended by the Kent Design Guide (including Interim Guidance Note 3) 
and the NPPF. However, I am mindful that the proposed garage would be more 
than sufficient to provide the three cycle spaces which would be recommended 
for this size dwelling. On balance, it is not, therefore, considered that the lack of 
dedicated cycle storage would be reason to refuse planning permission.

Coastal Erosion

2.33 The site is located relatively close to the cliff edge and is within the area 
designated as Heritage Coast. Within such areas, applications for development 
will be expected to demonstrate that it is not in an area of eroding cliffs or 
unstable land. Furthermore, the NPPF, at paragraphs 105 to 108 requires that 
applications demonstrate that development will be safe over its planned lifetime 
and will not have an unacceptable impact on coastal change. The site lies within 
the area covered by the Pegwell Bay to Kingsdown Coastal Flood Risk 
Management Strategy, specifically within the MOD Rifle Range area (Reach 7).

2.34 The base of cliff adjacent to the site is, to a degree, protected by the MOD Rifle 
Range at present, the plan for this section is ‘managed realignment’, i.e. it is 
proposed to remove the defences or allow them to erode over time (subject to 
the wishes of the MOD), with the intention to return the cliffs to natural processes 
of erosion. Consequently, this part of the cliff is subject to a Coastal Change 
Management Area and it must be assumed that the cliff does not benefit from 
protection from coastal erosion.

2.35 It is necessary to consider whether the development would be safe from coastal 
erosion over its planned lifetime (considered to be 100 years in the case of a 
permanent dwelling). The applicant has submitted an erosion assessment to 
consider this issue. The report models the predicted erosion of the coastline, 
concluding that, based on a worst case scenario, the cliff edge will retreat 40m 
over the next 100 years. The proposed dwelling is currently approximately 73m 
from the cliff edge. As such, the dwelling would remain approximately 33m from 
the cliff edge at the end of its planned lifetime and it is concluded that it would 
therefore be ‘safe’ over this period, in accordance with Policy CO5 and the 
NPPF. Furthermore, it is not considered that the development would impact on 
coastal change. The findings of the applicants report have been accepted by the 
Councils Head of Building Control, who considers that the report is robust.

Sustainability Overview



2.36 Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that "housing applications should be 
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be 
considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-
year supply of deliverable housing sites". At present, the council is unable to 
demonstrate a five year supply of housing land. As such, and in accordance with 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF, planning permission must be granted, unless "any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies" of the NPPF, or where specific 
policies of the NPPF "indicate development should be restricted".

2.37 Sustainability is defined in the NPPF, at paragraph six, as paragraphs 18 to 219 
of the NPPF taken as a whole. However, the assessment of sustainability can 
also be separated into three dimensions: economic, social and environmental.

2.38 Whilst the NPPF must be assessed as a whole, two paragraphs (29 and 55) are 
considered to be particularly relevant to this application.

2.39 Paragraph 29 of the NPPF states that "the transport system needs to be 
balanced in favour of sustainable transport modes, giving people a real choice 
about how they travel". This paragraph goes on to acknowledge that 
"opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary from urban to 
rural areas". Kingsdown, which is defined as a village in the Settlement 
Hierarchy, provides limited services and facilities. These include a Church, 1.2km 
from the site, three pubs, between 1km and 1.3km from the site, a butchers/deli 
and newsagent, 1km from the site, and a primary school, 2.3km from the site. 
The site is approximately 1.1km from bus stops which are served by the No.82 
bus, which links to Deal, and the No.541, which is an infrequent service to Dover 
and Deal. The site lies beyond the maximum walking distances to these limited 
facilities, as recommended by the guidelines produced by The Institute of 
Highways and Transportation and far in excess of the desirable walking 
distances suggested by the Kent Design Guide. Furthermore, the topography of 
the area would be likely to inhibit less ambulant residents (or those with push 
chairs).

2.40 Having regard for the walking distances to facilities and services and the lack of 
nearby bus services, it is considered that future occupiers of the dwellings would 
be highly dependent upon private cars. As such, and as accepted by the 
applicants, the dwellings would be isolated.

2.41 Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that, in rural areas, housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities and continues 
to say that new isolated homes in the countryside should be avoided, except 
where special circumstances exist. As addressed previously, the site is 
considered to be isolated. The circumstances where isolated housing may be 
acceptable include:

 where there is the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at 
or near their place of work in the countryside; 

 where such development would represent the optimal viable use of a 
heritage asset or would be appropriate enabling development to secure 
the future of heritage assets; 

 where the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and 
lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting; or

 where the development would be of exceptional quality or innovative 
design; reflect the highest standards of architecture; significantly enhance 



its immediate setting and be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the 
area.

2.42 It is not considered that the first three criteria are relevant to this case, which 
leaves the fourth criterion. 

2.43 The fourth criterion requires development to be of exceptional quality or 
innovative nature. Such design should itself meet four criteria, requiring the 
design to:

 Be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of design more 
generally in rural areas; 

 Reflect the highest standards in architecture; 
 Significantly enhance its immediate setting; and 
 Be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area.

2.44 These four criteria must be jointly achieved. The environmental credentials of the 
building have been designed from the beginning to incorporate the most 
pioneering technologies and design a building which maximises the efficiency of 
the structure of the building. Whilst the individual elements of the building (for 
example the technologies to be employed) are not unique or innovative on their 
own, the combination of technologies, cutting edge materials and form and 
orientation of the building, together with the detailed academic study of previous 
prototypes of similar buildings which has informed the current proposal, is 
considered to be innovative. However, as set out more fully in the character and 
appearance section of this report, it is not considered that the development is 
sensitive to the defining characteristics of the area and would fail to significantly 
enhance its immediate setting. As such, the development does not meet each of 
the four requirements of the fourth criterion and, as such, fails to meet any of the 
special circumstances required by paragraph 55 to substantiate granting 
permission for a new isolated home in the countryside.

2.45 Whilst paragraphs 29 and 55 of the NPPF indicate that permission be refused, 
reading the NPPF as a whole, the development can be split down into the three 
dimensions of sustainable development.

2.46 The development would provide a short term economic benefit, by providing 
employment during the construction phase.

2.47 With regards to the social role, the development would provide one additional 
dwelling which would, to a small degree, contribute towards the Districts need for 
housing supply. The development would, however, be isolated and would not 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Whilst the design of the 
building itself is of some merit, it fails to have regard for its context and would not, 
therefore, contribute towards the creation of a high quality built environment.

2.48 Turning to the environmental role, the sustainable design and technologies which 
are intrinsic to the development would be positive, helping to minimise the use of 
natural resources, minimising waste and pollution, and helping to adapt to 
climate change; however, the dwelling would significantly intensify the 
domesticity of the site and increase the density of development along this 
sensitive coastline, reducing the spacious character of the area and restricting 
open views, failing to protect or enhance the natural environment. 

2.49 Whilst the development would, in my opinion, produce several benefits, it is 
considered that these benefits are significantly and demonstrably outweighed by 
the significant harm the development would cause to the special character and 



appearance of the countryside, AONB and Heritage Coast. The development 
would also be in an isolated location, and would fail to meet the exceptional 
circumstances outlined by paragraph 55 of the NPPF which is directly relevant to 
the current application. 

2.50 To conclude, it is not considered that the development represents ‘sustainable 
development’ and is not, therefore, supported by the provisions of paragraph 14 
of the NPPF.

Other Matters

2.51 The applicant has drawn attention to an application for two dwellings which were 
granted at the southern end of The Leas in 2014 (DOV/14/00176). The 
application site for the 2014 application is similarly within the countryside, AONB 
and Heritage Coast. Whilst this application is relatively close to the site of the 
current application and was also for residential development, and could therefore 
be seen to be comparable, the site contained three dwellings and five 
outbuildings, which were to be demolished in advance of the erection of two 
dwellings being built. The current application site does not include any existing 
buildings. The two sites are therefore significantly, and materially, different. 
Furthermore, each case must be considered on its own merits.

Overall Conclusions

2.52 The proposed development lies outside of the settlement confines of Kingsdown, 
in an isolated location. Whilst the individual design of the building is of some 
interest, and the development would be a high standard of sustainable design 
and construction, the development would cause substantial harm to the special 
character and appearance of the area, which is within the countryside, within the 
AONB and within the Heritage Coast, which more than outweighs the benefits of 
the proposal. As such, and having full regard for the provisions of the NPPF as a 
whole (but in particular paragraphs 14, 29, 49 and 55) it is not considered that 
the development is ‘sustainable’. The principle of the development is judged to 
be contrary to policies CP1, DM1 of the Core Strategy, saved policy CO5 of the 
Dover District Local Plan and the NPPF. Furthermore, the development would 
cause significant harm to the character of the area, contrary to policies DM15, 
DM16 and CP7 of the Core Strategy, saved policy CO5 of the Local Plan, 
policies SD1, SD3, LLC1 and HC3 the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019 and the NPPF. It is therefore 
recommended that planning permission be refused.

g) Recommendation

I Planning Permission BE REFUSED for the following reasons:-

(i) The site lies outside of the settlement boundaries and, as such, the erection of 
a dwelling represents an unsustainable and inappropriate form of development 
within the countryside and within the designated Heritage Coast, contrary to Core 
Strategy Policy DM1, Saved Dover District Local Plan Policy CO5 and 
paragraphs 17, 58, 60, 61, 64, 69, 70, 73, 74, 109 and 115 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

(ii) The proposed development, by virtue of its location and scale would urbanise  
the site in a sensitive countryside location, causing a severe adverse effect upon 
the scenic beauty of the countryside and the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
and would result in the loss of green space and natural elements, contrary to 
Core Strategy Policies DM15, DM16 and CP7, Saved Dover District Local Plan 
Policy CO5, paragraphs 17, 58, 60, 61, 64, 109 and 115 of the National Planning 



Policy Framework and Policies SD1, SD3, LLC1 and HC3 the Kent Downs Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019.

Case Officer
Luke Blaskett



Application:Not to scale

This plan has been produced for Planning Committee purposes only.  No further copies may be made.

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controlled of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

2016

Note: This plan is provided for purposes of site
identification only.

DOV/16/00057

Land SW of Fieldings

Stoneheap Road

East Studdal

CT15 5BU

TR31984974

Dover District Council Licence Number 100019780
published

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

S
T
O

N
E

H
E

A
P

 R
O

A
D

40.0m

East Studdal

43.3m

DOWNS ROAD

S
TO

N
E
H

E
AP

 R
O

AD

46.9m

45.4m

GP

LB

L
ittle

Oaklands

G
id

d
in

g

W
illko

m
m

e
n

M
o

e
l

B
o
o

A
m

a

F
a

ir
w

a
y
s

B
ro

a
d

h
a

v
e

n

R
e

st

Douglas Bungalows

H
a
rro

w

5

Cuilt

Brae

S
a

n
s

Brambles

P
eacehaven

S
o

u
c
i

Bherunda

Lodge

Fieldings

The

H
a

rm
o

n
ie

Ashleigh

D
e
e

p
d

e
n

e

1

4

N
e

w
ly

n

W
ingbourne

2

K
iki

22

Wayside

1

E
storilLinacre

S
pringhill

Juno C
ottage

Hall

Studdal

Highfield

Gaddesden

Pine Bank

Stables

Bower Lodge

G
ly
nd

e

Orchard

F
e
rn

M
e
lin

d
a

Bungalow

Half Acre House

The

Wentways

P
la

c
e

S
e

p
te

m
b

Braithw
aite

House



a) DOV/16/00057 - Erection of a detached dwelling and garage, creation of    
access and associated landscaping - Land south-west of Fieldings,  
Stoneheap Road, East Studdal

Reason for report: called in by Councillor Steve Manion.

b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning Permission be refused.

c)    Planning Policy and Guidance
                        Dover District Core Strategy (CS)

 Policy CP1 states the location and scale of development in the District 
must comply with the settlement Hierarchy.  The Hierarchy should also be 
used by infrastructure providers to inform decisions about the provision of 
their services.

 Policy CP5, Sustainable construction standards. New development 
permitted after the adoption of the strategy should meet code for 
Sustainable Homes level 3 (or any future national equivalent), at least 
code level 4 from 1st April 2013 and at least Code level 5 from 1st April 
2016.  The Council will encourage proposals for residential extensions 
and non-residential developments of 1,000 square metres or less gross 
floorspace to incorporate energy and water efficiency measures.

 Policy DM1 states that development will not be permitted outside the 
confines unless specifically justified by other plan policies, or it 
functionally requires such a location, or it is ancillary to existing 
development or uses.

 Policy DM11 states that development that would generate high levels of 
transport will not be permitted outside the urban boundaries and rural 
settlement confines unless justified by development plan policies.

 Policy DM15 states that any development which would result in the loss 
of, or adversely affect the character and appearance of the countryside 
will only be permitted if it is: 
I) in accordance with allocations made in Development Plan Documents  

     II) or justified by the needs of agriculture,
     III) or justified by a need to sustain the rural economy 
     IVI) or a rural community, it cannot be accommodated elsewhere and it 

does not result in the loss of ecological habitats.  Provided that measures 
are incorporated to reduce, as far as practicable, any harmful effects on 
countryside character.

Land Allocations Local Plan

 Policy LA35 – sets out the land allocations designated for residential 
development at East Studdal.

      Dover District Council – Saved policies (2002)

 CO8 states development which would adversely affect a hedgerow will 
only be permitted if no practicable alternatives exist; or suitable native 
replacement planting is provided; and future maintenance is secured 
through the imposition of conditions or legal future agreements.



     National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012.

 Paragraph 7 sets out 3 dimensions to sustainable development – the 
economic, social and environmental roles which should not be undertaken 
in isolation.

 Paragraph 14 states that at its heart there is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. Where the development plan is absent, silent or 
out of date this means granting permission unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 
assessed against the Framework as a whole.

 Paragraph 17 sets out the core planning principles… Planning should....
always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity 
for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings…”
take account of the different roles and character of different areas, 
promoting the viability of our main urban areas, protecting the Green 
Belts, around them, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside and supporting thriving rural communities within it...."

 Paragraph 49 states ‘housing applications should be considered in the 
context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-
to-date if the Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing sites.”

 Paragraph 55 states to promote sustainable development in rural areas, 
housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of 
rural communities. For example, where there are groups of smaller 
settlements, development in one village may support services in a village 
nearby.  Local Planning Authorities should avoid new isolated homes in 
the countryside unless there are special circumstances such as.

I) the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near 
their place of work in the countryside; or

       II)     where such development would represent the optimal viable use 
of heritage asset or would be appropriate enabling development to 
secure the future of heritage assets; or
III)  Where the development would re-use redundant or disused 
buildings and lead to an enhancement to the immediate settings; or

      IV) the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the 
dwelling. Such a design should: be truly outstanding or innovative, 
helping rise standards of design more generally in rural areas reflect 
the highest standards in architecture; significantly enhance its 
immediate setting; and be sensitive to the defining characteristics of 
the local area. 

 Paragraph 56 states the Government attaches great importance to the 
design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should 
contribute positively to making places better for people.”

 Paragraph 60, Planning policies and decisions should not attempt to 
impose architectural styles or particular tastes and they should not stifle 
innovation.  It is, however, proper to seek to promote or reinforce local 
distinctiveness".

 Paragraph 63 states determining applications, great weight should be 
given to outstanding or innovative designs which help raise the standard 
of design more generally in the area".



Other Guidance/ relevant matters
 Kent Design Guide
 Hedgerow Regulations 1997

d) Relevant Planning History

DOV/15/00796 – Outline application for the erection of a detached dwelling 
(all matters reserved) – refused 16th October 2015.

e) Consultee Responses – 

Parish Council: Positively supports

   Principle Ecologist: The land is not within a domestic curtilage and therefore
   the hedgerow bounding Stoneheap Road may be subject to the Hedgerow
   Regulations 1997. (The regs cover hedgerows over 30 years old which
   appears to be the case here). Therefore, if the application is to be refused on
   the grounds of loss of the hedgerow, an informative should be included
   stating that the hedgerow may be subject to the Hedgerow Regulations 1997.

The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 requires that 
every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as 
is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of 
conserving biodiversity. Biodiversity is a material consideration in planning 
and the NPPG Natural Environment section states that “Information on 
biodiversity impacts and opportunities should inform all stages of 
development …” and that “an ecological survey will be necessary in advance 
of a planning application if the type and location of development are such that 
the impact on biodiversity may be significant and existing information is 
lacking or inadequate.”

In this case it would appear that the site, comprising rough grassland, could 
support reptiles and the boundaries and surrounding area with its established 
network of hedges and mature trees could also be significant for wildlife, 
including bats. It would be normal in such circumstances that an application 
be accompanied by a preliminary ecological assessment (Phase 1 survey) in 
order that biodiversity may be considered.

Planning Policy Team: Within the Land Allocations document Policy LA35 
sets out the land designation for residential development within East Studdal. 
The provision of 30 dwellings within East Studdal has been identified and the 
settlement boundary has been changed, but this does not include this site.  
Given this, it is necessary to consider whether allowing additional 
development is contrary to CS policy CP1.

            The Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply, thus the 
development plan policies concerning the supply of housing is considered to 
be out of date.  However, in a recent appeal the inspector stated ‘This is not 
to say that the absence of a five year housing supply would be conclusive in 
favour of the grant of planning permission, but it adds weight in favour of the 
proposal – albeit the provision of a single dwelling would have limited benefit 
and needs to be balanced against other policy considerations.

            The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area needs 
to be assessed against policy DM15 of the CS.  The quality of the proposal 



should be considered when assessing its impact on the character and 
appearance of the area.

Third Party Responses 

Two letters of objection have been received which may be summarised as 
follows:

 The proposed development is outside the boundaries;
 The development cannot be mitigated by agricultural occupation or other 

factors provided for in the policy;
 The street scene is entirely rural , the development has the potential to 

adversely impact the character and appearance, of the countryside;
 The extent of the undeveloped land in the area of Stoneheap Road 

encompassed by the applicants blue line is greater than that used for 
homes and gardens and gives potentially misleading perspective on the 
immediate environment.

 Does East Studdal as a community, have the infrastructure?  The village 
post office and shop have been closed, leaving no local facilities. There is 
a token bus service.

 Concerns over the potential effect of precedent set outside the village 
boundary.

 The lane is a single lane road with passing places and the effect of the 
proposal would increase the volume of traffic out on the lane.

 The site was specifically excluded from the recent changes to the village 
confines.

1. The Site and the Proposal  

1.1 The site comprises a field covering 0.14 hectares on the south east side of     
Stoneheap Road, outside the confines of East Studdal.  The site is bounded 
by hedges/trees.  Within the site, there is evidence of a number of trees which 
have been cut down.  Fronting onto Stoneheap Road is a substantial and 
strong established roadside hedgerow which forms part of a more expansive 
hedge line along Stoneheap Road, which is a rural lane. The site rises to the 
south east from the road.

      1.2 The area including the application site is rural/agricultural in character and 
appearance.  There is sporadic development on the north west side of 
Stoneheap Road and a detached bungalow and some outbuildings to the 
north east of the site. 

1.3 The proposal is for a single storey pitched roof dwelling, with a pitched roof 
double garage, creation of access and associated landscaping.  The dwelling 
is described as “eco friendly”.

1.4 The dwelling would be set back from Stoneheap Road by approximately 15   
metres. The creation of the driveway would include engineering works and 
the loss of 8.5 metres of the hedgerow off the rural lane to create the access 
and provide visibility splays. Any remaining hedgerow within the visibility 
splays would have to be kept to no more than 1 metre in height. The 
dimensions of the dwellinghouse would be approximately 14 metres (w) x 
approximately 13 metres (length) with the height of the eaves at the highest 
point of 3.5 metres and ridge height of 5.5 metres. It would be constructed of 



wood and finished in external render. The roof would be Tegalit airtight roof 
tiles.  The dwelling would have triple glazed windows.

1.5 In association with the dwellinghouse a pitched roof double garage is 
proposed to be sited in the north east of the site.  This would measure 7 
metres in width x 6.7 metres in depth, with an eaves height of 2.1 metres and 
a ridge height of 3.5 metres.

1.6 The application sets out that “Meisterstuck Haus” houses are constructed 
almost entirely from wood which emit 5.5 times less CO2 than a 
conventionally built house.  Standard walls have a U-value of 0.15; the triple-
glazed windows have a Ug value of 0.7; the roofs have a U-value of 0.14 and 
flat roofs 0.11. (These details are taken from the applicants supporting 
statements).

1.7 The applicant has stated ‘the proposal includes a landscaping and boundary 
treatment scheme, which aims to mitigate against the loss of hedgerows 
along the access point of the scheme as well as provide a net benefit to the 
site’.

2.   Main Issues

2.1  The main issues in the consideration of this application are:

 The principle of new dwelling in this location.
 Design/appearance/,countryside, rural amenity and street scene.
 The impact upon residential amenity.
 Transport/travel.
 Sustainability overview.

3.  Assessment

      Principle of Development

   3.1 Policy CP1 of the core strategy identifies the location and scale of development for 
settlement in terms of hierarchy. East Studdal is defined as a village which is suitable 
for an appropriate scale of development that would reinforce its role as a provider of 
services to essentially its home community. Land is allocated within the village for 30 
dwellings.

     3.2  Policy DM1 of the core strategy identifies that development on land outside rural 
settlement confines will not be permitted unless specifically justified by, amongst 
other things, other development plan policies or it functionally require such a 
location.  The proposed dwelling would be located outside the confines, and there is 
no functional requirement for it to be in such a location. It is not justified by other 
development plan policies. Accordingly it is contrary to Core Strategy and NPPF 
policy in particular paragraphs 14, 49, and 55.

     3.3  There is currently a five year housing land supply deficit in the District. In such 
circumstances, paragraph 49 of the National Planning Policy Framework advises that 
relevant Local Plan policies for housing should not be considered up to date in such 
cases. Therefore the weight given to policy DM1 in this case is somewhat diminished.



                  3.4 Having said that, it is not considered that the absence of a five year       housing land 
supply should be conclusive in favour of the grant of planning permission, but it 
could add weight in consideration of the proposal.  In this case, the provision of one 
dwelling is considered to have very limited benefit in contributing towards the deficit.  

3.5 The lack of the five year housing supply means that the proposed development as far 
as housing is concerned must therefore be considered in the context of paragraph 14 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. This requires that the adverse impacts of 
granting permission must demonstrably outweigh the benefits but this has to be 
assessed against other NPPF policies, including those which indicate that 
development should be restricted.  Accordingly the adverse impacts as well as the 
benefits must be considered.

      4 Design and Appearance/ Rural Environment and Street Scene.

Design and Appearance

      4.1 The NPPF identifies that isolated houses in the countryside should be       avoided 
unless there are special circumstances such as the exceptional quality or innovative 
nature of the design (para 55).  Good design is a key aspect of making places better 
for people (para 56). Great weight is given to outstanding or innovative design (para 
63).  Decisions should not attempt to impose architectural style or stifle innovation 
(para 60).

                  4.2 Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposals are for an “eco-house”, and that the 
dwelling has been designed as single storey, the design is such that it does not have 
any exceptional quality to its form, appearance or design as is required by the NPPF.  
It is agreed that the design is simple – but this does not particularly result in a 
sympathetic nor appropriate form of development in this rural location which would 
justify a departure from normal restraint policy.  The lack of strong features and 
characteristics of the dwelling and its related double garage do not fall within the 
exceptional quality / innovative criteria required by the NPPF. 

      4.3 The development including the garage and associated engineering works related with 
the construction of the access and driveway would be readily evident in and from the 
street. As explained in the following part of this report, these works are considered to 
be unsympathetic and intrusive.

Rural Environment and Street Scene

4.4 One of the core planning principles of the NPPF is to protect the intrinsic and 
character and beauty of the countryside. Policy DM15 states that any 
development which would result in the loss of, or adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the countryside will only be permitted if it is: 

 I) in accordance with allocations made in Development Plan Documents. 
 II) or justified by the needs of agriculture,

     III) or justified by a need to sustain the rural economy 
     IV) or a rural community, it cannot be accommodated elsewhere and it does 

not result in the loss of ecological habitats.  Provided that measures are 
incorporated to reduce, as far as practicable, any harmful effects on 
countryside character.

4.5 The applicant is proposing to remove part of the existing hedgerow which forms the 
front boundary alongside Stoneheap Road.  It is considered the hedgerow is subject to 



the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 and would require a specific consent from the LPA 
to be removed. In addition to this, policy CO8 of the Dover District Council Local 
Plan Saved Policies states, “Development which would adversely affect a hedgerow 
will only be permitted if, no practicable alternatives exist, or suitable native 
replacement planting is provided; and future maintenance is secured through the 
imposition of conditions or legal agreements”.  The applicant has submitted details of 
reinforcement to what would remain of the existing hedgerow containing Hawthorne 
hazel, Blackthorn and Holly.  In addition to these, small shrubs of Firethorn, 
Cobeaster and Barberry are to be planted.  The supplementing of the hedgerow does 
not compensate for the loss of at least 8.5m of roadside hedgerow and the necessary 
reduction in height of the remaining hedgerow to provide visibility splays, which 
would expose the site. The loss of the hedgerow with the accompanying engineering 
works required for the construction of the access and driveway (which would rise 
from the back edge), would be detrimental and harmful to the character and 
appearance of the street scene and the rural environment.

     4.6 The development proposals are not considered to be acceptable in terms of their effect 
and impact on the rural environment and street scene.

    5    Impact upon residential amenity

5.1 Given the position of the dwelling within the site and the positioning of the windows, 
it is considered the proposed dwelling would not result in any overlooking of the 
private amenity space currently enjoyed by the occupiers of the adjacent dwellings.

    6     Transport/travel

6.1 Having discussed the proposal with Kent Highway Services the vision splays 
demonstrated on the proposed plans only provide pedestrian vision splays. To achieve 
the appropriate vehicular access vision splays the sight lines required would be 45 
metres each way.  This cannot be achieved on land within the applicant’s control.  
Given the position of the proposed access the applicant is only able to achieve five 
metres one way on his own land. Accordingly there are highway concerns.

               6.2   The Dover District Settlement Review and Hierarchy describes East Studdal 
as a “settlement which has lost one shop/post office since the local plan 
survey and now only has one store”. However, a recent visit to the village 
revealed that there was no shop (it has been converted to a house). The 
community facilities include two halls, one is a small village hall the other is a 
Parish Community Centre.  There is an infrequent bus service (2 per day 
Monday to Friday, 1 on Saturday and none on Sunday) – the nearest bus 
stop is over 300m away from the site in Downs Road to the south west. Due 
to the limited level of facilities it is expected that the occupants of the 
proposed dwelling would have to primarily rely on car journeys for basic day 
to day needs which is something the NPPF seeks to avoid.  Overall the 
proposal is considered to be unsustainable due to its location and the lack of 
public transport. 

  
     6.3 Policy DM11 of the Dover District Council Core Strategy states,“ Development that 

would generate travel will not be permitted outside the urban boundaries and rural 
settlement confines unless justified by Development Plan Policies”.  As discussed 
above, East Studdal does not have a reliable public transport network; therefore the 
proposal fails to comply with the aims and objectives of this policy.

  
      7    Sustainability overview



     7.1 Sustainable development is identified throughout the National Planning Policy 
Framework. There are three dimensions to sustainable development and consideration 
of these roles should not be taken in isolation as they are interdependent. They are set 
out in the NPPF being: economic, social, and environmental.

     7.2  Economic role: The proposed development is a single residential dwelling. The 
economic benefit involves the use of local contractors during construction. However 
it also has to be considered whether this is the right type of development, in the right 
place bearing in mind the siting of the new dwelling would be away from the village 
confines and in the countryside. 

     7.3  Social role: The development would provide an extra dwelling, which may well 
contribute towards meeting the needs of a limited few. The applicants have indicated 
that they intend to live in the new dwelling and that this would enable the existing 
house to be occupied by new residents and increase the choice of family homes 
within the village.   However it has to be borne in mind that the development is only 
for a single dwellinghouse outside the confines, which is not where policy intends 
new housing development to be located. It should also be borne in mind land is 
already allocated within the village for housing development. The NPPF identifies 
that there is a need for accessible services. It is therefore considered this development 
has a limited value in social terms.

    7.4  Environmental role: The applicant is proposing to build a Meisterstruck eco-home.  In 
itself the sustainable construction of the dwellinghouse would be likely to minimise 
pollution, mitigate to climate change etc. – which are requirements of the NPPF and 
would achieve a higher level of building regulations, than those expected.  However 
this has to be considered against the resultant harm to the wider natural environment 
which includes the loss of valuable hedgerow and introduces development into the 
open countryside away from public transport links.

    7.5  It is acknowledged that there are limited benefits as far as the sustainable 
objectives of the NPPF are concerned. However these benefits have to be 
weighed against those matters which give cause for concern which are 
referred to above and further into this report.

    8      Other Matters

8.1 The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 requires that 
every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far 
as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose 
of conserving biodiversity. Biodiversity is a material consideration in 
planning and the PPG on the Natural Environment states that “Information 
on biodiversity impacts and opportunities should inform all stages of 
development …” and that “an ecological survey will be necessary in 
advance of a planning application if the type and location of development 
are such that the impact on biodiversity may be significant and existing 
information is lacking or inadequate.”

8.2 In this case it would appear that the site, comprising rough grassland, 
could support reptiles and the boundaries and surrounding area with its 
established network of hedges and mature trees could also be significant 
for wildlife, including bats. It would be normal in such circumstances that 
an application be accompanied by a preliminary ecological assessment 
(Phase 1 survey) in order that biodiversity may be considered. The 



applicant has not submitted a scoping survey to demonstrate the 
presence or otherwise of protected species, which is required prior to any 
grant of planning permission, contrary to the requirements of paragraph 
99 of ODPM circular 06/2005.

    9   Conclusion

    9.1  At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states “Local Planning 
Authorities should avoid new isolated homes unless there are special circumstances”. 
The proposed dwelling is outside the settlement confines and there is not sufficient 
justification for such a development which would be contrary to policies CP1 and 
DM1 of the Core Strategy and with the aims and objectives set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework

9.2 There are some benefits from an “environmentally friendly home”, thus giving the 
proposal some environmental credentials, but taken within the wider context of 
sustainable development, it would cause harm, being a sporadic form of development 
which would cause material harm to the character and appearance of the street scene 
and the surrounding rural character and appearance of the area.

9.3 Although the proposal would result in a dwelling which would contribute      
towards the Councils 5 year housing deficit, the contribution would be very 
minimal.  It is not considered that this outweighs the level of harm that would 
result from the proposed in respect of an unjustified dwelling beyond the built 
confines of the village and harm to the setting and appearance of the countryside 
and the rural street scene.  Accordingly the development is unacceptable and it is 
recommended that planning permission be refused for the reasons set out in the 
report.

g Recommendation

PERMISSION BE REFUSED for the following reasons; (i) The development 
would, if permitted, by virtue of its location, design, scale and the 
accompanying engineering works and loss of hedgerow, result in an 
unjustified, sporadic form of development, which would be visually intrusive 
detrimental and harmful to the rural character and appearance of the 
countryside and the street scene, contrary to the aims and objectives of Core 
Strategy policies DM1 and DM15, Dover District Council Local Plan CO8 and 
the sustainability aims and objectives of the NPPF in particular at paragraphs 
7,14, 55, 56 and 63. ii) The development proposes sub-standard visibility 
splays at its access with Stoneheap Road. The proposal would therefore 
result in a detrimental impact on highway safety contrary to the aims and 
objectives of paragraphs 34, 35 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and policy DM11 of the Dover District Council core Strategy. iii) Insufficient 
information, by way of an ecological scoping survey, has been submitted with 
the application to demonstrate the presence or otherwise ecological 
habitats/protected species and as such whether the proposal is likely to result 
in the loss of and/or harm to such interests.  Accordingly the proposal is 
contrary to policy DM15 of the Core Strategy and the aims and objectives of 
the NPPF, in particular paragraphs 113 and 118 and the NPPG.

Case Officer
Karen Evans



Application:Not to scale

This plan has been produced for Planning Committee purposes only.  No further copies may be made.

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controlled of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

2016

Note: This plan is provided for purposes of site
identification only.

DOV/16/00072

Site adjoining The Cottage

St Monicas Road

Kingsdown

CT14 8AZ

TR37734851

Dover District Council Licence Number 100019780
published

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

Dover District Council

Not to be reproduced

5.2m

9.5m

5.2m

24.0m
C

L
IF

F
E

 R
O

A
D

El

18.6m

14.1m

C
L
IF

F

P
a
th

Sub Sta

20.3m

C
H

U
R

C
H

2.7mLB

D
O

W
N

C
L

IM

S
T

 M
O

N
IC

A
S

 R
O

A
D

Glory

Morning

House

Lodge

White

House

The

House

House

Torridon

Seamark

Anchor

Red Cottage

Church Cliff

Mount Lodge

Homeside

Hall

Corner

O
ld

The

The Cottage

April Cottage

Tudor Lodge
Sunny Lodge

St John's
Church

Swannington

Rayners

The Garden

Clim
down

D
ibdin

Little Close
Rehoboth

14

4

Cott

Cotta
ge

C
ott

Apple Tree
Maytre

e

K
ing

Southland House

S
und

ow
n

Sands View

Ty-Rhos

Dunelm

4

Seaways

St Monicas

The Gables

The OrchardSunning H
ill

Whitegates

P
u
rd

is

R
o
se

m
a
ry

Mandalay

H
illvie

w

Red Tiles

H
a

lc
y
o
n

1

CottageRosewood

Holly Tree

O
ld C

o
tta

g
e

E
n
d

cl
if f

e

7

1
7

16

1

The Haven

Edg
e

20

W
illo

ws
21

2

11

10

The

Stables

House

Bell Tower

Old

Kingsdown

The

Kingsdown Place

Dial

Gate

Bothy Ho

The

Cottage

H
o
u
se

S
cho

o
l

Cott

V
ica

ra
ge

C
o
tta

g
e

T
h
e
 R

e
cto

r

B
e
e

R
e
d
le

w

W
alnut T

ree C
ott

Dilkhusa

Hillside

Brae

7

C
am

bria
P

O

Half Acre

1

Greenbank

F
reew

ood

T
h
e

A
n
m

a
ry

P
le

a
sa

nt
M

ou
n
t

Cottage

Cottage

C
o
tt

L
ittle

n
ksid

e

O
a
kK

C
ran

P
o
rt E

llio
t

Yatte
ndon

Eglinton

Addington

Meadow



a) DOV/16/00072 – Erection of a detached dwelling, creation of vehicular access 
and landscaping – Site adjoining The Cottage, St Monica’s Road, Kingsdown

Reason for report: level of public support.

b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning permission be refused.

c) Planning Policy and Guidance

Dover District Council Core Strategy (CS)

 An objective of the Core Strategy is to ‘ensure the intrinsic quality of the historic 
environment is protected and enhanced and that these assets are used positively 
to support regeneration, especially at Dover’.

 Policy CP1 states the location and scale of development in the District must 
comply with the settlement Hierarchy.  The Hierarchy should also be used by 
infrastructure providers to inform decisions about the provision of their services.     

 Policy DM1 states that development will not be permitted outside the confines 
unless specifically justified by other plan policies, or it functionally requires such a 
location, or it is ancillary to existing development or uses.

            National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012

 Paragraph 7 sets out 3 dimensions to sustainable development – the economic, 
social and environmental role which should not be undertaken in isolation.

 Paragraph 14 states “that at its heart there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Where the development plan is absent, silent or out of date this means 
granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the Framework as a 
whole”.

 Paragraph 17 sets out the core planning principles… Planning should....always seek 
to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings…”take account of the different roles and 
character of different areas, promoting the viability of our main urban areas, 
protecting the Green Belts, around them, recognising the intrinsic character and 
beauty of the countryside and supporting thriving rural communities within it...."

 Paragraph 49 states “housing applications should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Relevant policies for the supply 
of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the Local Planning Authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.”

 Paragraph 56 states “the Government attaches great importance to the design of the 
built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places 
better for people.”

 Paragraph 60, Planning policies and decisions should not attempt to impose 
architectural styles or particular tastes and they should not stifle innovation.  It is, 
however, proper to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness".

 Paragraph 63 states, “determining applications, great weight should be given to 
outstanding or innovative designs which help raise the standard of design more 
generally in the area".



 Paragraph 64, “permission should be refused for development of poor design that 
fails to take the opportunities for improving the character and quality of an area and 
the way it functions”.

 Paragraph 126 “ Local Planning Authorities should set out in their local plan a 
positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, 
including heritage assets most at risk through neglect, decay and other threats.  In 
doing so, they should recognise that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource 
and conserve them in a manner appropriate to their significance.  In developing this 
strategy, Local Planning Authorities should take into account;

1. The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

2. The wider social, cultural, economic and environment can bring;
3. The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 

local character and distinctiveness; and
4. Opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic 

environment to the character of the place. 
 

 Paragraph 129 “Local Planning Authorities should identify and assess the particular 
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by 
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available 
evidence and any necessary expertise.  They should take this assessment into 
account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or 
minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal”.

 Paragraph 131 “ In determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should take account of:

1. The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets and putting them to viable uses consistence with their conservation;

2. The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and

3. The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness.

 Paragraph 132 “when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation.  The more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be.  Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the 
heritage asset or development within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, 
any harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification”.

 Paragraph 133 ‘where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance of  designated asset, Local Planning Authorities should 
refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or 
all of the following apply;

 The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and no 
viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term   through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and Conservation by grant-
funding or some form of charitable public ownership is demonstrated not possible; 
and the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.

 Paragraph 134 “where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm 
to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing optimum viable use”.



 Paragraph 135 “The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated 
heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application.  In 
weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, 
a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm loss 
and the significance of the heritage asset”.

Other Guidance/relevant matters

The Setting of Heritage Assets: Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning 
3 (GPA) (2015): the GPA provides information to assist in implementing the policies in 
the NPPF and the NPPG in relation to the setting of heritage assets.

Kent Design Guide.

Kingsdown Conservation Appraisal approved October 2015.

d)    Relevant Planning History

PE/15/00051 – Pre-application advice has been given and sets out that it was unlikely 
that development would be acceptable in this location due to the sensitive location of the 
site and works proposed to trees.

e)   Consultee Responses

Parish Council; Raises no objection.

Heritage officer; the scale and bulk of the proposal would result in an overbearing 
massing on the site that would significantly impact on views into and out of the 
conservation area. The trees within the site should be retained as they provide a screen 
for the church which is a non-designated heritage asset. Trees are ever present and 
make a significant contribution to the setting of the Conservation Area. They frame 
views, terminate vistas and generally add to the quality and character of the 
environment.

Arboriculture and Horticulture Officer; There does appear to be sufficient coverage by 
the trees on the borders of the property with St Monica’s Road. The concern is the 
removal of T33 despite being categorised by the Arboriculturalist as B2. It seems slightly 
unnecessary considering that the turning area is very large. The schedule does note 
that the tree does have some major defects, but I was unable to inspect it to clarify the 
severity of these defects. In addition to this T37 has been earmarked for removal, while 
these trees are not of the highest quality, it seems excessive to remove these trees for 
the sake of an abnormally large turning area.

Kent Public Rights of Way Officer – No objection; The public footpath passes alongside 
the rear to the proposed site and the application is for an erection of a dwelling within 
the site location boundary as highlighted, there is unlikely to be significant impact on the 
path and therefore no objections are raised.

Third Party Responses

Local residents; 19 letters of support have been received and one neutral comment.

 The cottage stands in extensive grounds in  the heart of Kingsdown; a single property 
in its grounds is the best option for St Monica’s road and the neighbourhood;

 Conversely a developer demolishing The Cottage and building multiple properties 
along this road would be a nightmare alternative;



 The design of the house is sympathetic to the neighbourhood and very much in 
keeping with the prevailing arts and crafts architecture;

 I appreciate the strict planning requirements and the sensitivity of the church building. 
However, I would urge the planning committee to express compassion. The disability 
of one of the applicants renders the layout of The Cottage unsuitable and impractical.

 The cottage has been the family home of the other applicant for 3 generations and 
therefore to refuse planning means they must move from a neighbourhood and 
village in which they have deep roots.  They should not be forced to leave because 
we cannot find a solution that respects both planning and disabled. 

 Final detailed approval should reflect the constraints of the privately owned road.
 Construction traffic will seriously damage the chalk and shingle surface and the road. 

It should be returned to its present good and condition on conclusion of the works.
 In the summer the existing water mains struggles to meet the demand and may need 

upgrading to accept a 23rd property.
 The adjacent properties are not on mains drainage and the plot has no fall to enable 

connection to the sewer in the road.
 The property should have sufficient off road parking for carers, health visitors and 

support vehicles.
 Bearing in mind the disability of one of the proposed occupants, the design will be of 

great benefit to him and the family.
 This is a high quality plan in keeping with most of the other properties in the road.
 There is plenty of room for a new dwelling on the site.
 As a neighbouring property I would be happier if the property was built nearer to its 

northern boundary so as not to encroach too much.
 The width of the roads as shown in the deeds is 11 metres not as stated in planning 

letters 5.5 metres. The road is from fence to fence. Over a passage of time chains 
have been erected to keep of the grass verges free from parking.

 The road is made of chalk, flints and shingle, not gravel as stated. 
 The services have not been mentioned which will at some time disturb the road 

surface so will have to be reinstated at the builders expense.
 The low lying aspect and surrounding mature trees means that a tastefully designed 

new home would not impact on the adjacent properties or the church and would very 
much be in keeping with the natural layout and site lines of the road.

 The proposed development will add value to the area.

1.        The Site and the Proposal 

1.1      The site comprises the side garden belonging to The Cottage covering 0.15 hectares    
on the east side of St Monicas Road.  The street scene is mixed in terms of its 
architectural make up. The Cottage, immediately to the north has strong arts and 
crafts design influence and is modest in size and scale. Little Close to the south is a 
two storey dwelling sited to the rear of the site close to the dividing boundary of the 
application site.  This property benefits from a garage to the front of the site.

1.2 The Kingsdown Conservation area is adjacent to the site with St John’s Church a 
non-designated heritage asset within 25 m of the application site. The site is within 
the Kingsdown confines.

1.3 St Monicas road is characterised by two distinctive areas.  To the west of the road, 
the properties are considerably larger and are built within close proximity to each 
other.  The eastern side of the road (where the application site lies) has a spatial 
character which is leafier in appearance and has a sense of openness. Running 
parallel along the eastern boundary of the site is footpath ER2.



1.4 St Monicas Road is an unadopted road which consists of chalk, flints and shingle 
surface finish.

1.5 The application site presently forms the side garden serving The Cottage.  It is 
around 45m x 30m in size.  The site is bounded by trees/hedges with a number of 
trees within the site (which will be required to be moved).  The site level is lower than 
that of The Cottage.  Bounding the site frontage onto St Monicas Road is a 
substantial hedgerow.

Proposed development

1.6 The proposed development comprises of a two storey dwelling with integral garage, 
new access and driveway and turning area to the front of the dwelling.  The proposed 
dwelling would be located off centre of the application site 4 metres from the dividing 
boundary from Little Close and 12 metres from the dividing boundary with The 
Cottage.

1.7       The approximate dimensions of the dwelling proposed are:

 Depth – 14 metres.
 Width – 14.5 metres.
 Eaves height – 5.5 metres.
 Ridge height – 8 metres.

1.8 The dwelling would be laid out with a physiotherapy room, snug, sitting room, dining 
room and kitchen on the ground floor. On the first floor 4 bedrooms, (two of which 
have ensuites), the master bedroom has an assisted ensuite and balcony and an 
internal lift.

1.9 The dwelling would be constructed of brick and would have various pitched and 
hipped roof features, jetted side window at first floor, balcony to first floor rear 
elevation and an integral garage.

1.10 Suggested materials incorporate painted render, red brick and tile hanging walls, red 
plain tiles for the roof, upvc windows and doors.

2. Main Issues 

2.1 The main issues in the consideration of this application are;

 The principle of a new dwelling in this location.
 Heritage.
 Design/appearance and street scene.
 The impact on residential amenity.
 Highway safety and traffic impact.

3.  Assessment

3.1  Principle of Development.

The site is located within the Kingsdown settlement boundary and therefore the 
principle of the development has been established and complies with the aims of 
policy DM1 of the Dover District Council subject to the detail of the proposal.

Heritage



3.2 Conservation Areas are designated for their special historic or architectural interest. 
Under section 72 (1) of the Town and Country Planning (listed building and 
conservation area act) 1990 the Local Planning Authority has a duty to pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
that area.

3.3 The NPPF makes it clear that the significance of a heritage asset derives not only 
from its physical presence but also from its setting. In determining an application 
which has an impact on the setting of a heritage asset, the significance of the 
heritage asset must therefore be taken into consideration.

3.4  Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal will lead to 
less than substantial harm to a heritage asset that the harm needs to be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal which includes securing its optimum viable 
use. Paragraph 135 refers to a judgement having to be made with regards to the 
effects either directly or non-directly on the scale of harm to a non-designated 
heritage asset, bearing in mind the significance of the asset.

3.5 The site is adjacent to the Kingsdown Conservation Area and separated from the 
open setting of St Johns Church by a narrow footpath.  Both St Johns Church and 
the footpath are included within the conservation area boundary.  The Church is 
identified in the Kingsdown Conservation Area Appraisal as a building of local 
importance and is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset as defined by 
the NPPF.  The abundance of large trees which define the boundary of the Church 
are specifically noted in the appraisal as contributing to the rural character of this part 
of the conservation area.

3.6  Views into and out of the Conservation Area are afforded from St Monicas Road and 
the graveyard of St Johns Church; the site can be appreciated as an undeveloped 
open space which contributes to rural setting of the conservation area.  The 
proposed development would, by bridging the gap between two existing dwellings, 
reduce the open character of the site and the built form would impose upon and harm 
the setting of the conservation area.

3.7 Whilst the circumstances of the applicant are borne in mind, on balance in this case 
due to the cumulative impact and effects of the development, which includes the loss 
of a significant amount of hedgerow and tree cover and the scale and form of the 
building and associated engineering work, it is considered that the harm caused is 
great enough to outweigh the principle of development, on this site in this location.  
There is no wider public benefit to the development proposals.

Design/appearance and street scene.

3.8 The design characteristics of dwellings in St Monicas Road are of a diverse 
architectural mix.

3.9 There is a difference in the character of dwelling types and spatial characteristics 
between both sides of the road.  Dwellings on the west of St Monicas Road are 
generally larger dwellings and set into smaller plots.  The space between the 
dwellings and the rear gardens tend to be much more consolidated.  The sizes of the 
dwellings on the eastern side of St Monicas Road are modest on generous size plots. 
The visual appearance of this side of the road is more open with a leafy, canopied 
character. 

3.10 The application site is characterised by a number of trees and an established 
hedgerow.  The applicant is proposing to remove 16 trees to provide the space for 



the footprint of the dwellinghouse to be built.  The applicant is proposing to remove a 
walnut tree (the schedule does note this tree has some defects) and a silver birch 
tree. Planning Committee will note the views of the Arboricutural Officer that whilst 
these trees may not be of the highest quality, it seems excessive to remove these 
trees for the sake of an abnormally large turning area.  It is the case that replacement 
or additional tree planting could be sought.  However such an established form of 
tree cover and the mitigating effect of such planting would take a significant number 
of years to establish.

3.11 The proposed development would fill in the open space between The Cottage to the 
north and Little Close to the south.   The new dwelling, due to its size, scale and form 
would be highly visible from the footpath running parallel to the rear boundary of the 
site and to and from the views of the conservation area. 

3.12 There are concerns with regards to the design features and characteristics of the 
proposed building, which have resulted in a rather complicated appearance. The 
proposed dwelling is of a substantial size and due to its appearance; form and scale, 
along with the associated engineering works and hedge and tree removal would 
expose the site.

3.13 In conclusion it is not considered that the development proposals would sit well in this 
location and would be an intrusive form of development, causing harm to the visual 
quality and character of the street scene.

The impact on residential amenity.

3.14  Outlook. There are concerns over the position of the rear elevation of the proposed 
dwelling within 5 metres of the adjacent property known as Little Close However, this 
property benefits from a large side and front garden, with an established boundary 
treatment and therefore the potential impact is considered to be acceptable.

3.15  Overshadowing.  Given the orientation of the proposed dwelling, it is unlikely the 
proposal would cause any form of overshadowing to either of the adjacent properties.

3.16 Overlooking.  There is a concern over the balcony to the rear of the property; this 
could allow the occupiers of the proposed dwelling to stand on the balcony, which 
would result in overlooking of the private amenities enjoyed by the occupiers of the 
adjacent dwellings. However, a condition could be imposed for the applicant to 
provide an obscure screen to overcome these concerns.

Highways

3.17 The proposed development is for one dwelling on an unadopted road.  Accordingly it 
falls outside of the Kent Highway consultation protocol.

3.18  Parking provision.  The dwelling proposes three car parking spaces and a garage, 
which is above the minimum required for parking provision as set by policy DM13 of 
the Core Strategy. The proposed parking provision is therefore considered 
acceptable.

3.19 To achieve the appropriate vehicular access vision splays the sight lines would 
normally be 25 metres each way.  However, this cannot be achieved on land within 
the applicant’s control.  Given the position of the proposed access the applicant is 
only able to achieve three metres one way on land within the applicants ownership. 
Concerns however can be balanced against the fact that this is an unadopted road, 
which due to its nature (as a dead-end with access only) and construction with loose 
material finish, where speeds would be very limited.



4.          Other Matters

4.1  Whilst the Council is sympathetic to the needs of the applicant there are limited 
details in respect of why this specific size house and design is required to 
accommodate the applicant’s needs. The agent has stated “the floor plans have been 
designed to suit the needs of the applicant, who due to a medical accident, is 
paraplegic and a wheelchair user.  This requires circulation spaces to be wider than 
those set out in Part M of the Building Regulations”.

4.2 The applicant owns the adjacent property The Cottage which benefits from a 
swimming pool.  From the pre-application advice it is understood this pool is required 
for the needs of the applicant. It is not clear from any information provided whether or 
not a suitable annex extension to the existing cottage has been explored.  This type 
of accommodation may have less of a harmful impact on the setting of the 
conservation area and street scene, subject to a suitable design and scale.

5. Conclusion

5.1 Due regard has been taken in respect of the application site being within the 
confines. The NPPF sets out that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  However this means that all sustainable matters – in respect of 
economic effects, social and environmental impacts have to be considered together.  
However, there are matters of concern with regards to the suitability of the scheme in 
this location with regards to the effects and impacts on the setting and character of 
the adjacent Conservation Area and non-designated heritage asset as well as the 
wider street scene.  On balance the development proposals are considered 
unacceptable due to the cumulative effects of the development and the scale and 
form of the development, which would be visually harmful to  the environmental 
quality, character and appearance of the street scene and the adjacent Kingsdown 
conservation area and non-designated heritage asset at St Johns Church.

g) Recommendation

PERMISSION BE REFUSED for the following reason; i) The development, if 
permitted,  would, if, by virtue of its appearance, scale, form, massing and the 
accompanying engineering works, including removal of trees and hedgerow result in 
a form of development that would be out of keeping with the existing visual and 
spatial character and quality of the area and would be harmful to the character and 
appearance of the street scene, the adjacent conservation area and the non-
designated asset, contrary to the aims and objectives of the NPPF, in particular 
paragraphs 17, 56, 60, 63, 64, 126, 129, 131, 132, 133, 134 and 135.

Case Officer 

Karen Evans



Report to Planning Committee

21 April 2016

Planning Appeals

1. There were 11 appeals determined between January and March 2016. One appeal was against a 
decision of the Planning Committee and the remainder against delegated decisions.

Ten of the decisions were upheld and the appeals dismissed. The 1 successful appeal was against a 
delegated decision

2. Members have been issued with the full decisions, but in brief the reason was

2.1  Church Farm Cottages  

The Officer refused this application for a pair of semi-detached dwellings

“The proposed development by virtue of its location outside of the Worth settlement boundary, in a 
rural location, would constitute the undesirable intensification of existing sporadic development, 
detrimental to the rural character and appearance of the street scene in this edge of village location 
and the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and surrounding area contrary to 
paragraphs 14 and 17, in particular, of the National Planning Policy Framework, and to the provisions 
of the community-led Worth Neighbourhood Plan.”

The Inspector considered the proposed development and its relationship to the built up area of the 
village and considered that due to its design and setting within the site that any harm did not 
outweigh the benefits  of the proposal and ‘would provide a useful addition to housing supply’. 

3. Learning Points

None.

4. The annual target is that a maximum of 20% of appeals are upheld. The overall performance is 
13.5% - within target

Full Year All appeals
Number 
Upheld

Number 
Dismissed

% 
Upheld

2015-16 37 5 32 13.51

Details overleaf

Dave Robinson



Case Address Delegated/Committee Dismissed/Upheld
15/00105 St Leonard's Rd DEL Dismissed
15/619 Kingsdown Hill DEL Dismissed
15/00491 The Leas DEL Dismissed
15/0938 The Street DEL Dismissed
15/00480 East Street DEL Dismissed
15/00248 Satmar Lane DEL Dismissed
15/00479 High Street DEL Dismissed
15/00767 High Street DEL Dismissed
13/00062 Ferne Lane DEL Dismissed
13/00360 Archer's Court Road COM Dismissed
15/00096 Jubilee Rd DEL Upheld

Quarter Committee Appeals
Number 
Upheld

Number 
Dismissed %Upheld

1 2 0 2 0
2 2 0 2 0
3 5 1 4 20
4 1 0 1 0

Quarter Delegated Appeals
Number 
Upheld

Number 
Dismissed %Upheld

1 1 0 1 0
2 8 2 6 25
3 8 1 7 12.5
4 10 1 9 10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
0

10

20

30

40

50

Committee
Delegated
Target

% of Appeals Upheld 2015/16



DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 21 APRIL 2016

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

Recommendation

That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the remainder of the business on the grounds that the 
item to be considered involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in the paragraph of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act set out below:

Item Report

Application No DOV/15/00525 – 
Land at New Dover Road, Capel-le-
Ferne

Paragraph 
Exempt

3

Reason

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information)




	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Items Deferred
	 ITEMS WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING
	Important Information
	Human Rights Information
	Public Speaking at Planning Committee

	6 Application No DOV/15/00525 - Land south of New Dover Road, Capel-le-Ferne
	New Dover Road Report

	7 Application No DOV/15/01035 - MOT Centre, 46 West Street, Deal
	West Street Report

	8 Application No DOV/16/00063 - The Barn, North of 7 Millfield, St Margaret's-at-Cliffe
	Millfield Report
	Millfield - Appendix 1
	Millfield - Appendix 2

	9 Application No DOV16/00090 - Former Public Conveniences, Route One Cycle, 70 Beach Street, Deal
	Beach Street Report

	10 Application No DOV/16/00021 - 47 High Street, Deal
	47 High St Report

	11 Application No DOV/15/00457 - Land adjoining Pentire House, The Leas, Kingsdown
	Pentire House Report

	12 Application No DOV/16/00057 - Land South West of Fieldings, Stoneheap Road, East Studdal
	Fieldings Report

	13 Application No DOV/16/00072 - Site Adjoining The Cottage, St Monica's Road, Kingsdown
	St Monicas Report

	14 Appeals and Informal Hearings
	16 Exclusion of the Press and Public
	17 Application No DOV/15/00525 - Land south of New Dover Road, Capel-le-Ferne

